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Ironworkers 41st Convention

Less than one month after our last
convention adjourned, tragedy
rained down on America in the

form of terrorist attacks. Yet, through our
horror and grief in the hours and days
following 9-11, the indomitable spirit of
humanity began to shine through.
Among the first to display that spirit
were the ironworkers of New York who
wiped away their tears as they cleared the
rubble for the  firefighters and police
officers searching for survivors. Those
heroes from our union picked up the
American flag and planted it firmly in
Ground Zero as did the ironworker vol-
unteers from the Washington area who
showed up to help clear the wreckage at
the Pentagon. Our Canadian brothers and
sisters mourned our loss, and proudly
joined in the tireless efforts of removing
debris and starting the long, slow process
of healing and rebuilding.

Next month we will mark the anniver-
sary of another tragedy—the natural dis-
asters brought by three horrific hurri-
canes wreaking havoc on our fellow citi-
zens—killing thousands and destroying

hundreds of thousands of homes, busi-
nesses, and entire cities along America’s
gulf coast.

Again, among the first on the scene of
those disasters were ironworkers from all
over the United States and Canada—with
money, food, and clothing to bring
immediate relief to storm victims. As
they did after 9-11, our ironworkers
offered their time, expertise and hearts to
bring hope for recovery to the dazed vic-
tims.

We see in our lives, repeatedly, that no
person in any country is invulnerable to
the brutal attacks of nature and misguid-
ed men. Ironworker families cherish the
universal values of compassion and gen-
erosity. We believe deeply in the concept
that an injury to one is an injury to all.
We stand strong, together, ready to battle
the forces attempting to destroy our fam-
ilies and our livelihood.

Five years ago, we could not foresee
the tragedies awaiting us, but the busi-
ness conducted at our last convention
allowed us to remain steady and certain
in turbulent times. We set down a plan,

“building for our future,” allowing us to
move forward with high expectations
and opportunities, even in the midst of
heartbreak.

As we open this 41st Convention with
the charge to build “A Bridge to the
Future,” we cannot know with certainty
where the bridge will take us. However,
based on our collective experience and
history, we know the bridge will be solid
and unshakeable.

Let us take the opportunity of this con-
vention to strengthen our union—attend
to its policies and programs—and ensure
that it will serve future generations of
Canadian and American ironworkers
with the same resilience and vigor it has
provided to us for over 110 years.

Fraternally,

Joseph J. Hunt
General President

Welcome to the
Ironworkers 41st Convention

A Bridge to the Future…
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President Hunt Keynote

Buckle Up and Move
Full Speed Ahead

I
ronworkers must “challenge our-
selves” to make this “a better,
stronger union,” declared General
President Joseph J. Hunt in his

keynote address to the union’s 41st
Convention,” urging delegates to “give
this union everything we have.” 

He warned against complacency,
asserting: “a union that is willing to
accept the status quo is a union that is
doomed to failure.”

President Hunt charged the delegates
with the task of adopting a blueprint for
the union to follow to grow its member-
ship, its contractors and market share.

Stressing that the Iron Workers’ lead-
ership is a partnership—President Hunt
credited the work of General Secretary
Mike Fitzpatrick and General Treasurer
Walt Wise, along with the union’s gener-
al vice presidents for moving the union
ahead over the five years since the last
convention.

He warned delegates to prepare for
action, instructing them to “buckle up,”
because “it is time to move this union full
speed ahead.”

Success in bargaining depends upon
effectiveness in organizing, President
Hunt explained, adding: “We organize or
we die. In our jurisdiction, we must

increase our market share, and that hap-
pens by developing an organizing blue-
print for every local.”

He singled out several of the union’s
formal programs for special emphasis
and called on local leaders to support
those programs—listing ACES, which
trains organizers; COMET, MOVE, and
the Metal Building Program, along with
Local 846, the local created to recover
rebar work for ironworkers.

Training is yet another key factor
guiding the union’s future, President
Hunt said, noting however, even if the
union were to increase apprenticeships
by 20 percent it cannot keep up with
attrition, and “we will start to die. We
cannot grow our union unless we organ-
ize the people that are doing 80 percent
of our work.”

Along with the keys to growth, he
said, the union depends upon political
action as the “insurance policy that pro-
tects all we have gained” while relying
on “an army of volunteers who will give
their time to their local union” from
walking picket lines, getting out the vote,
leafleting job sites, manning phone banks
and donating their time to their commu-
nities.

He called on delegates to “rekindle
the pride, spirit and attitudes” of iron-
workers. President Hunt said the AFL-
CIO and the Building Trades, too, must
meet the challenge of coming together.
“It is time we revive solidarity, not frag-
ment it.”

Over the past three years, the growth
of IMPACT has been substantial—124
local unions, 102 contractor associations
and 2,100 contractors have added
IMPACT to their collective bargaining
agreements. President Hunt explained
that IMPACT has provided internet proj-
ect tracking—enabling ironworkers to
gain thousands of additional manhours of
work by providing advance notice of
projects. IMPACT initiatives to confront
substance abuse and enhance job safety
are even more important by making iron-
workers safer and more efficient and
thereby reducing our contractors work-
ers’ compensation insurance, making
them more competitive than non-union
competition.

IMPACT is building a bridge
between ironworkers, contractors and
major customer organizations—archi-
tects, builders, construction users—to
create a “new day” for the Iron Workers
to help the United States and Canada
“recapture their role as the flagship econ-
omy of the world, not just in technology,
but in industry, manufacturing and cer-
tainly in construction.”

Regardless of the challenge, the
answer is unity, President Hunt conclud-
ed. “Let us move as one, let us fight as
one, and let us win as one; because,
brothers and sisters, we stand here today
united in cause, united in purpose, united
in spirit.”
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Virginia Gov. Tim Kaine–
Making the Table Bigger and Making Sure Labor Has A Place

The son of an ironworker, Virginia’s freshman Governor Tim Kaine credited the Iron
Workers union with giving him an edge in his battle to win the state house. In his first
meeting with General President Joseph Hunt, Kaine said he was assured “We know who
you are, and we won’t let the son of an ironworker lose.”

Gov. Kaine said he beat the odds with labor’s help in a right-to-work state by focus-
ing on common sense, basic issues of fairness and justice: economic development,
growing jobs and improving scools and health care.

He said he is intent on putting together a coalition representing all of the people
of the commonwealth, including labor, despite the initial rejection of his selection of
former Virginia AFL-CIO President Dan LeBlanc to become Secretary of the
Commonwealth. Shortly afterward, LeBlanc was approved for an appointment as head
of the state’s workforce development program.

“We’re making the table bigger and making sure labor has a place at that table,”
Gov. Kaine said.

Eleanor Holmes Norton (D-DC)–
Iron Workers Bring Quality

Rep. Eleanor Holmes Norton called on delegates to help create a new majority in
the House of Representatives. Rep. Norton, who holds the right to vote in committee,
but not in the full House, urged ironworkers to support efforts to win full representa-
tion in Congress for DC residents. She noted that the House Committees on
Transportation and Homeland Security on which she serves have approved plans for
millions of dollars worth of projects keeping ironworkers on the job for years to come.

“Ironworkers bring quality, certified apprenticeship programs and quality labor,”
she said, adding the union and its members bring the same thing to politics.

Neil Tidsbury
President, Construction Labour Relations

Neil Tidsbury expressed concern over the tendency toward more “mercenary rela-
tionships” among construction users, contractors and unions, which he attributed to
skyrocketing oil prices. The province of Alberta which Construction Labour Relations
serves is undergoing heavy surges in work which Tidsbury said will require his organ-
ization to “find the right balance, to see that workers receive their fair share.”

Eleanor Holmes Norton

Tim Kaine

Neil Tidsbury
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Jose Naranjo
Jose Naranjo, President of San
Diego Local 229, who recently
returned from active duty in
Iraq, led the Pledge of
Allegiance.



Clyde Fessler
Former vice president and marketing director

for Harley Davidson motorcycles, Clyde Fessler
described Harley’s journey from its 1903 found-
ing to its near bankruptcy in the face of global
competition to its current crest of popularity
through aggressive branding.

Fessler said Harley’s experiences parallel
those of the labor movement in general and the
Iron Workers in particular. “We have been forced
to reinvent ourselves, to examine every facet of
what we do and to develop new ways to do our
business just to stay ahead of the competition,”
Fessler said.

“You have to know your competition, and
you have to know your people,” he cautioned.

This Machine Screams: ‘Ironworkers’
Crafted by world famous “chopper” designer Paul Teutel, and built using “every skill involved in the ironwork trade,”  this

machine features finishing touches that make it one of its kind. The Harley-powered machine was ridden into the hall and revved
up by Michael Gaydos of Local 417 and, although it will never be ridden, it will travel thousands of miles to go on display at trade
shows throughout the U.S. and Canada.

Clyde Fessler
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TUESDAY HIGHLIGHTS AUGUST 15, 2006

Delegates to the Ironworkers 41st
Convention in Washington, D.C. re-elected
General President Joseph J. Hunt, General
Secretary Michael Fitzpatrick and General
Treasurer Walter Wise by acclamation,
along with eight of the union’s nine General
Vice Presidents. In the only contested elec-
tion, voters returned incumbent 3rd General
Vice President Edward C. McHugh over
challenger Doug Calkins, of Local 24 in
Denver.

Speaking on behalf of the entire General
Executive Council, President Hunt thanked
the convention for their decision.

“Thank you for putting your trust in us.
Thank you for acknowledging the past five
years, but also more importantly for look-
ing ahead to the next five years,” he said.

Referring to the sacrifices endured by
the families of the union’s leaders, President
Hunt called those partners “our heroes” because “they allow us to do the work of this union. They allow all of us to rep-
resent the members of this organization and it is their sacrifices that make me so proud to stand here today.”

Celebrate Good Times!  Ironworkers 2006 Team — General President Joe Hunt
is flanked by (left) General Secretary Michael Fitzpatrick and General Treasurer
Walter Wise.

Delegates Return 
Hunt, Fitzpatrick, Wise 
to Top Slots

Howard Dean
Organized Labor Essential to Rebuild Middle Class

Delegates gave Democratic National Committee Chair Howard Dean thundering ovations in
response to his call to “return America to the people who built it.” That statement “has never been
more true than it is here, speaking to you,” Dean declared.

Mr. Dean railed against the Bush Administration and the Republican-led Congress for repeated
failures to defend America.

Dean issued repeated calls to give working Americans the same consideration that Republicans
give to their corporate supporters. “The people who invest their labor should get at least the same
consideration as those who only invest money,” Dean said.

Citing the resurgence of nuclear weapons in the hands of rogue nations– Iran and North
Korea–with Osama Bin Laden still on the loose, with U.S. troops bogged down in Iraq, at the cost
of half a trillion dollars, Dean said the nation needs a “new direction.”

“What did that half a trillion dollars do for health care or keeping jobs in America?” he asked.
He criticized the hypocrisy of the president visiting Iraq to eat turkey with the troops on

Thanksgiving while those troops didn’t have adequate armor and equipment.
Democrats, he vowed, “will be both tough and smart in defending America.” Dean charged the Republicans with carrying

out a “war on middle class Americans.” Budget deficits accumulated by the Republicans overshadow everything else the
nation does, he said.

Although ironworkers have good health care, “you’re under a lot of pressure for givebacks,” Dean said, noting that each year that
President Bush is in office, another one million people lose their health care coverage. He called for a health care system that covers
everybody.

Democrats, Dean said, “want real change and a new direction. We want honesty and openness from our government.”
“Organized labor is essential for building a middle class,” Dean said. In the 1950s, unions made it possible for people to make a

living working in a factory, or in construction. Dean vowed that—given a Democratic Congress in 2006, followed by a Democratic
president in 2008, the attack against pensions can be stopped.

“Of all the mistakes this president has made, the worst is that he has divided us. He has turned his back on people who disagree
with him. To have a president who excludes those who disagree is to have a president  of just half a nation,” Dean said.

Howard Dean
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TUESDAY HIGHLIGHTS AUGUST 15, 2006

Ed Sullivan
Our Industry Needs a Unified Labor Movement

Building & Construction Trades Department President Ed Sullivan issued a call for unity in the con-
struction industry and paid tribute to the Iron Workers who, “have always stood for unity.”

“There have always been times when a few unions go astray,” Sullivan said, “but in the final analysis
we all recognize that we are better off unified. Our industry needs a unified labor movement.”

Legislative activity is a mixed bag for the construction industry. Although the Department scored a
major victory with the passage of legislation to stabilize multi-employer pension funds, ensuring retire-
ment security for millions of building trades workers, Congress and the White House are shrinking away
from legitimate immigration reform legislation.

Sullivan criticized politicians for failing to enact wage protections that would take away the opportu-
nity to exploit immigrants. Immigration shouldn’t be “an excuse to attract cheap labor,” Sullivan
declared, adding: “An immigration bill without protection for American workers is not acceptable.”  

Sullivan reviewed highlights of the Department’s programs within the construction industry, including 
• A tripartite initiative to bring employers, construction users and unions together to solve problems.

One of the highlights of that collaboration, Sullivan said, has been the successful drive to develop
drug-free worksites, using a web-based database to eliminate redundant testing.

• Helmets to Hardhats—continuing to open doors to returning veterans. “We thank you for your help in bringing veterans into your union,”
Sullivan noted.

• Theodore Roosevelt Conservation Project—supporting hunting and outdoor sports, including the right of members to own guns, a position
that often divides us at election time. However, Sullivan noted, “our partnership with the Theodore Roosevelt project can change that.”

Sullivan recounted the legislative efforts by construction unions and the Department over the past year, emphasizing their success in over-
turning orders by the White House to suspend Davis Bacon payments for clean up work after the Gulf Coast storms.

He pointed with pride to efforts by the Iron Workers and other Building Trades to put together a workforce development project to spur recov-
ery in the Gulf Coast.

Sullivan reported on progress in the Department’s partnership with the AFL-CIO Housing Investment Trust to finance union building projects
in the Gulf.

Ed Sullivan

Dick Gephardt
Enact Labor Law Reform, Health Care to Put U.S. on Right Track

“Some things don’t change: The value and ethic of hard work, parents looking after each other’s
children,” recalled former House Majority Leader Dick Gephardt as he spoke of his childhood friend-
ship with General President Joe Hunt. The two shared grade school, high school, scouting and a
neighborhood in St. Louis in the 1950s.

As a result of that relationship, Gephardt said, “I would go anywhere and do anything for Joe
Hunt,” predicting Joe Hunt “will make the Iron Workers even stronger and help lead the overall labor
movement.”

Gephardt came from a union family, which he credits with creating his strong faith in unionism.
But, on a larger scale, he says, the imbalance between wealth and poverty in the world today stems
from “all the money being stuck at the top. Average people can’t get a fair share.”

He points out that the plague of poverty in nations like Brazil, India and China is directly con-
nected to the absence of real unions in those countries.

In America, the labor movement needs to rally behind labor law reform to keep our nation from
sliding into the same predicament, he warned. “We’ve got to reform labor law. Until you get a
democratic majority, you can’t get the bill up,” he warned.

“I’ve never understood why some captains of industry oppose unions. They see higher costs, but they’re not seeing the trade off—
better quality,” Gephardt noted.

He said unions in the construction industry bring professionalism and quality to their work—training people to do things the right
way.  He paraphrased a construction employer’s comment about the value of union work, saying: “If you use union ironworkers, you
only have to build it once.”

Gephardt expressed concern over the unfair competition in the auto industry, reflecting the problems with health care costs in the
U.S. and the basic difference between U.S. “open trade” policies versus closed markets among competitive nations.

He predicted that Ford, General Motors and Chrysler will disappear “unless we can get government to help with health care cov-
erage (because) we are not going to be competitive.”

A veteran of 30 years in the Congress, Gephardt conceded that America has many problems, yet, he said, “I am more optimistic
today than I was when I first walked into Congress” because “I know the strength, resilience, patience and goodness of our people.”

Dick Gephardt
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Delegates unanimously approved a reso-
lution increasing assessments to the
International Organizing Fund by $2,

bringing total funding to $4 per-member per
month earmarked exclusively for organizing
programs. The action followed a video
presentation explaining the work of ACES
(Analyzing Construction Employers
Strategically) along with presentations by
Organization Committee Chair Jay Hurley, of
Boston Local 7, and Committee Secretary
Bernie Evers.

The program adopted by the delegates
sets up an income stream for organizing—
with outside members paying an additional
assessment of $2 per month; and additional
funding for shop locals directed toward the
Initial Organizing Contract Fund used to fuel
efforts to win first contracts. Shop members
will pay an added $1—from $2 to $3.

Delegates responded to data showing that
in the five years since the last convention
the union initiated 42,316 new members
and reinstated an additional 11,806 mem-
bers, yet overall membership had declined
by almost 7,000 members.

“We need to control our markets to
retain these workers. To control the market,
we must organize from the non-union
ranks,” declared Committee Chair Hurley.
Even if the union increased its intake of
apprentices by 20 percent, it wouldn’t offset
the effects of attrition, and we will slowly
die,” the Committee noted.

The International Ironworkers
Organizing Fund, which will be controlled
by the General Executive Council, will be
used to spread ACES and associated pro-
grams throughout the union in the U.S. and
Canada—providing training for organizers,
to fund research and strategic planning and
to hire more Hispanic organizers. The pro-
gram has built in reporting and accountabili-
ty systems.

Severa l  delegates  stepped up to speak in favor of the resolutions. The sentiment of the convention was best
summed up by Hartford, CT Local 15 Business Manager Peter Reilly who said: “We are all responsible for organ-
izing. We don’t need small victories. We need big victories. Let’s not set our sights too low. We  need  t o  p i ck  up
100,000 and 200,000 new members at a time. We need to accept our responsibility not just to the membership,
but  also to society at large. Only through collective bargaining can we achieve social and economic justice.

Bernie Evers confers with General President Joseph Hunt 
and Tadas Kicielinski on the Organization Committee Report.

Bernie Evers Jay Hurley

Convention On Organizing: 
We Need Big Victories! 

WEDNESDAY HIGHLIGHTS AUGUST 16, 2006



OCTOBER 2006 9

IMPACT-ing the Industry—
Cutting Overhead to Expand Opportunities

Union ironworkers and contractors are on the move, intent on proving to con-
struction users that union workers provide the best value in the industry. “At the
end of the day, our objective is to save money reducing overhead—by improving
safety, efficiency and quality,” explains Eric Waterman, executive director of
IMPACT.

Delegates to the Iron Workers 41st Convention got a first-hand look at the
multi-pronged programs developed by IMPACT after less than three full years in
operation.

Funded through a 1 percent per-hour contribution, IMPACT has—

• Launched a national substance abuse program, reducing workers compensa-
tion and general liability premiums for participating contractors;

• Created a foreman training module to increase the availability of skilled
foreman in the industry;

• Established a web-based project tracking system to give business managers
more lead time to be pro-active in gaining market share;

• Built a network of regional advisory boards to enable ongoing dialogue
between regional management and union representatives, exchanging infor-
mation and valuable feedback; and

• Began distributing financial grants to encourage “best practices” to flourish
among participating locals and contractors.

In a presentation to delegates, Waterman described steps the program has taken
to develop specialized marketing tools to aid locals and districts in outreach to con-
tractors to expand the program.

The program has published a first-of-its-kind directory of ironworker training
schools, sending an explicit message to contractors and construction user groups
that there are real brick and mortar training facilities run by the union that enhance
the value of union workers—making them safer, more efficient, more skilled, with
certifications to prove it. “Non-union employers can’t make the same claim,”
Waterman noted.

IMPACT is a key element in the Iron Workers overall organizing strategy, he
said. “We face new challenges. We must grow. We must form an inseparable
bond with our contractors to beat the non-union and meet the demands of our
customers…We must be the trade of choice,” he concluded.

Bill Brown, IMPACT’s co-chairman, preceded Waterman, recounting the cre-
ation of IMPACT from a rough concept that grew out of a 2001 meeting with
General President Joe Hunt with the general goal of creating an atmosphere of
mutual respect and recognizing that the union and management needed to work
together as “fifty-fifty partners dealing with many problems, issues and challenges
that we had before us.”

A third generation ironworker, Brown has experience both on the job and in the
boardroom.

“If we want success, we must continually remind ourselves that only through
labor and management’s mutual and equal cooperation is there a future for us.

Eric Waterman

Bill Brown

WEDNESDAY HIGHLIGHTS AUGUST 16, 2006
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Sheet Metal General President 
Mike Sullivan
Nothing Good Can Come From a House Divided

“Nothing good can come from a house divided,” declared Sheet Metal Workers’
International Association President Mike Sullivan as he issued a clear call for solidar-
ity and cooperation in remarks delivered to delegates to the Iron Workers 41st

Convention.
Sullivan underscored the convention’s parallel themes of growth, organizing and

expansion. “Labor’s voice, not only those in the building trades, but in all of
labor…has dimmed over the last 30 years. Everybody in this room knows it. That
voice will only get weaker if we do not stand united.”

Sullivan extended a pledge on behalf of his union to continue to work with the Iron
Workers to promote organizing, political and legislative action and recapture market
share from the non-union sector. “We will return this government back to the people
where we can make changes to get this country back on track.”

He predicted a resurgence in demand for skilled, trained craftsmen. Labor has “the
right antidote” to what he called “the  creeping virus” of the open shop movement. “It’s
called organizing.”

“We have come too far and we have accomplished too much to allow our trades to
get any weaker…It’s time to kick a little butt if we have to,” he concluded.

AFL-CIO President 
John Sweeney
Work Together…Stand Together…Fight Together!

AFL-CIO President John Sweeney called on ironworkers to fight back against the
forces that seek to divide America. “For the past 25 years, conservative politicians have
been working hand-in-hand with big business to divide America against itself,” he
warned.

President Sweeney described labor’s reaction to that threat—outlining plans by the
Federation to mobilize union activists in a drive to take back the Congress this Fall. The
AFL-CIO has committed $40 million dollars to the cause, with plans to activate
500,000 shop stewards to educate voters and turn them out on election day.

Sweeney said labor’s objective is to reverse the trend that sees working families—
comprising half of America—building the world’s strongest democracy and most pro-
ductive economy while conservative forces are working to roll back the gains that labor
has achieved over generations.

He charged that the Bush Administration has led the attacks against working fami-
lies and unions—most recently encouraging the National Labor Relations Board to
challenge the right of union membership for thousands of workers under a pending
review of case law known as the “Kentucky River cases” just because the NLRB “has
the power to do so” not because it is the right thing to do.

Despite the rift brought on by the defection of key unions from the AFL-CIO,
Sweeney maintained that the Federation has welcomed another half a million new
members into its Working America program—with a current membership of some 1.5
million workers.

The real test, he said, will come on election day. He called on delegates to join the
battle to take back the Congress. “This Fall, we’re going to work together and stand
together and fight together so we can take back control of the Congress and overcome
the perverted political power of the Bush Administration.”

AFL-CIO President 
John Sweeney

Sheet Metal Workers’
President Mike Sullivan

WEDNESDAY HIGHLIGHTS AUGUST 16, 2006
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IRONMEN OF THE IRON WORKERS

78-Year Member John Wade: 
A 78-year member—the longest tenured member, carrying card number
127296—was initiated in October 1928 in Local 373, Perth Amboy, NJ,
becoming a journeyman in December 1930. He became recording secretary of
Local 373 in 1938, and held that office for 34 years, until 1972.

As an apprentice, then referred to as “the punk” on jobs, Brother Wade said
aside from “a little arthritis” he remains in good health. He recounted the
changes in the industry over his three generations as an ironworker, noting:
“You guys have it so easy today.”

Brother Wade used his skills to serve the nation during World War II as an
enlisted Seabee in the South Pacific for three years. He was Local 373’s
Business Agent from 1961 until 1975 when he retired. Brother Wade’s service
went beyond his local. He was Financial Secretary-Treasurer and Recording
Secretary of the District Council of Northern New Jersey, president of the
Middlesex County Building and Construction Trades Council, vice president
of the New Jersey AFL-CIO and Middlesex County AFL-CIO, and executive
board member of the New Jersey Building Trades.

69-Year Member 
Bill Colavito: 

President, New York Local
455, attended his first Iron
Workers convention in 1944.
Initiated in April, 1937,
Brother Colavito has attended
every convention since 1964.

WEDNESDAY HIGHLIGHTS AUGUST 16, 2006

Among the 843 credentialed delegates to the Iron Workers 41st Convention were ten sets of brothers (left) and seven father-
son teams.



12 THE IRONWORKER

IPAL Welcomes 
Convention Donors

Political Director David Kolbe reports that more than 300
delegates responded to the call for donations to the Iron
Workers Political Action League (IPAL)—generating nearly
$100,000 in the first three days of the convention. “They gave
because they believe in the urgency of mounting an effective,
well-funded legislative and political action program,” Kolbe
said, adding: “We’ve still got space and time to accept more
donations.”

Kolbe also thanked members who registered as on-line
activists—putting them in constant touch with the union
through its “Capwiz” internet connection that enables mem-
bers to support the union by pressing for legislation protecting
pensions, health and safety, maintaining prevailing wage laws
and promoting job-creating infrastructure programs.

Donors also received an array of collectibles—including a
blanket, knife and watch fob with the Iron Workers logo and
each donor—as well as a chance to win a Remington 710
shotgun donated by the Theodore Roosevelt Conservation
Program.

(See page 18 for a complete list of IPAL Convention donors)

WEDNESDAY HIGHLIGHTS AUGUST 16, 2006
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Fred Codding
Your Work Evokes Admiration of Contractors

“The history of ironworkers is the history of America,” declared Fred
Codding, representing the National Council of Erectors, Fabricators and
Riggers and the National Association of Miscellaneous, Ornamental and
Architectural Product Contractors. Pointing to the thousands of monuments
that dot the Washington, D.C. area, Codding said, although none of those mon-
uments specifically honor ironworkers, “ironworkers have invested their blood,
sweat and tears into all of them.” Codding noted the national contractors asso-
ciation he represents has only one national agreement, and that’s with the Iron
Workers. Although the volume of reinforcing steel rod work has doubled over
the past decade –especially in the wake of 9-11 and the devastating storms in
the Gulf region–Codding said much of that work has been lost to other unions
and some non-union workers.

He conceded that contractors and the union have differences from time to
time – alluding specifically to jurisdictional issues, Codding emphasized that
often “out of sharp differences often come great results.” He congratulated the
union on innovations, including new manuals and training advancements, and
encouraged apprentice trainers to look into new equipment and technology
that, while it may initially be seen as a threat to man-hours, it can expand
opportunities.

He assured ironworkers that “your efforts on the rod patch evoke the
admiration of your contractors.

Fred Myers
An Organization for Union Sportsmen

More than 70 percent of building trades workers hunt and fish——which
explains why the Iron Workers and 16 other unions have formally aligned with
the Theodore Roosevelt Conservation Project (TRCP), the nation’s leading
coalition of hunters, fishermen and outdoor enthusiasts.

“TRCP is dedicated to expanding access and protecting natural habitats for
outdoor sport for all,” explained Fred Myers, the organization’s vice president
and managing director. Myers also called the delegates attention to TRCP’s
television production entitled, “Life in the Open,” which features hunting and
fishing adventures. A prominent ironworker will be featured in an upcoming
segment this Fall Myers said.

Fred Myers
Vice President, TRCP

Fred Codding
President, NCEFER

THURSDAY HIGHLIGHTS AUGUST 17, 2006
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George Kourpias
November 7th – Judgment Day

George Kourpias, president of the Alliance for Retired Americans
(ARA) called on ironworkers to join the chorus of union members and
retirees to send a message to politicians, “loud and clear –keep your
hands off our Social Security.” Kourpias recited a litany of assaults
against working families, retirees and their unions made by the George
Bush administration: the loss of three million manufacturing jobs, dis-
mantling of the Department of Labor, cutting eligibility for overtime cov-
erage, conservative rulings by the National Labor Relations Board.
“Today more than ever, people need a union paycheck because everyday
life is costing you much more,” Kourpias said.

The example of the administration’s response to Katrina was typical
of its misplaced priorities, he noted. Storm victims throughout the Gulf
Coast “suffered from the administration’s cronyism and incompetence.”

The ARA has built a grass roots army leading the fight to protect
Social Security, pension rights and Medicare, he said. He charged that
Congress allowed the pharmaceutical industry and insurance lobbyists
to take control of Medicare–leading to an increase of more than 25 per-
cent in the price of the 10 drugs most often prescribed for seniors.
Kourpias said the key to reversing these trends lies in a four-letter word:
“vote!” November 7th, he said “should be judgment day.”

Jeane Park

Local 377 delegate Jeanne Park, encouraged locals to increase
recruiting women apprentices. Park, who was one of only three
women serving as delegates to the convention, asserted: “Women
can do this job. Women have been doing this kind of work since
World War II.”

George Kourpias
President, Alliance of 

Retired Americans

Jeanne Park

THURSDAY HIGHLIGHTS AUGUST 17, 2006
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Ron Gladney
Keep Politicians Honest

Iron Workers General Counsel Ron Gladney reported that pro-active legal
strategies and innovative tactics to anticipate problems before they happen
have cut down substantially on the exposure to litigation in recent years. He
said the union acted ahead of time to set up a legal mechanism to provide dis-
aster relief to members, enabling financial relief to quickly flow to members
victimized by last year’s Gulf Coast storms. The General Counsel’s office has
been working with the Organizing Department and successfully warded off
charges by contractors who “didn’t like what we were doing” with aggressive
new organizing strategies. Similar pro-active planning enabled the union to
respond to jurisdictional threats as well.

The union’s legal staff is also working at the state level to advance pre-
vailing wage ordinances and minimum wage proposals in several states, along
with initiatives that would debar contractors who repeatedly and deliberate-
ly exploit and hire illegal immigrants.

Noting that “immigration is a cutting edge issue for all of us,” Gladney
aimed a stream of criticism toward the Bush Administration for its repressive
policies toward labor and its failure to recognize the problem of illegal immi-
gration from Mexico and Central America as an international development
issue. Cautioning delegates to look beyond what politicians say about immi-
gration and what they do, Gladney warned: “We must keep politicians
honest.”

Income disparities between the U.S. and Central American countries, par-
ticularly Mexico are the driving force behind the wave of immigration, he said.
However, don’t blame the individual immigrants: “If I was living in a mud hut
on $200 a year, I’d find a way to get to the United States.”

Ron Gladney

THURSDAY HIGHLIGHTS AUGUST 17, 2006

Buddy Mincey
Thanks From Katrina Victims

Buddy Mincey, president of the Mid-South District Council and a 42-year
member of Local 623 Baton Rouge, Louisiana, expressed the appreciation of
ironworkers from the Gulf region for the outpouring of support they received
in the wake of hurricanes Katrina and Rita. While the Gulf Coast region con-
tinues to dig out from the rubble of the storms a full year after they hit,
Mincey said Iron Worker members know the meaning of “true brotherhood as
our union stood tall when your help was needed the most.”

Buddy Mincey



Walter Wise
“I’m proud to be a union ironworker...Today we’re respected not just by our

members, but by the entire labor movement.”
Alluding to the 41st Convention theme, building a bridge to the future, Wise

noted: “We have another bridge to build and we get to design it and build it, and
cut the ribbon for all that follow.”

He congratulated delegates for recognizing the need to jump start organizing
among ironworkers. “By your actions here you are stating–enough is enough.”
However, he said, the convention’s actions need to be followed up with the real
work of the union.

“We must not rest until we organize all workers in the industry. We’re going to
change the face of our industry,” Wise said, adding: “Now let’s go, we’ve got a union
to build.”

Closing Remarks

Walter Wise

THURSDAY HIGHLIGHTS AUGUST 17, 2006

General Secretary Mike Fitzpatrick
“Except for the birth of my children, this is the greatest honor I’ve ever had in my
life,” General Secretary Michael Fitzpatrick told delegates. “From time to time I’m
going to make mistakes, but I when I do, I will work to make it right. I will also do
everything in my power to make you proud.”

Mike Fitzpatrick

General President Joseph Hunt
General President Joseph Hunt closed out the convention, expressing appreci-

ation on behalf of the membership to delegates, committee members, sergeants-
at-arms and the union’s staff.

He summarized the highlights of the week, noting the extensive discussions
on the challenges that lie ahead—

• Recovering market share for union ironworkers. • Organizing. • Expanding
and enhancing apprenticeships. • Protecting jurisdiction and working with
IMPACT. • Developing a membership oath and cultivating a spirit and a com-
mitment among members to fight for their union.

“You know I am going to challenge myself day in and day out, and, believe
you me, I am going to challenge each and every one of you... to validate the effec-
tiveness of us as labor leaders,” he vowed.

Although the convention generates excitement and enthusiasm that “makes
us feel good,” President Hunt said what follows “has to be action” that “far
exceeds the mandates of the convention.”

“We have to hold one another accountable. We have to ensure that as labor
leaders we are accessible” and consistently “do everything we can to better the
lives of our members.”

He reminded the delegates that “we came here to chart the course, to develop
a plan of action for this union over the next five years, and it is our solemn obli-
gation, our commitment to ensure the resolutions that were decided here this
week are put into action when we leave.”

As the convention opened, he said, “we were strong, proud and united; and I
know that when we leave here, we are strong proud and united. I couldn’t be
more pleased, more happy or more humbled to be General President of what I
consider the greatest International Union in all of North America.” Joseph Hunt

16 THE IRONWORKER
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Convention Tribute

BONDS, LADELL, LOCAL 1
KOENIG, ARON C, LOCAL 1
PORTH, GUY, LOCAL 1
RODRIGUEZ, ALFONSO, LOCAL 1
FAIR, ROGER E, LOCAL 3
FULMORE, MACEO, LOCAL 3
HERMANN, JAMES P, LOCAL 3
MALLEY, ROBERT E, LOCAL 3
OLEAR, EUGENE J, LOCAL 3
TAYLOR, ROBERT W, LOCAL 3
THOMAS, WILLIAM E, LOCAL 3
HARLEY, DAMIAN, LOCAL 5
WHEELER, KEITH, LOCAL 5
CASSIDY, MICHAEL J, LOCAL 6
HADLEY, DOUGLAS, LOCAL 7
HAMILTON, LEE, LOCAL 7
KINAHAN, JONATHAN, LOCAL 7
LOCKHART, DONALD E, LOCAL 7
PAIGE III, GORDON E, LOCAL 7
ROCHE, DANIEL, LOCAL 7
SHEA, DANIEL F, LOCAL 7
SPRAGUE, GEORGE R, LOCAL 7
TELLIER, JOHN, LOCAL 7
GONZALES, LAWRENCE D, LOCAL 8
HASSE, RYON W, LOCAL 8
KELLEY JR, THOMAS M, LOCAL 8
KONKEL, ROYCE, LOCAL 8
MAYRHOFER, ANTHONY, LOCAL 8
SEEFELD, MICHEAL J, LOCAL 8
TSCHAN, CHARLES J, LOCAL 8
DICKSON, ROBERT S, LOCAL 10
DOOGS, MICHAEL S, LOCAL 10
EVANS, RYAN L, LOCAL 10
HOLMES, LUCAS A, LOCAL 10
JOHNSON, KEVIN E, LOCAL 10
NICHOLSON, MICHAEL A, LOCAL 10
PAULSEN, BRIAN M, LOCAL 10
PIBURN, JASON R, LOCAL 10
SNIDER, WILLIAM L, LOCAL 10
COSSART, MICHAEL A, LOCAL 12
GIBBS, KEITH B, LOCAL 14
DOLE, RORY J, LOCAL 15
TOMPKINS, ELIZABETH A, LOCAL 15
GROSS, JOHN, LOCAL 16
HALE, JAMES, LOCAL 16
BAKER, JONATHON L, LOCAL 17
HALLOCK, KEVIN J, LOCAL 17
LOTTS, DANIEL, LOCAL 17
STONE, JEFFREY, LOCAL 17
UNGER, DARRELL, LOCAL 17
KELLAR, CHAUNCEY L, LOCAL 21
HAGGARD, KENNETH E, LOCAL 22
LEE, RODNEY E, LOCAL 22
NEEL, GERALD W, LOCAL 22
PAPAY, JAMES K, LOCAL 22
SMITH, KEITH, LOCAL 24
DOCKEN, TODD, LOCAL 25
JAMES, STEVEN V, LOCAL 25
KLEES, JEREMY R, LOCAL 25
LALIBERTE, MARC, LOCAL 25
MACHCINSKI, ANDREW A, LOCAL 25
OBERDORF, JONATHAN, LOCAL 25
REMSNYDER, LARRY G, LOCAL 25
RUMBLE, SCOTT T, LOCAL 25
VEGA III, ANTONIO, LOCAL 25
WHITAKER, THOMAS D, LOCAL 25
ZALENSKI, ADAM J, LOCAL 25

EVANS, TODD, LOCAL 27
NELSON, STEVEN R, LOCAL 27
JOHNSON, RICHARD M, LOCAL 29
RIGGS, CHARLES, LOCAL 29
MOREHOUSE, JONATHAN P, LOCAL 33
BACON, JOHN, LOCAL 37
HOLLINRAKE, DAVID, LOCAL 37
MATOS, ROBERTO S, LOCAL 37
ROBERTS, JASON V, LOCAL 37
THIVIERGE, TYSON, LOCAL 37
BARRASS, JOHN, LOCAL 40
LIGGIO, ROBERT, LOCAL 40
SPIESS, CHRISTOPHER, LOCAL 40
LEMBERG, JOSEPH R, LOCAL 44
RALSTON, WILLIAM E, LOCAL 44
GRENZ, SEAN, LOCAL 45
EVRLEY, MICHAEL R, LOCAL 46
JIROVEC, JOSEPH M, LOCAL 46L
JOHNS, KEVIN M, LOCAL 46L
MINERVINI, PAUL, LOCAL 46L
MYRIE, ERIC P, LOCAL 46L
RUIZ, WILLIAM, LOCAL 46L
BRIANT, JASON D, LOCAL 48
GALLAGHER, PATRICK F, LOCAL 55
WHITING, CHAD R, LOCAL 55
WILSON, JEREMY S, LOCAL 55
FREEMAN, SHELDON C, LOCAL 58
CESAITIS, JEFFREY E, LOCAL 57
CANNIFF, TERENCE W, LOCAL 63
HILL IV, CHARLES W, LOCAL 63
BROWN, JEREMIAH, LOCAL 67
GATHERCOLE, KIRK D, LOCAL 67
ROBINSON, EDWARD, LOCAL 68
ROSATI, CHRISTOPHER L, LOCAL 68
GIBSON, DAVID S, LOCAL 79
EBERT, ERICH V, LOCAL 86
HILL, JOSHUA A, LOCAL 86
KUNKEL, JOSHUA L, LOCAL 86
MARTINEZ, LUPE, LOCAL 86
WOPAT, RICHARD L, LOCAL 86
TEDFORD, WILLIAM L, LOCAL 92
VAUDRIN, RYAN B, LOCAL 97
BOWLDS, DANNY J, LOCAL 103
MEREDITH, STEVEN J, LOCAL 103
WILLIAMS, STEPHEN M, LOCAL 103
LARSON, JAY P, LOCAL 111
FLETCHER, ANDREW J, LOCAL 118
LANDRY, DAVID C, LOCAL 118
WRIGHT, BRIAN L, LOCAL 118
YENTER, BRANDON M, LOCAL 118
BAXTER, ZACHARY B, LOCAL 147
BUCHMAN, GABRIEL J, LOCAL 147
SWAGGER, ADAM W, LOCAL 147
GURNAK, DAVID A, LOCAL 207
PERSING, BRIAN W, LOCAL 207
POWELL, DONALD W, LOCAL 207
BROWN, KEITH A, LOCAL 228
BARRETT, MARTIN M, LOCAL 229
GOMEZ, JOSE, LOCAL 229
GROSSKREUTZ, NICKLAUS, LOCAL 229
LAUTZENHEISER, ANTHONY B, LOCAL 229
NARANJO, JOSE A, LOCAL 229
RICE, EDDIE P, LOCAL 229
SWANSON, MICHAEL M, LOCAL 229
THRASHER, DUSTIN J, LOCAL 229
TILT, JEREMY R, LOCAL 229
HURO III, JOE J, LOCAL 263

KELLEY, FARON S, LOCAL 290
LANE, DOUGLAS A, LOCAL 290
NORMAN, RONALD L, LOCAL 290
PIERCE, JIMMY, LOCAL 290
WHITE, KENNETH S, LOCAL 290
WILCOX, AARON A, LOCAL 290
KOTAREK, RANDALL, LOCAL 292
COBB, REMONT, LOCAL 321
BOSSE, BENJAMIN J, LOCAL 340
HILL, JODY L, LOCAL 340
THOMAS, BRIAN V, LOCAL 350
BARNETT, RYAN H, LOCAL 361
BRIGHT, SCOTT M, LOCAL 361
GABBE, GENARO E, LOCAL 361
RYAN, JOHN R, LOCAL 361
CLARK, BRIAN, LOCAL 373
ACCURSO, CHUCK, LOCAL 377
CHENIER, JOSEPH J, LOCAL 377
GIBSON, DAVID L, LOCAL 379
HALEY, JOHN H, LOCAL 379
FLOYD, RONALD W, LOCAL 380
MILLER, RODNEY, LOCAL 380
FONS, BRANDON L, LOCAL 383
GRIGSBY, JAMES I, LOCAL 383
PEPLINSKI, WAYNE M, LOCAL 383
DVORAK, JOSHUA J, LOCAL 384
SILER, ALFRED B, LOCAL 384
OLOGHOEJEBI, SATURDAY, LOCAL 387
ARCHER, PATRICK J, LOCAL 392
FOX, CORY W, LOCAL 395
LEWIS, PHILLIP, LOCAL 395
BUTERA, BRIAN D, LOCAL 396
JONES, J. B, LOCAL 396
MONIELLO JR, MARK, LOCAL 399
WARREN, MICAH, LOCAL 399
CONNORS, PATRICK R, LOCAL 401
GRANT, JOHN I, LOCAL 401
MC GONIGAL, ALOYSIUS P, LOCAL 401
MORGAN, EDWARD L, LOCAL 404
OSBECK, JESSE A, LOCAL 404
SHELLEY, CHARLES E, LOCAL 404
KNIGHT, RAYMOND B, LOCAL 416
SMITH, LAWRENCE E, LOCAL 416
TAYLOR, ANDRE, LOCAL 416
GEISINGER, RORY, LOCAL 420
DANIELE, LOUIS D, LOCAL 424
ANDERSON, SETH J, LOCAL 433
BENABISE, CHRIS R, LOCAL 433
DAUGHERTY, RICHARD L, LOCAL 433
GARCIA, JAVIER, LOCAL 433
GUTOWSKI, WILLIAM E, LOCAL 433
KOCH, JEFFREY S, LOCAL 433
MESA, ARMANDO, LOCAL 433
PEARCE, ERIC J, LOCAL 433
RAMOS, JOSE M, LOCAL 433
SNEED, ANDREW J, LOCAL 433
MASON, ROCKY A, LOCAL 439
WILKINSON, WADE, LOCAL 440
COOPER, ANTHONY J, LOCAL 444
BOEHLE, DAVID B, LOCAL 469
DRZYMALLA, DANIEL P, LOCAL 469
MC DONALD, JOSHUA D, LOCAL 469
STANTON, WALTER G, LOCAL 470
WILLIAMS, JOEL, LOCAL 473
BORDEN, JASON D, LOCAL 477
BUTLER, JASON N, LOCAL 477
EARLY, F D, LOCAL 477

WHITE, DEMPSEY D, LOCAL 477
MARIN, GILDARDO, LOCAL 480
BLACK, ROBERT A, LOCAL 489
BROWN, ALLAN M, LOCAL 489
EAKIN, NICHOLAS A, LOCAL 489
JACKSON, JEREMY C, LOCAL 492
JETT, CLINTON E, LOCAL 492
STINSON, RONALD D, LOCAL 492
DALE, WILLIAM A, LOCAL 493
WIPPERMAN, TERRY L, LOCAL 493
CHAVEZ, LOUIS, LOCAL 495
ROMERO, ALMANZO, LOCAL 495
TRASK, PAUL B, LOCAL 496
VANADESTINE, MICHAEL, LOCAL 496
STEVENS, RAY L, LOCAL 499
AVILES, JORGE, LOCAL 502
CHMIELINSKI, ALLEN J, LOCAL 502
ANDZELIK, TIM S, LOCAL 508
BARRERA, ALFRED, LOCAL 508
FARRELL, TAD T, LOCAL 512
LUBARSKI, JEFF B, LOCAL 512
MILLER, MATTHEW R, LOCAL 512
OLSON, CORKY A, LOCAL 512
STONE, PERRY J, LOCAL 512
WILSON, BARRY T, LOCAL 512
BARBER, JASON, LOCAL 516
CALKINS JR, WAYNE R, LOCAL 516
DHONE, JOSHUA, LOCAL 516
LOVE, GARY J, LOCAL 516
LA CHANCE, CRAIG A, LOCAL 518
DECANTO, JOSEPH P, LOCAL 521
DE GEORGE, ANTHONY, LOCAL 527
LEWTON, JAY E, LOCAL 549
SCHRACK, ANDREW L, LOCAL 549
STARR, JESSE C, LOCAL 549
MCCARTNEY, SHAWN M, LOCAL 550
BROADWATER, JUSTIN D, LOCAL 568
ALDINGER, THOMAS, LOCAL 580
WILLIAMS, HENRY L, LOCAL 580
BRANDL, VERNON J, LOCAL 584
GRANTHAM, COLE E, LOCAL 584
LO, VANG, LOCAL 624
OCHOA, JOSHUA, LOCAL 624
FREDERICK, GERARD K, LOCAL 625
KAHALOA, JOHN T, LOCAL 625
SMITH, TERRY, LOCAL 697
BRENNAN, LANCE M, LOCAL 709
WRIGHT, KENNETH W, LOCAL 709
YOUNG, JOE, LOCAL 710
LEWIS, DANIEL, LOCAL 726
FRANCO, JEFF, LOCAL 742
MIXSON, MASATO D, LOCAL 751
REID, DONALD E, LOCAL 764
LUSHER, FRANKLIN, LOCAL 769
MYERS, GEORGE E, LOCAL 769
PEDIGO, CHAD A, LOCAL 772
BATES, BOYD J, LOCAL 782
BRITTON, JEFFREY W, LOCAL 787
PARSONS, ERIC A, LOCAL 787
TISCHER, RONALD E, LOCAL 793
MILLER JR, RICHARD A, LOCAL 798
FRANK, NICHOLAS P, LOCAL 807
MCPARLAND, MICHAEL J, LOCAL 808
POLSTON, DARIS, LOCAL 808
BROWN, SHANNON T, LOCAL 843
SHUMAKER, JACOB, LOCAL 846

A stirring tribute to ironworkers 
serving in the military over the past five
years brought delegates to their feet.
We honor their service.
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Iron Workers Local 1
Robert Boskovich
James Gardiner
Martin Heneghan
Craig Satalic

Iron Workers Local 3
Greg Christy
David Greer
Patrick Kearney
Scott Malley
Thomas Melcher
Richard Pastorius
Mark Thomas

Iron Workers Local 5
James Hobson
John Rayner 
Waldo Ward

Iron Workers Local 6
Bill Bohen  
Thomas Halligan

Iron Workers Local 7
James Brown
Michael Durant
Fiore Grassetti
Patrick McDermott
Kevin McKinnon
Paul Lynch
Charles Wright
Edwin Wright

Iron Workers Local 8
David Coates
Brad Cyganek
Charlie Falkner
Yancy Shane Grawien
Steve Kimmel
Percy Robertson
Gilbert Toslek

Iron Workers Local 11
Michael Kenny
William Mullen
Michael Ruane

Iron Workers Local 12
Peter Cossack

Iron Workers Local 14
Donald Patterson

Iron Workers Local 15
Patrick Blackburn
Joseph McGloin
Peter Ed Reilly

Iron Workers Local 17
Timothy McCarthy
Bruce Riehl

Iron Workers Local 21
Mike Baker
Ronald Oates

Iron Workers Local 24
Douglas Calkins
Neal Hall

Iron Workers Local 25
Dennis Aguirre
William Borch, Jr.
Nick Bosak
Patrick Buck
Steven Gulick
Jack O’Donnell
Jim Hamric
James Horvath
Kristopher Kapcia
Tim Nichols
Bill Sennett
Zane Walker
Douglas Washburn
George Young

Iron Workers Local 27
Michael McDonald
Douglas Craig Thomas

Iron Workers Local 28
Larry Patterson

Iron Workers Local 29
Robert Clerihew
Kevin Jensen
James Pauley

Iron Workers Local 33
Gary Swanson

Iron Workers Local 36
Bob Kilpatrick

Iron Workers Local 37
Dennis Carey
Michael Ruggieri

Iron Workers Local 40
Larry Barnett
Bryan Brady
Stephen Dawson
Daniel Doyle
Jim Dufficy
Kevin O’Rourke
Kevin Walsh
Robert Walsh

Iron Workers Local 44
Arthur Baker, Jr.
Darryl Clarke
John Cotton
Albert Sonny Mullins
Lawrence Oberding

Iron Workers Local 45
Frank Cullen
Pat Drum
James Kearney  

Iron Workers Local 46
George Stecz
Michael Whalen

Iron Workers Local 46L
Paul Brown
Kevin Kelly
Robert Ledwith
Fred Le Moine

Iron Workers Local 55
Joseph D. Blaze, II
Jeffrey Phillips
Daniel Powell

Iron Workers Local 60
Gary Robb

Iron Workers Local 63
Ray Dean
Russ Gschwind
Timothy Loftus
Lawrence McNiff
Richard Rowe
Michael Serna
Paul Thompson
Roy Williams

Iron Workers Local 66
Daniel Foster

Iron Workers Local 70
Blair Cissell
Ron Lynch
Taz Noon

Iron Workers Local 75
James Belkoff
Phillip Bishop
George Facista
Edward Kampen
Martin “Buzz” Murphy
George L. Oxford
Terry L. Wright

Iron Workers Local 79
Thomas Bell
Robert Carney
George Hancock

Iron Workers Local 84
Ed Vargocko

Iron Workers Local 86
Jeff Butler
David Johnson
Steve Pendergrass

Iron Workers Local 89
Charles Zahorik

Iron Workers Local 92
Robert Nix

Iron Workers Local 103
Tom Garrett
William Garrett
Leslie Wiggins

Iron Workers Local 111
John Weiland
Michael Wilcher

Iron Workers Local 112
Johnnie Short

Iron Workers Local 118
Mike Berry
Danny Costella
Richard Davis
Tracy Holland
Richard Northam
Jason Rafter
John Rafter
Brian Tracy

Iron Workers Local 135
Richard Dee

Iron Workers Local 147
Mark Lesh
Gregory Strack
Ron Starkey

Iron Workers Local 155
Ed Diaz-Gonzales
Jimmy Ely
Jack Estes
Michael Lehmann
Donald Savory

Iron Workers Local 172
James Bosworth

Iron Workers Local 197
William Hayes
Joseph McDonald

Iron Workers Local 201
Juan Carlos Recinos

Iron Workers Local 207
Richard Ellis
Robert McCutcheon
Lewis Shane
Mike Sklepko

Iron Workers Local 229
George Booth
Cesar Cabresa
Timothy Collins
Jack Gavett
Jose Naranjo

W. N. Stuckey
Iron Workers Local 263
Mark Dickinson

Iron Workers Local 272
Dewey Tyler

Iron Workers Local 290
Thomas Buettner 
Hank Poff

Iron Workers Local 292
Jeffrey Bailey

Iron Workers Local 301
James Barker
Teddy Dixon
Catherine & Ronald Smith

Iron Workers Local 321
Thomas David Marsh

Iron Workers Local 340
Hugh Coward
Ken Dumas
Bruce Hawley

Iron Workers Local 350
Will Pauls
Raymond Phillips

Iron Workers Local 361
Joseph Farrell
G. H. Goodleaf, Jr.
Richard O’Kane
Bob Holland
Robert White

Iron Workers Local 372
Bill Kelley

Iron Workers Local 373
Thomas Kenny
James Morgan
William Nagy, Jr.
Raymond Nakielny
John Wade

Iron Workers Local 377
Larry Fenton
John Ford
Dan Hellevig
Arturo Lopez
Peter Maki
Dennis Meakin
Jeanne Park

Iron Workers 41st Convention 

President’s Club
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Daniel Prince
John Rocha
Iron Workers Local 378
Henry Brown
Mark Ferguson
Jason Gallia
Keith Hunter
Earl Lewis
Robert Lux
Jeff McEuen
Emilio Rivera
Donald A. Zampa
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Convention Hot Topic

IRON WORKER RECIPROCALS–
What Every Boomer Needs To Know

By Jiggs Higgs, International Pension Fund Administrator

Everyone seems to have a favorite story about some-
one in his family who spent a lot of time building Amer-
ica, but lost out on his future because the Iron Worker’s
reciprocal agreement system was not very universal
prior to 1983.Prior to 1983,various Iron Worker pension
plans had some limited reciprocity, but the only recip-
rocal agreement sponsored by the International Asso-
ciation prior to 1983 was the “Pro-Rata” Pension Reci-
procal agreement.

I’ll bet that everyone thinks that agreement is extinct,
but you would be wrong. Local 625 in Honolulu still
only participates under the old “Pro-Rata” Reciprocal
agreement. So, as romantic as it might sound to work
in Hawaii, you better plan on staying at least two years
in order to qualify for a pro-rata pension under that
agreement.

In 1983, the Iron Workers set out to establish stan-
dardized reciprocal agreements that would be accept-
able throughout the United States and Canada. Did the
Iron Workers achieve their goal?  We came close – howev-
er, if you boom out to Local 711 in Montreal, Quebec or
Local 764 in St John’s,Newfoundland there are no signed
reciprocal agreements on record at the International
Association. But that is probably okay, if your booming
from the U.S. because the Internal Revenue Service
absolutely prohibits a U.S. qualified fund from accept-
ing money from any fund that is not tax exempt in the
United States.

So, some of this stuff maybe interesting, but what do
you really need to know?  You need to know that with
the exception of the above outside local unions, a few
ornamental local unions and the shopmen local unions,
the Iron Workers International Health and Welfare Reci-
procal Agreement and the Iron Workers International
Reciprocal Pension Agreement have been signed by all
of the remaining Iron Worker local unions. There are
two parts to these agreement-Part A and Part B. As a
Boomer,you need to know that everyone has signed Part
A and a substantial number of local unions have agreed

to both Parts A & B. To determine the signatory parts
in advance check out the latest directory issue of The
Ironworker or go online to http://www.ironworkers.org/
and download the “pdf” version of the magazine.

So now that I have determined whether a local union
is signatory to both Parts A & B or Part A alone, what’s
next and why is that important to me? When you clear-
in at the local union office,you need to know am I a “key”
man with a contractor who has a “key” man agreement
with the International Association or am I in town
because there is a need for additional ironworkers in
the local jurisdiction?  

If you are a “key” man and your employer has a “key”
man agreement with the International Association,you
just need to clear in and go to work. Your employer’s
agreement with the International supersedes the local
union’s collective bargaining agreement  and it
requires that the employer pay you the better of the
your home local’s rates or the rates of the local union
in which you are working. So a “key” man needs to
check the rates at the local union when he clears in
to make sure the right amount is sent directly to his
home fund by his employer.

If you clear in,because the local union needs ironwork-
ers, and the local union has signed both Parts A & B,
you need to decide whether you want the Part B reci-
procity (money follows the man) or Part A reciprocity.
You must make this decision for the pension agreement
as well as the health and welfare agreement. You must
also make this decision prior to going to work. If do not
sign an authorization card for each reciprocal agreement
for which you want the contributions to go to your home
fund before you go to work,you will automatically receive
Part A reciprocity. If Part B reciprocity is “money follows
the man” for both the Pension and Health reciprocity
agreements, what is Part A reciprocity?

Under the Pension Agreement, Part A reciprocity is
referred to as the Pro-Rata Pension. The Pro-Rata
Pension means that cooperating pension funds must
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utilize your service with each pension fund in whose
jurisdiction you worked in a lifetime as though all of the
pension credit was earned under the jurisdiction of each
of the cooperating pension funds. Then each cooperat-
ing pension fund determines the amount of benefit
attributable to their pension fund. The parts are then
added together and paid to the ironworker. Today a fund
must participate as a cooperating pension fund if you
earn the least amount of credit offered under the fund’s
pension plan. So if you earn a credit under the plan for
250 hours then the fund is obligated to pay you a pro-
rated benefit in the future, assuming you earn enough
credits to become vested.

So for example,if you think the job will last long enough
to earn a minimum amount of pension credit and the
rate of accrual (that is the amount per pension credit
earned) is significantly greater than your home fund,
you might not want Part B for pension contributions
because the value of the benefit is greater. Some of the
big east coast pension plans also pay you at retirement
based on the rate of accrual when you retire, not on the
rate of accrual when you earn the pension credit.

Under the Health and Welfare Agreement,Part A reci-
procity, is referred to a “Point of Claim.” This is a modi-
fied “money follows the man” program because at the
time you or your family has a claim, you no longer have
home fund health coverage and you do not have cover-
age with the away fund either. Under these circum-
stances, you must tell your home local that you are or
have boomed out. If transferring the money and hours
during the home local’s eligibility period will make you
eligible for benefits under the home local’s plan either
on the basis of the money or the hours worked regard-
less of the money then the contributions and hours
earned during the eligibility period are transferred back
to the home local.

So for example,if you think the job will last long enough
to earn health and welfare eligibility in the away fund
and the away fund’ s benefits are better than your home

fund, you might not want Part B reciprocity for health
and welfare contributions because either way you and
your dependents will be covered for benefits, if you had
coverage prior to booming out.

Under Part B reciprocity, “money follows the man” for
pension and health and welfare reciprocity agreements,
the contributions and hours are returned and reported
to your home local. Under the “money follows the man”
reciprocity agreement, it is the responsibility of the
trustees of the cooperating pension fund to transmit all
of the contributions and hours within 60 days of receipt
to the home fund. Under the “money follows the man”
reciprocity agreement, it is the obligation of the trustees
of the home fund to determine the amount of hours to
be credited for purposes of vesting and pension credit.

In addition to the pension and health reciprocal agree-
ments, some local unions have defined contribution or
annuity plans which are signatory to the Iron Workers
International Reciprocal Annuity Agreement. This is a
“money follows the man” agreement where all of the
contributions are sent back to the home local. Once
again, it is up to you to sign an authorization to trans-
fer contributions made on your behalf to your home
fund.

Ultimately,it is up to the individual ironworker to learn
as much as he can about the benefits to which he is enti-
tled. The reciprocal agreements are just as important
as knowing your jurisdictional rights,your craft and your
safety procedures. To that end, the International is
making them all available to you via the Iron Workers
website. In addition to a listing of the local unions and
the agreements they participate under, we have also
provided a listing of the participating Iron Worker’s
pension funds together with their administrator’s
addresses and phone numbers. For assistance go to
http://www.ironworkers.org/ and look for Reciprocity.
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Eastern Canada

The State of California and Vicinity

District
Councils
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Chicago and Vicinity

Western Canada

District
Councils
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The Mid-Atlantic States

Michigan-Great Lakes and Vicinity

District
Councils
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The New England States

The Mid-South

District
Councils
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New York State

Northern New Jersey

District
Councils
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Eastern Ohio, Western Pennsylvania and Northern West Virginia

North Central States

District
Councils



28 THE IRONWORKER

Ontario

Southern Ohio and Vicinity

District
Councils
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Philadelphia and Vicinity

The Pacific Northwest

District
Councils
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The Southeastern States

The Rocky Mountain Area

District
Councils
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Tennessee Valley and Vicinity

St. Louis and Vicinity

District
Councils
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The State of Texas

District
Councils
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Behind the Scenes: 
A week before delegates began arriving in Washington for the 41st Convention, members of the
convention's eight standing committees were hard at work compiling convention reports.
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The Fitzpatrick FamilyThe Hunt Family
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Retired General Treasurer Dennis Toney swears in the General
Executive Council.

The Wise Family
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Report of General President Joseph J. Hunt

to the Forty-First Convention of the
International Association of 

Bridge, Structural, Ornamental 
and Reinforcing Iron Workers

Introduction
It is a privilege and an honor for me to submit the General

President’s report to the delegates of the Iron Workers 41st

Convention and to our entire membership.

This, the 41st Convention,marks the one hundred and tenth

year of our proud history. On February 4, 1896, ironworker rep-

resentatives from six cities answered the call to convene at

Moorhead Hall in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, to form our great

union. One hundred and ten years later, the delegates will

assemble here in Washington D.C. to lay the groundwork for

our future.Not only do we have the distinction of taking part in

this historical occasion, but we also pay tribute to our ancestors

and recognize the tremendous personal sacrifices made by

these great men. Some of our younger members, as well as our

children,may not be aware of the historical contributions made

by our ancestors in the United States and Canada to keep our

two great nations economically strong and constitutionally free.

So that we never forget where we came from every delegate

will receive a copy of our newly revised history book. As The
History of the Iron Workers Union will illustrate, the road for-

ward for the American labor movement was never an easy one

and the best route,at times,was difficult to discern,but through-

out our union’s history, our strong sense of brotherhood, our

willingness to lead the way when times are tough,and our com-

mitment to the pursuit of excellence has seen us through.

It is the function of the International Union to supply what-

ever assistance and guidance we can to help our local unions

and their elected officers.We have performed this function in a

variety of ways and in some cases broken new ground. The

Officers’ Report outlines many of our activities, which we have

undertaken with this goal in mind.

In Memoriam
John Walsh

Retired General Vice President John Walsh passed away

on July 30, 2001. Brother Walsh was initiated into Local 272

on August 1, 1939. He served as President of Local 272 for

one year and served as Business Representative eight years

until appointed Acting General Organizer on May 13, 1957.

He served in that capacity until appointed General

Organizer by General President John H. Lyons effective

March 1, 1958. He later became a General Vice President

and served in that capacity until retirement.

Henry Cooper
Henry Cooper, retired General Organizer and former

President of the Iron Workers District Council of Michigan-

Great Lakes and Vicinity, died January 2, 2002.

Brother Cooper was initiated into Local 25, Detroit,

Michigan, in April 1948. He was elected Business Manager,

Financial Secretary-Treasurer in June of 1958, and served in that

capacity until June 1967, at which time he was appointed

General Organizer by General President John H. Lyons. As

Business Manager of Local 25, Brother Cooper served as an

Executive Board Member of the Detroit Building and

Construction Trades Council; Secretary of the Iron Workers

Health and Welfare, Pension and Apprenticeship Funds; and as

a member of the Joint Apprenticeship Committee of Eastern

Michigan. As General Organizer, he served on the General

Executive Board and the General Executive Council of the

AFL-CIO. He was President of the Iron Workers District

Council of Michigan-Great Lakes and Vicinity for twelve years.

Henry Cooper served in the U.S.Army in 1944 in the Pacific

Theater with the 43rd Infantry Division. After World War II, he

was honorably discharged with the rank of Staff Sergeant in

January 1946.



OCTOBER 2006 51

William H. Chappell
It is with sincerest regret that General President Joseph J.

Hunt announces the death of retired General Organizer

William H. Chappell on January 8, 2002.

Brother Chappell was initiated into Shopmen’s Local

Union No. 734 of Hamilton, Ontario, on November 1, 1950. He

served as its first Local Union President until, in 1953, he trans-

ferred into Local Union No. 721 of Toronto, where he was

elected as Assistant Business Agent and Recording Secretary.

General President J. H. Lyons, recognizing Brother Chappell’s

abilities, appointed him a Special Representative on May 9,

1955. On January 27, 1958, President Lyons promoted him to

General Organizer to service all of Canada. Brother Chappell

transferred from Local Union No. 721 to Shopmen’s Local

Union No. 757 in Toronto on April 1, 1958, and then into

Shopmen’s Local Union No. 834 on October 1, 1976.

During his employment, Brother Chappell organized over

127 shops and chartered six shop local union, all in Canada.

On January 1, 1981, General Organizer Chappell retired. He

spent his later years of retirement helping to teach English to

children in their first years of school.

Carl M. Richison
Retired District Representative Carl M. Richison

passed away on August 3, 2002. Brother Richison was ini-

tiated into Local 723 on December 1, 1950. He was

employed September 6, 1954 as a Special Representative

to serve in the Norfolk, Virginia area. On April 14, 1958

he was appointed District Representative by General

President John H. Lyons. He later was transferred to the

Columbus, Ohio area where he served this International

Union until retirement.

Robert Poole
Retired General Vice President Robert Poole passed

away on August 12, 2002. Brother Poole was initiated into

Local 550 on October 1, 1940. He transferred into Local

340 on April 1, 1942 and attained the office of Business

Agent of that local. He was appointed acting General

Organizer on April 26, 1952 and later appointed a full

time General Organizer on December 17, 1953 by

General President John H. Lyons. He later was elevated

to the office of General Vice President and served in that

position until retirement.

Joseph Palma
Retired General Organizer Joseph Palma passed

away November 7, 2002. Brother Palma was initiated into

Local 524 on February 1, 1951. He was appointed General

Organizer by General President John H. Lyons on April

6, 1959. After thirty-two years of faithful service Brother

Palma retired on March 14 of 1984.

Desmond Shanley
Retired General Organizer Desmond Shanley passed

away on November 2, 2003. Brother Shanley began his

ironworker career in 1954 when he was initiated into

Local 399, Camden, New Jersey. He transferred his mem-

bership into Local 170 and later into Local 40, New York.

On July 1, 1982 General President John H. Lyons

appointed Brother Shanley to the International Staff.

Prior to his ironworking career he was a professional

boxer with 70 victories and only 7 defeats. He was induct-

ed into the New Jersey Boxing Hall of Fame, a well

deserved tribute to a fine man. He retired on April 29,

1994 after forty years of service.

Walter L. Hill
Retired General Organizer Walter L. Hill passed

away on March 18, 2004. Brother Hill became a member

of this International Association November 18, 1942 and

represented Shopmen’s Local 509, Los Angeles,

California as Assistant Business Representative and

later as Business Representative for over four years.

Brother Hill was appointed General Organizer by

General President John H. Lyons effective November

21, 1955 and served in that position until his retirement.

Charles R. Anding
Charles R. Anding, former President of the Mid-South

District Council and General Treasurer of the International,

died May 21, 2004, at age 75. Brother Anding was a member of

the Iron Workers Union since 1946, when he was initiated into

Local Union 135, Galveston, Texas. He later transferred to

Local Union 710, Monroe, Louisiana. He was elected Business

Agent-Financial Secretary-Treasurer of Local 710 in 1953. He

was appointed General Organizer in 1966 and appointed

President of the District Council of the Mid-South in 1972. In

September of 1978, Anding was appointed General Treasurer.

As General Treasurer of the International, he established the

computer system at Headquarters and installed the Gemini

system for local unions.

Hugh D. Williamson
Hugh D.Williamson, retired First Vice President of our

International Association died on August 4 after a long and

illustrious career. Brother Williamson has been an ironworker

for 62 years. He was initiated into Local 135, Galveston, Texas

on May 11, 1942 and transferred into Local 84, Houston, Texas

on April 19, 1944.

From June 1948 until January 1955, Brother Williamson

served as Business Manager of Local 84. During that time, he

started the most outstanding Apprenticeship Program in the

Iron Workers Union and negotiated the first fringe benefit

contribution ever negotiated with the Associated General

Contractors in the State of Texas. He also headed up a build-

ing program whereby Local 84 was able to purchase their

meeting hall.
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Donald Ward O’Reilly
The International Association of Bridge, Structural,

Ornamental and Reinforcing Iron Workers is saddened by the

loss of a good ironworker and dedicated union leader, Donald

Ward O’Reilly. Retired General Vice President Donald Ward

O’Reilly passed away November 24, 2004 in Richmond, British

Columbia at the age of 76.

Brother O’Reilly began his illustrious career with the Iron

Workers when he joined Local 97 (Vancouver, British

Columbia) in 1957. His leadership was recognized and he

became business agent of Local 97 in 1964 and held that posi-

tion until 1971. General President Lyons Jr. appointed him

General Organizer for Western Canada. In 1986, Don was

appointed Canadian Executive Director by General President

Juel Drake. General President Drake recognized Don

O’Reilly’s ability and leadership again in 1988 and Don was

appointed as the Ninth General Vice President of our great

union. Upon his retirement on April 20, 1992, he held the posi-

tion of Sixth General Vice President.

Martin “Marty” T. Byrne
Retired Executive Assistant to the General President

Martin “Marty” T. Byrne passed away September 7, 2005. His

career and contributions to our International, and the entire

labor movement, were varied and exceptionally distinguished.

After leaving a boxing career as a welterweight contender with

a record of 27-0, Marty became an apprentice ironworker in

Local Union 37 (Providence, R.I.). He attained journeyman sta-

tus in 1960 and served his local as a joint apprenticeship com-

mittee member, apprentice instructor, and member of the

Rhode Island State Apprenticeship Council. He was elected to

the executive board and the office of president. He also served

as business agent for twelve years.

He was elected president of the AFL-CIO Central Labor

Council for ten years before coming to Washington D.C., when

he was appointed general organizer by General President John

H. Lyons in 1980. For the 22 years prior to his retirement,

Marty’s office administered various programs for the

International Association including the Building and

Construction Trades Department project labor agreements,

chairman of the National Heavy and Highway Committee,

General Presidents Agreement Committee, Union Privilege

programs, Dollars Against Diabetes (DADS Day), and editor

of the award–winning magazine “The Ironworker.” Marty was

appointed executive assistant to the general president in 1986,

and served at that position under three general presidents.

Ron Karas
The International Association of Bridge, Structural,

Ornamental and Reinforcing Iron Workers is saddened by the

loss of a dedicated union leader and teacher Ron Karas. Iron

Workers Director of Safety and Health Training Ron Karas

passed away on May 23, 2006 at the age of 61.

Ron’s family and friends were always important elements of

his life, but his passion for the union began when he became a

member of Iron Workers Local 396 (St. Louis) in 1969. He

taught apprentices and journeymen ironworkers for 26 years. In

June 2001, he joined the National Fund training staff as

Director of Safety and Health Training. In this position, Ron

was responsible for the administration of federal grant monies,

and for delivering safety training to individual local union safe-

ty instructors.
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International Officers and Representatives
General Officers
Joseph J. Hunt, General President
Michael Fitzpatrick, General Secretary
Walter Wise, General Treasurer

General Vice Presidents
Robert Spiller, First General Vice President
Gordon Struss, Second General Vice President
Edward McHugh, Third General Vice President
George Kratzer, Fourth General Vice President
Richard Ward, Fifth General Vice President
Fred Marr, Sixth General Vice President
Edward Walsh, Seventh General Vice President
Jay Hurley, Eighth General Vice President
Joe Standley, Ninth General Vice President

General Counsel
Ronald Gladney

Executive Assistants
Tadas Kicielinski, Executive Assistant to the General

President
Michael Coyne, Executive Assistant to the 

General Secretary

Executive Directors
Bernie Evers, Executive Director of Organizing
David Kolbe, Political and Legislative Representative
Frank Migliaccio, Executive Director of Safety and Health
Bill Tweet, Executive Director of Jurisdiction and 

Maintenance
Anthony Walencik, Executive Director of Shop Department
Michael White, Executive Director of Apprenticeship 

and Training

General Organizers
Edward Abbott
Douglas Ballis
J.P. “Buddy” Cefalu
Michael Clarke
Eric Dean
Michael Downey
Jacques DuBois
Michael Gravette
J. Matthew Groskie
James Hathman
Gregory Hicks
Albert Mincey
Donald Oshanek
D. Steve Parker
Ron Piksa
Marvin Ragsdale
Robert Schiebli
Kevin Wallace
Donald Zampa

District Representatives
Anthony Butkovich
Rick Clukey
Angel Dominguez
David Gornewicz
James King
John Kusiar

Anthony Rosaci
David Turnbull
Manuel Valencia

Retirements
January 31, 2002 General Organizer Joe Ward
February 1, 2002 General Organizer Frank Bullock
February 1, 2002 Executive Assistant to the General 

President Martin Byrne
March 1, 2002 General Vice President Alan 

Simmons
April 1, 2002 General Organizer Donald Urbauer
July 30, 2002 General Organizer John Ruel
August 31, 2002 General Vice President Joseph

Quilty
August 31, 2002 General Organizer George Cross
January 31, 2003 General Vice President James Phair
January 31, 2003 Executive Director Roy Williams
February 28, 2003 General Organizer William Purdy
June 30, 2003 General Vice President Billy Joe

Walker
February 2, 2004 General Organizer Harold Cooper
September 1, 2004 General Organizer Edward 

Cottongim
October 1, 2004 General Organizer John Sciandra
February 28, 2005 General Treasurer Dennis Toney
January 1, 2006 General Organizer Donald Fortin
February 1, 2006 General Vice President Richard 

Zampa
Appointments
August 2001 Joseph J. Hunt elected General

President
August 2001 Michael Fitzpatrick elected 

General Secretary
August 2001 Dennis Toney elected General

Treasurer
September 24, 2001 Michael White appointed 

Executive Director of 
Apprenticeship & Training

October 1, 2001 Tadas Kicielinski appointed 
General Organizer

December 1, 2001 John F. Hurley, Jr. appointed
General Organizer

December 17, 2001 Frank Migliaccio appointed 
Executive Director of Safety &
Health

January 14, 2002 Kevin Wallace appointed General
Organizer

February 4, 2002 Joe Standley appointed as 
General Organizer

February 8, 2002 Frank Piccione appointed Grant 
Training Specialist for the
National Fund

March 1, 2002 Edward Walsh appointed 
General Organizer

March 11, 2002 Edward Abbott appointed 
General Organizer

March 18, 2002 Walter Wise appointed Ninth
General Vice President

March 18, 2002 Tadas Kicielinski appointed 
Executive Assistant to the
General President
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January 1, 2003 Michael Downey appointed 
General Organizer

January 13, 2003 Manuel Valencia appointed 
District Representative

February 1, 2003 Fred Marr appointed Executive
Director of Canadian Affairs

March 3, 2003 Richard Ward appointed Ninth
General Vice President

July 9, 2003 Fred Marr appointed Eighth 
General Vice President

July 14, 2003 Angel J. Dominguez appointed
Acting Special Representative

September 1, 2003 Bill Tweet  appointed General
Organizer

September 1, 2003 Anthony Walencik appointed
Executive Director of the Shop 
Division

November 3, 2003 Bill Tweet appointed Executive
Director of Jurisdiction and
Maintenance

April 17, 2004 Edward Walsh appointed Ninth
General Vice President

January 1, 2005 Angel J. Dominguez appointed
District Representative

March 1, 2005 Walter Wise appointed General
Treasurer

May 16, 2005 Jay Hurley appointed Ninth 
General Vice President.

June 27, 2005 J.P. “Buddy” Cefalu appointed 
General Organizer

December 5, 2005 Jacques DuBois appointed
General Organizer

February 1, 2006 David Kolbe appointed Political 
and Legislative Representative

March 13, 2006 Joe Standley appointed Ninth
General Vice President 

April 17, 2006 Don Zampa appointed General
Organizer

May 1, 2006 David Gornewicz appointed
District Representative

General Counsel
Our General Counsel, Ronald C. Gladney, has done

an outstanding job of representing the International in all

legal matters. He is a partner in the law firm Bartley

Goffstein, St. Louis. Mr. Gladney is a native of Missouri.

He was born in Columbia, Missouri, in February of 1949,

and attended the U.S. Military Academy at West Point,

New York. He graduated with honors in 1971.

After graduation, he spent five years on active duty

with the U.S. Army, including service with the 82nd

Airborne Division and as a counter intelligence officer.

After leaving active duty, Ron attended law school at

the University of Missouri, graduating with honors in

1979. Since 1979, Ron has been an attorney. His practice

has dealt primarily with labor, employment and ERISA

issues. I made the change knowing full well we needed a

counsel who could service our needs on a daily basis.

General Counsel Gladney will be spending half of his

time at our International Headquarters.

Ron is married to JoAnn Emerson of Cape

Girardeau, Missouri. Together, they have eight children.

Organizing 
Prior to our last convention, I appointed a Strategic

Planning Committee to assess and make recommenda-

tions for our organizing program. The committee was

comprised of staff personnel as well as local union lead-

ers.The Committee’s proposal was presented to the del-

egates at convention and the support to expand the

organizing department’s duties was overwhelmingly

approved.

One of the recommendations from the Committee

was to establish an accredited training program for

Organizers. The development of the ACES (Analyzing

Construction Employers Strategically) program by our

Executive Director of Organizing Bernie Evers has

proven to be a success. Various concepts of the program

include extensive research when planning  an organizing

campaign; focusing on worker and human rights issues

when developing a plan of action; and exploring second-

ary relationships in an effort to gain support and momen-

tum from additional sources who have business relation-

ships with the targeted employer. The campaign also

builds support from civic and social groups within the

community. ACES advocates the interaction of district

councils and local unions in assisting each other in vari-

ous campaign efforts.A key component of the ACES pro-

gram is the ability to gather pertinent and reliable infor-

mation on potential organizing targets. In this aspect,

computers can be a valuable tool. In a recent event, one

individual from each district council was assigned to par-

ticipate in an ACES research class. Efforts were concen-

trated on researching numerous companies for future

organizing activities.

The International assumes the cost for the training,

including room and board, for participants attending the

ACES Program and selected organizing classes at The

George Meany Center.

COMET (Construction Organizing Membership

Educational Training) is still a significant part of any cam-

paign. If a local union is not conducting COMET classes,

the organizer is at a disadvantage and success will be lim-

ited. When the membership understands organizing,

obstacles will be eliminated and the process of building

support within the rank and file for campaign activity is

established. The Building and Construction Trades

Department of the AFL-CIO has updated COMET to the

MOVE program (Multi-trade Organizing Volunteer

Education). MOVE focuses on multi-trade organizing

programs using union members from one trade on a job

site to communicate to non-union workers of another

trade regarding the benefits of being members of a union.
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Being a union member not only benefits the individual

but benefits our group as a whole. With increases predicted

in employment for the construction industry, and union den-

sity declining, we are provided with a great opportunity for

growth.

Regional Local 846 was developed out of necessity and

we are well on our way to reestablishing ourselves in the

reinforcing industry. Research verified that there were fewer

than 200 union members employed placing rebar in 18

states. Some local unions reported no members working in

reinforcing with no reinforcing contractors. A standardized

agreement with portability of workers in the geographical

jurisdiction of Local 846 allows contractors to seek work in

areas that they were never able to bid.

Local 846 is also a tool for organizing. Because we are

targeting the reinforcing industry as a whole, it is giving us

the opportunity to conduct campaigns and bring the unrep-

resented into our membership.Though still young, and there

are still some bumps in the road, early indications from both

members and employers are that Local 846 is a success for

all. Members employed in the reinforcing industry have

increased along with hours worked. As of February 2006,

benefits were paid on 720 active members working 87,009

hours.Twenty-five percent of the working assessment reverts

back to the local where the work is being performed. Over

$70,000 dollars have been paid to local unions for projects

that most likely would have gone non-union.

Research shows many companies operating in the United

States and Canada are owned by foreign conglomerates. In

Europe, these same corporations work under a collectively

bargained agreement, while at the same time subcontract

work to contractors who fail to address basic human rights

issues in North America. Affiliating with the Builders and

Wood Workers International (BWI) has given us the oppor-

tunity to meet with board members of corporations as well as

union leaders throughout the world to address our issues and

concerns. The BWI is a global union grouping together 349

trade unions representing members in 135 countries.

Headquartered in Geneva, Switzerland, regional offices are

located in Panama and Malaysia. BWI has had several com-

panies working globally to sign International Frameworks

Agreements (IFA) which also cover their subsidiaries. These

agreements incorporate fundamental principles and rights

established in the conventions of the International Labour

Organization (ILO). The International Frameworks

Agreements (IFA) commits companies to adhere to ILO

core labor standards to include freedom of association, the

right to collectively bargain, no forced or child labor, and no

discrimination. The companies also agree to pay decent

wages, be open to trade union activities, fully respect worker

and trade union rights, provide a decent health and safe work

environment, and to provide training and development

opportunities to its employees.The agreement also stipulates

that the company will also consider the respect for workers’

rights to be a crucial element in sustainable development and

will therefore refrain from using the services of those trading

partners, subcontractors, and suppliers which do not respect

the criteria listed.

Even with the ACES, COMET and MOVE programs,

some members remain reluctant to change their negative

opinions about organizing. The MOVE Program examines

the opportunity and the need for organizing immigrant

workers. For centuries, workers, including many of our

ancestors, have come to America looking to improve the

standard of living for themselves and their families. Often

they discover the life they sought does not exist.

Exploitation, abuse, oppression, and neglect invariably

become the reality of their shattered dreams. Immigrant

workers are preyed upon by unscrupulous corporations

seeking to employ their labor in the most horrific working

conditions. Their legal status as undocumented workers has

silenced them. Their attempts to voice the injustices they

face on a daily basis have been quashed due to their fear of

retaliation from their employers. Organizing these workers

gives us all a larger voice.

Still, the uncertainty exists among some members, that a

bigger, stronger union with an increase in membership will

weaken their job opportunities. Content with the shrinking

of union membership and decreasing union density, some are

still opposed to organizing under the misguided belief that it

won’t affect them. To address such issues, I have assigned the

organizing department to develop a program detailing the

affects to our members if organizing was non-existent. A dra-

matic hike in health care costs, cuts in benefits, and even

exclusion of some benefits, not to mention the vulnerability

of pension plans, will be major components of the informa-

tion that will be provided. When more members are drawing

benefits than are funding, effects on plan assets are cata-

strophic. We are witnessing the effects now where complete

pay raises are allocated to funding health care costs and pen-

sion plans. Organizing non-union companies will increase our

contactor base providing additional work opportunities to

current members. Bringing into our ranks the employees of

those contractors, as well as current non-union workers, and

the immigrant labor force, will increase our membership

numbers, increase our union density, allow us to meet our

manpower needs and will make solvent the benefit plans that

the union ironworker justly deserves and has worked so dili-

gently to maintain.

Apprenticeship and Training
The function of the Apprenticeship and Training

Department is to provide support, curriculum materials, and

direction to our affiliated local unions, joint apprenticeship

committees (JAC) and trade improvement committees

(TIC) on matters pertaining to apprenticeship and training.

This service is provided in several ways: via correspondence

(letters, telephone, e-mail), JAC/TIC meetings, apprentice-

ship conferences, instructor training programs, seminars, dis-

trict council meetings and local union meetings. The entire

department is funded by IMPACT contributions.
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As of May 1, 2006, we had 11,026 apprentice members,

representing 15.5% of our active journeymen membership in

the United States and Canada. From January 1, 2001 through

May 1, 2006, we graduated 12,050 apprentices to journeymen.

If you recall, we set a goal of 15% of our membership to be

apprentices a few years ago and we have reached that goal.

This goal was underestimated and I have requested to our

locals that we set the new goal at 20% of our membership be

apprentices. This should replace retirees and members who

have dropped out of the trade and should not only maintain

our membership but also provide an annual growth of about

5%.

We assist with and review local union apprenticeship and

training standards sent to headquarters. These standards are

checked to assure they are in conformity with Article XXIII

of the International Constitution and the U.S. Department

of Labor approved National Standards for Ironworkers. The

General Executive Board must approve any deviation from

the standards approved by the Department of Labor.

On March 6, 2006, the revised National Guidelines for

Apprenticeship Standards for the International Association

of Bridge, Structural, Ornamental and Reinforcing Iron

Workers were certified. The U.S. Department of Labor,

Office of Apprenticeship Training, Employer and Labor

Services, certifies that these National Guideline Standards

meet the requirements of Title 29, CFR Part 29 and 30.

Ironworker Instructor Training Program
One of the most successful programs conducted by the

Apprenticeship and Training Department and the National

Ironworkers and Employers Apprenticeship Training and

Journeyman Upgrading Fund is the annual Ironworker

Instructor Training Program. In 2005 over 600 instructors,

coordinators, observers, guests, employers and special presen-

ters participated in the 21st annual program. Each year 400 –

450 instructors attend a variety of technical (e.g., welding,

structural, ornamental, reinforcing, post tensioning, metal

buildings, etc.) and professional (presentation skills, course

development, test writing, computer skills, etc.) courses to help

ensure local apprenticeship programs have instructors able to

develop skilled ironworkers.

During the next five years we expect to see this program

continue to develop. Each year our apprenticeship coordina-

tors will come together for an annual meeting held in conjunc-

tion with the program to share ideas and learn new approaches

for managing apprenticeship programs. We will continue to

ensure that our instructors have access to the latest technical

information to help ensure that local programs are developing

ironworkers able to meet the needs of our signatory contractors.

Ironworker Apprenticeship Certification Program
In 2006 the Apprenticeship and Training Department

began implementation of a certification program for local

union apprenticeship programs.The Ironworker Apprentice-
ship Certification Program (IACP) is designed to improve

and standardize the quality of apprenticeship training

offered at local unions to help ensure that graduates are

skilled ironworkers able to meet the needs of our employers,

contractors and our Joint Apprenticeship Training

Committees (JATC) and Trade Improvement Committees

(TIC). Certification is a method of ensuring an ironworker

apprenticeship program meets or exceeds all established

standards and requirements in areas such as implementing

the core curriculum, ensuring instructors have appropriate

credentials, maintaining appropriate training facilities, pro-

viding access to current tools and equipment, ensuring safe-

ty of apprentices, and providing on-the-job training to pre-

pare skilled ironworkers. During the first half of 2006

approximately 15 local union apprenticeship programs suc-

cessfully completed the certification process.

Our goal is to have all local union apprenticeship pro-

grams complete the certification process during the next sev-

eral years.A list of all certified programs will be available on

the Iron Workers’ website under the Apprenticeship and

Training Department.

Foreman Training for Ironworkers
The Ironworker Management Progressive Action

Cooperative Trust (IMPACT) and the National Ironworkers
and Employers Apprenticeship Training and Journeyman
Upgrading Fund (NIEATJUF) have developed a new refer-
ence manual and training course entitled Foreman Training
for Ironworkers to meet the needs of employers and the
union. The goal of the course is to develop highly skilled
foremen for our signatory contractors. The training course
and materials were developed during 2005 with courses
being conducted in Colorado, Texas and Missouri. In 2006
instructor training courses were held in Ohio, California,
Colorado, New Jersey, Alaska, Minnesota, Georgia,
Massachusetts, Washington and Texas.

Development of Training Materials
The Apprenticeship and Training Department is in the

process of developing a core curriculum for local union
apprenticeship programs. The core curriculum will help to
standardize the knowledge and skills of graduates and will
include the courses that every ironworker should com-
plete in order to become a competent journeyman. To
support the core curriculum, we are updating all of our
primary training materials. These updated materials will
be published as training packages ready for use by
apprenticeship coordinators and instructors. The training
package is designed for use by both the ironworker
instructor and student. Each training package will con-
tain four or five primary components that the instructor
and apprentices will use during classroom and shop ses-
sions. The components of a training package include the
reference manual(s), instructor guide, student work-
book, blueprint book (for some packages) and instructor
CD-ROM. During 2005 we published the pre-engi-
neered metal buildings package. During 2006 we will
publish new packages in the areas of welding, post ten-
sioning and reinforcing.
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During 2007 we will be publishing new packages in the

areas of rigging, cranes, architectural and ornamental, and

conveyors and industrial maintenance. More packages will

be published each year. We are confident these new train-

ing packages in our new format will be well received by

local unions and will become an essential component in

the development of skilled ironworkers ready to meet the

needs of our contractors.

During 2006 our goal is to make instructor training

courses available to all local unions. Locals can then con-

duct their own foreman training courses for apprentices,

journeymen, and local contractor foremen. We are confi-

dent that Foreman Training for Ironworkers will help local

unions prepare skilled foremen able to meet the supervi-

sory needs of their local contractors.

Internet Technology Initiatives

During 2005 we increased our use of Internet technol-

ogy to provide improved products and services to our

apprenticeship coordinators and instructors. All of our

apprenticeship coordinators are now connected to an e-

mail discussion group or listserv called IWTRAIN. This

listserv not only allows the Apprenticeship and Training

Department to send out e-mail announcements to coordi-

nators, but coordinators can also send questions and

answers to other coordinators. This listserv has helped to

connect all of the coordinators and has encouraged the

sharing of ideas and resources. Early in 2006 we opened

our online bookstore. Local union apprenticeship coordi-

nators can now order materials online at any time.This has

greatly reduced the time required to process and ship

materials and has made the task of tracking all of the

orders much easier. Finally, we have added a number of

documents and resources to the Apprenticeship and

Training Department’s section of the Iron Worker’s web-

site. These materials are now easily accessible to the coor-

dinators and instructors. In the future we will continue to

explore the use of Internet technology to better meet the

needs of our local union apprenticeship programs.

College Degree Programs for Ironworkers

Recognizing the importance of encouraging ironwork-

ers to continue their education, we have signed agreements

with Ivy Tech Community College of Indiana and the

National Labor College at the George Meany Center in

Washington. The Ivy Tech agreement outlines a partner-

ship to enable the delivery of an Associate of Applied

Science (AAS) degree to apprentices enrolled in local

union apprenticeship programs certified under the

Ironworker Apprenticeship Certification Program.

Apprentices will be able to enroll with Ivy Tech

Community College in Indiana and receive college credit

for their apprenticeship courses. After completing their

apprenticeship program, students will go online to com-

plete three required courses. Upon completion of these

three courses students will then receive their associate

degree. The agreement with the National Labor College

outlines two bachelor degree programs for ironworkers.

The first degree program is the Bachelor of Arts (BA).This

program is a flexible, largely external program that enables

students to pursue a Bachelor of Arts degree while contin-

uing their trade union work.The other degree of interest to

ironworkers is the Bachelor of Technical/Professional

Studies (BTPS) which is a new degree program. This new

degree program provides union members who have partic-

ipated in challenging apprenticeships and training pro-

grams with online (Internet) access to the courses needed

to earn a college degree.

We will continue to encourage interested ironworkers

to pursue their education through these partnerships with

Ivy Tech and the National Labor College.

Post Tensioning Ironworker Certification

The use of post-tensioned reinforcing has more than

doubled in the last 5 years and more designers and agencies

are demanding that the people who install this type of rein-

forcing be certified. In order to keep the ironworkers at the

forefront of this segment of our industry, the National

Ironworkers and Employers Apprenticeship Training and

Journeyman Upgrading Fund updated all of its related

training materials, and created a partnership with an inde-

pendent third party agency to make Post Tensioning

Ironworker Certification available at no additional charge

to local union JACs and TICs. This new certification is

designed to call public attention to the extensive training

done by the ironworkers and is now being utilized by union

ironworkers to build hi-rises, parking structures, and

bridges throughout the United States and Canada.

In the near future this certification program will

become the first and only post-tensioning certification to

attain accreditation from ANSI (the American National

Standards Institute). This accreditation is done under an

International Standard that carries weight in both the

United States and Canada. It will raise the bar and set a

new standard in the post-tensioning industry challenging

our non-union competition to try to meet this new defini-

tion of “certified”.

Qualified Rigger Program

On September 21, 2000 the American National

Standards Institute (ANSI) approved Safety Requirements

for Rigging Qualifications and Responsibilities (Qualified

Rigger). The ANSI Training Requirements are as follows:

“Field, classroom, guild, apprenticeship or other

instruction from a person skilled in the subject matter. Any

combination of these exposures may be suitable to consid-

er a person trained or qualified. The ability to demonstrate

and converse intelligently about the subject matter are

indicators of satisfied training.”

Under the ANSI Standards, ironworkers are qualified
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riggers due to the extensive training (apprenticeship and/or

journeyman upgrading) and work experience they have

acquired. The training manuals and video’s used by our

apprenticeship and journeyman upgrading programs cover

the training required by this new standard. Qualified rigger

cards and certificates are issued by the Apprenticeship and

Training Department for all ironworkers who meet the ANSI

qualifications.

Helmets to Hardhats Program

Iron Workers along with other Building Trades

unions, are looking to the military for a source of man-

power for our apprenticeship programs. Helmets to

Hardhats bridges the gap between the military and

apprenticeship programs at appropriate levels, helping to

properly evaluate military experience and training for

suitable placement. This bridge greatly benefits both vet-

erans and the building trades. It makes economic sense

to leverage military training in apprenticeship programs

based on the following because military veterans make

ideal candidates for work in the construction industry

because they are:

Educated, high school graduates between the ages 

of 20 and 24.

Drug free.

Dependable.

Trained in leadership, diversity, and in many other skills.

According to the National Building Trades

Department and the U.S. Department of Labor, the con-

struction industry must recruit 1.6 million new workers

over the next five years; in other words, the nation is fac-

ing a critical construction industry workforce shortage. In

the past, our local unions have looked to high school grad-

uates for apprentices. However, we are not getting enough

high school graduates with the appropriate maturity,

dependability, and skills to fulfill our requirements.

Helmets to Hardhats will help us acquire the number of

apprentices we need for our training programs.

MSHA
Over the past two years, the Iron Workers have been

involved with the Mine Safety and Health Administration

(MSHA) through an alliance agreement that was signed

July 18, 2004 by Assistant Secretary of Labor for MSHA

Dave D. Lauriski and I. For three years prior to that date

we have worked closely with MSHA. The Iron Workers

are one of two labor unions to have an alliance with

MSHA. The International Union of Operating Engineers

is the other union organization. The agreement establish-

es a collaborative relationship to foster safer and healthi-

er working conditions for ironworkers and miners at the

nation’s mining operations. We develop and share training

and educational materials. We also develop and dissemi-

nate information on worker safety and health issues at

conferences, events and through print and electronic

media, including links from MSHA and the Iron Workers

Union websites. This alliance has allowed ironworkers to

work approximately 4 million manhours at mine sites.

Each year, the Ironworkers National Training Fund

holds an MSHA, train-the-trainer course at the University

of San Diego, San Diego, California. To date we have

trained over 200 MSHA Instructors through the San

Diego program. In turn the instructors go back to their

local unions and train ironworkers to work on the mine

sites. This has amounted to over 3,500 ironworkers certi-

fied to work on mine sites throughout the United States.

Regional Training Centers

Through the National Fund we continue to conduct

training courses for as many coordinators and instructors

from our local unions as possible. In order to reduce trav-

el costs and make the courses as close to locals as possi-

ble, we continue to operate three regional training cen-

ters. This approach allows participants to take advantage

of regional training which in turn helps hold down costs

to our locals. By regional training we mean students do

not have to travel around the country to attend the

required courses.The National Fund continues to operate

three training centers: Local 377/378 in Benicia,

California on the west coast, Local 396, St. Louis in the

central or mid-west region, and the Northern New Jersey

District Council Training Facility in Springfield, New

Jersey on the east coast. A variety of courses continue to

be offered at these facilities including: Post Tensioning

(Bonded and Unbonded), OSHA 500/502, MSHA

Training, Scaffold Training, CWI Prep Classes, along with

the Foremen Training and COMET courses. This region-

al training approach has proven to be very successful

which helps our members to receive much needed train-

ing to meet the needs of our signatory contractors.

Safety Grants and Courses

The Ironworkers National Training Fund continues to

receive grant money from the NIEHS through a consor-

tium under CPWR (the safety training arm of the AFL-

CIO). We have been receiving funds from two grants to

provide safety and health training in courses dealing with

Hazardous Material Worker Training (HAZWOPPER).
This is an intense 40-hour class to teach the workers the

correct ways to protect themselves when not only working

around hazardous materials, but how to protect them-

selves everyday on every worksite. This course addresses

health effects for the worker and their family as well.
The grant covers instructor salaries and the cost of

books and materials associated with these courses. In
recent years the grant has also included the OSHA 500
and OSHA 502 training courses. The National Fund con-
ducts these safety training courses six times a year. The
OSHA 500 is the train-the-trainer course to allow anyone
completing this course to present 10-hour and 30-hour
safety courses at their respective locals. The OSHA 502
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is the four-year refresher for the OSHA instructors.
Another course offered through the grant is Scaffolding

Train the Trainer. This is a 24-hour hands-on course to give
the instructor actual work experience in the assembly and
dismantling of scaffolding used by ironworkers on jobsites
across the United States and Canada. These are typically
rigid frame systems or tube and clamp or coupler. We also
include swing stage scaffolding in this course.

Ironworker Welding Certification Program

The Welding Certification Program of North America was
designed and implemented to aid our members in training
through a nationally recognized welding certification pro-
gram. The goal was to help the Iron Worker training pro-
grams across the country have pre-qualified welding proce-
dures on hand in order to test the members of their local and
help facilitate the needs of the signatory members in their
area. This would be accomplished by supplying workers who
had not only the training necessary, but also a welding certifi-
cation recognized by owner and employer groups throughout
the country thus reducing the time and costs of having to re-
test on the jobsite.

In the past few years the program auditors have accredit-
ed an additional 27 ironworker training facilities across the
country bringing our total to 60. We have processed 27,903
ironworker welding certifications through our office since the
onset of the program. We have gained the recognition and
acceptance of our certification cards by the Departments of
Transportation (in some states), power companies, fabricators
and erectors, and employer’s groups. We have developed and
implemented new pre-qualified welding procedures into our
program as needed in order to meet the demands of the
changing construction industry.

We have installed a new Internet-based welding program
in order to make the system easier to use by the coordinators
and speed up the turn around time needed to supply each par-
ticipating member with their welding identification card. The
program also has read only capabilities which can be used by
employers to verify a card holder’s credentials.

In the next five years our goal is to continue to market the
program in each region and gain wider acceptance by the peo-
ple who employ ironworkers. We will do our best to accom-
modate our members and the changes in the industry by con-
tinuously upgrading our program and the welding procedures
available for use in the field. We will continue to make avail-
able discounts to each training program for the purchase of
newer, more technologically advanced welding equipment
from the vendors and manufacturers. And we will do our
best to encourage all of our training facilities to begin and
continue training our members in the different welding
processes available in order to not only keep the jobs we have,
but to increase our market share wherever possible.

North American Apprenticeship Conference

The Apprenticeship and Training Department began

holding its National Bi-Annual Apprenticeship

Conference in the fall of 1994, the first one being held

in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. The purpose of this con-

ference is to bring together Joint Apprenticeship

Committees, Joint Trade Improvement Committees,

and employers in order to exchange viewpoints, discuss

new ideas and technology, and the opportunity to com-

pare their program with those from other local unions

in the U.S. and Canada. Also during the first confer-

ence, the first National Apprentice Competition was

held. This would be a forum for the best apprentices

from each local union and district council to compete

against each other not only for prizes but the honor of

being touted “the best of the best.”

The succession of conferences following our first

were held in Vancouver, Canada; Anchorage, Alaska;

Miami Beach, Florida; Boston, Massachusetts; and San

Francisco, California, with each one becoming more

successful than its predecessor. Participation has con-

tinued to increase at each conference and competition

and now nearly every district council is represented.

The September 2006 conference is slated to be held

in St. Louis, Missouri. There will be several guest speak-

ers informing the audience about new training pro-

grams being developed and sharing innovative ideas.

In addition there will be break-out sessions scheduled

to provide a forum for the locals in each district council

to discuss what their apprenticeship program is doing.

These meetings will also have a list of topics to be dis-

cussed amongst the participants. The results are then

brought back to the general assembly and shared with

the attending members. Our goal is to continue these

conferences in different locations throughout the U.S.

and Canada making each one more productive than the

last.

Safety and Health
Since our last convention in August 2001, a lot has

happened to the industry regarding safety and health

issues. One of the biggest changes has been in the Steel

Erection Industry. The Occupational Safety and Health

Act (OSHA) standard for Steel Erection, Subpart R,

which went into effect July 18, 2001, has helped reduce

the number of fatalities that occur while performing a

steel erection task. The updated standard required more

stringent safety measures and training requirements.

With these training requirements comes a need for new

certifications that allow ironworkers to perform tasks

associated with steel erection.

One of the major changes to the standard falls under

Fall Protection. Subpart R allows the ironworker connec-

tor to work at heights of up to 30 feet without being tied

off. The contractor must afford them the capability of

being tied off, but it is the ironworker’s choice to do so.

Any ironworker working above 30 feet must be tied off

100 percent of the time. Decking is another ironworking

task that has its own fall protection area. Anyone placing

decking may work in the Controlled Decking Zone

(CDZ) which has its own requirements under Subpart R.
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All other ironworkers performing a task that falls under

Subpart R can work at heights of up to 15 feet, from the deck

or the ground below, without being tied off. The OSHA Fall

Protection standard, Subpart M, no longer has jurisdiction

over Steel Erection.

This new standard also addresses the work practice of

Multiple Lifts or Christmas Treeing Iron. Under the new

standard, the practice of putting multiple pieces of structural

steel in the air at one time is allowed. The new standard

allows, under strict guidance, up to five pieces of iron to be

hung below the headache ball at one time, thus reducing the

crane from making unnecessary moves.

The new Subpart R Standard seems to have reduced the

number of fatalities that occur during steel erection. Prior to

the new standard, we averaged twenty-eight (28) fatalities a

year. The past five years—2000 though 2005—our fatalities

have been reduced to an average of twenty (20) per year.

Our best year to date was 2003, with fifteen (15) fatalities.

Even though the new Subpart R has its own fall protection

standard included, we are still having our membership fall at

an alarming rate. Last year alone, twelve (12) out of eighteen

(18) fatalities were due to falls. The average distance that

claimed an ironworker’s life was thirty-eight (38) feet, with

the greatest distance being sixty (60) feet. The average age

was forty-two (42) years, three (3) months, with the oldest

member being sixty-three (63) years old, and the youngest

being twenty-four (24) years young. These fall deaths are

inexcusable.

As of April 18, 2006, the Iron Worker’s have experienced

three (3) deaths, all due to falls. The fall distances were thir-

teen (13), twenty (20), and twenty-four (24) feet. The ages of

the members were thirty-two (32), fifty-one (51), and fifty-six

(56) years old. Two (2) were connectors, one (1) was laying

decking, and all took place in the United States.

Over the past 5 years, Canada has experienced, on aver-

age, two (2) deaths per year. Fall protection is their biggest

safety issue on job sites. The changes to our safety and health

regulations here in the U.S. will certainly affect our Canadian

locals. The problems our brothers and sisters to the north face

everyday are the same faced here in the United States. It is

important that we work together to solve these problems.

Another area that affects the safety and health of iron-

workers is the Mine Safety and Health Administration’s

(MSHA) requirement that any person working on mine

property be trained under 30 CFR Parts 46 and/or 48. The

compliance date for this training was October 2, 2000. Since

the new training regulation was put into place, the

Ironworkers National Training Fund has provided training to

approximately two hundred (200) instructors through the

University of San Diego Train-the-Trainer classes held each

summer. The instructors then return to their local unions and

provide the necessary “New Miner” training to the member-

ship. To date, the Iron Workers have trained over three thou-

sand, five hundred (3,500) members to work on mine sites

around the country. This has translated into over one million
(1,000,000) manhours worked each year on mine sites for

our members. There are mine facilities located in all 50 states

and in the provices of Canada. Since the Ironworkers

National Training Fund and MSHA have been working

together on training, we have learned anyone working at

sand, gravel, surface stone, surface clay, cement plants, etc.,

must be trained under this regulation also.

While the Iron Workers International has been working

closely with the Mine Safety and Health Administration for

over six (6) years, the Iron Workers and MSHA signed an

Alliance Agreement on July 18, 2004. This alliance has been

beneficial to both organizations. It allows both to use their

collective expertise and efforts to help foster a culture of pre-

vention and preparedness by sharing best practices and tech-

nical knowledge. The Alliance Committee also develops and

shares training and educational materials both organizations

can use freely. Both organizations attend each others confer-

ences and events, where we share information on worker

safety and health issues. We also use printed and electronic

media, including MSHA’s and Iron Workers unions’ websites

to provide additional information to our members.

In developing new safety standards for our trade, we

must not lose sight of the ever-present health hazards our

membership faces everyday on our worksites. Our iron-

worker men and women must be protected from lead poi-

soning, welding fumes, radiation, asbestos, solvents, chemi-

cals, and confined space entry hazards. More and more of

our older members are being diagnosed with Asbestos

Related Illness, Manganese Poisoning, and Beryllium

Poisoning, just to name a few. Health hazards silently wreak

a toll upon our worksites not noticeable until long after the

job is over and our members are retired. I cannot state

emphatically enough that nothing is more important

than a safe workplace. This is the reason why we, as an

International Union along with our local unions, are active

in labor-management safety committees, and with Federal,

State, and Provincial governments, to achieve realistic and

practical solutions to hazards at the workplace.

The Officers of the International Association, the

District Council Presidents, the Business

Managers/Agents, the Apprenticeship Coordinators and

Local Union Instructors, the National Training Fund,

the Ironworker Management Progressive Action

Cooperative Trust, the Contractor Associations, and

members of our local unions, should take pride in their

accomplishments, which have provided all working men

and women in the construction industry a safe working

atmosphere. Without the assistance of the above-men-

tioned organizations working as one, the safety and

health of all would be in peril.

I would also like to thank the National Association

of Reinforcing Steel Contractors, the NEA- the

Association of Union Contractors, the Specialized

Carriers and Riggers Association, and those contractors

who employ our members, for their assistance and con-

tinued cooperation in making our industry a safer

place to work.
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Shop Department
Executive Director Anthony Walencik is in charge of the

Shop Department.

During the past five years, we have encountered many

obstacles in matters affecting the Shop Department of our

Association.

One of the obstacles affecting the fabrication industry and

our shop local unions is the use of foreign fabricated steel. If

U.S. fabricators are allowed to be destroyed by the unfair

dumping of imported fabricated steel products, then we face a

future of being held hostage by foreign fabricators, upon

whom we as a country would have to rely to provide critical

infrastructure and national defense products. It is in our

national interest, for security and infrastructure reasons, for

Congress and the Administration to provide the domestic steel

fabrication industry with help against unfairly priced dumped

imports of fabricated steel products. In this global economy

our American fabricators can compete only if the playing field

is level. Regardless of the unfair competition, the

Administration and Congress are unsympathetic to any

appeals for relief, calling it “protectionist.”

Union busting, used by seventy-five percent of employers

facing a union organizing drive, is best described as a planned

course of action to stop workers from organizing a union or to

destroy a union already in the workplace. It is no coincidence

that as the union busting industry has grown, the rate of union

membership in our shop local unions has declined. A union

buster profiled in Fortune Magazine had defeated 32 of 35

union organizing drives for his clients. Union busters even go

so far as advertising their rates of success. One firm boasts a

money-back guarantee on its website: “If your organization

purchases a Guaranteed Winner Package and the union

becomes certified, the firm will refund the full cost of the pack-

age.” The onslaught of the “union free” environment has

invaded Canada and inroads have been made in some of the

provinces to eliminate the automatic card check recognition

process. It is only a matter of time for these union busters,

who are waiting in the wings, to take full advantage of any

opportunities which arise because of the weakening of the

provincial labor laws.

The Shop Department is constantly conducting and

coordinating aggressive organizing campaigns utilizing

our International Staff, subsidized local union organizers

and local union officers and members. An excellent

working relationship also exists between this Department

and the outside organizing department. The primary tar-

get is the non-union fabricator or manufacturer of the

material erected by the members of this Association. It

has been recognized for many years that we must organ-

ize the employees who fabricate or manufacture the

materials erected by members of our outside local unions.

Only in this way can our union successfully control the

work of its jurisdiction and eliminate the erection by non-

union employees. I am sure you have heard this state-

ment many times over the years, “So long as there are

non-union fabricators, such firms are, in reality,

potential non-union erectors.”

During the period I have been General President of our

union, I have stressed the importance, whenever possible, of

having our outside local unions assist with organizing the

non-union fabricators that have outside erection agreements

and also having the shop local unions assist with organizing

the non-union erectors that have shop agreements. Only

working together as one union can we not only safeguard our

jurisdiction, but also improve our standard of living for our

entire membership.

There is a high degree of competition in organizing the

fabrication and manufacturing industry, as there are other

labor organizations, such as affiliates of the AFL-CIO and

Change-To-Win Coalition along with independent unions, are

putting forth extensive efforts to organize the employees of

an industry which has no relation whatsoever to their basic

jurisdiction. This has often resulted in shops organized by

others that undermine our wages, fringes and working condi-

tions.

Despite the obstacles affecting the Shop Department and

the fabricating industry, we still have succeeded in establish-

ing improved working conditions for our shop local unions,

and we have forced the non-union elements of our trade to

likewise improve working conditions thereby making the

playing field somewhat more level. It is becoming more and

more apparent to the non-union work force that unionized

workers enjoy superior wages, fringe benefits, the ability to

be treated with dignity at the workplace and a safer work

environment.

The Shop Department is a key player in matters pertain-

ing to the Metal Trades Department of the AFL-CIO. With

the advent of organizing the Avondale Shipyard (Northrop

Grumman Ship Systems) in New Orleans, Louisiana and sign-

ing the first ever collective bargaining agreement which

became effective January 1, 2001, many doors opened to

organizing in the Gulf Coast area of this country. Working

together with the other affiliated unions of the Metal Trades

Department I envision a great deal of organizing taking place

at the many non-union shipyards, oil refineries, chemical

plants and government facilities throughout the area in the

near future with the organizing programs we now have in

place. I am also extremely proud of our efforts, working with

the Metal Trades Department, to block the Administration

from fully implementing the N.S.P.S. (National Security

Personnel System) which is nothing more than an attack on

the union rights of our members who are employed at gov-

ernment facilities throughout this country.

In spite of the obstacles confronting the Shop Department

since our last convention, it gives me a great deal of satisfac-

tion to report the following activities and achievements on

behalf of our membership in shop local unions.

Organizing
A recent poll by Peter D. Hart Research Associates

shows that 57 million workers who currently do not

belong to a union would join one tomorrow if they
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could. We as a union have some great “selling points”

to convince them to join: Union members earn higher

wages than non-union workers, and that goes for women

and minorities. Their fringe benefits are greater, they

have better protection on the job and are treated with

dignity at the workplace. Then, why is it so difficult to

organize?

There has been an unprecedented level of corporate

greed and “race to the bottom” competitive strategies dur-

ing the past five years. Political strategies to further weak-

en labor laws and unions through attacks on overtime and

safety/health regulations, privatization and outsourcing jobs

and denying others collective bargaining rights has denied

many workers the basic human right to be a union member.

When employees attempt to organize in the work-

place they immediately encounter the employers’ “reign

of terror” which includes:

• Employees being fired because of their interest in

the union.

• Captive audience meetings.

• Coercive one-on-one interviews.

• Threats of plant closing.

• Unrebutted use of fear, threat, innuendo, etc.

Despite the fact that these actions are illegal under

the National Labor Relations Act, the consequences for

such violations are almost nil.

What needs to be done is legislation, such as the

“Employee Free Choice Act,” which as of May 2006 has

43 co-sponsors in the Senate and 216 in the U.S. House.

This legislation would:

• Allow card check recognition to serve as the

method by which workers certified their desire to

be represented by a union, rather then the current

time consuming and broken National Labor

Relations Board election process.

• Require first contract mediation and arbitration if

no agreement on a first contract has been reached

within 90 days of the start of bargaining.

• Ensure employee free choice of union representa-

tion by providing effective remedies, including

injunctive relief and monetary penalties, against

employer coercion.

I urge every delegate at this convention to commit

themselves to “Organizing the Unorganized” and to con-

vey this message to the membership of our local unions.

The following is a summation of the efforts we have made

with respect to organizing campaigns during the last five

years: organizing campaigns during this period have been

conducted among employees of 96 companies of which

62 were organized. This gives us a success rate of sixty-

five (65%) percent.

Organizing new workers is tougher than ever because

employers take advantage of our weak labor laws. Our

representatives spend many long hours and have a

great deal of patience, which is reflected in the fact that

during the previous five years the representatives

assigned to the Shop Department of our Association

made 1,253 visits to unorganized shops—contacted

12,045 unorganized workers—and attended 298 organiz-

ing meetings. In addition, they attended 11,807 organi-

zational meetings and assisted local unions in connection

with N.L.R.B. hearings and other matters affecting shop

local unions, including grievances, arbitrations, negotia-

tions, etc.

Generally there is about a 20% turnover in our shop

membership due to deaths, layoffs and retirements.

However as I pointed out earlier in this report, the

imports of foreign steel and fabricated steel products

along with the extremely unfriendly organizing climate

have severely affected the shop membership.

As of June 30, 2001, the total membership of all of our

shop local unions was 20,231 this compares with the latest

statistics which show our shop membership to be 15,871.

This represents a decrease of 4,360 members since our last

convention which compares to a decrease of 1,116 mem-

bers between June 30, 1996 and June 30, 2001. The

decrease occurred in spite of the fact that approximately

10,742 new members were initiated during the period of

June 30, 2001 through June 30, 2006. However, consider-

ing all of the circumstances involved, it is most fortunate

that we have not suffered more severely.

Our shop local unions must become more politically

involved so that passage of labor friendly legislation is a

reality and only then do I believe our shop membership

will significantly increase.

Initial Organizing Contract Fund
Originally established by resolution at the 37th

International Convention in 1986 the Initial Organizing

Contract Fund, which requires the payment of two ($2.00)

dollars per member per month by each shop and navy

yard rigger member, except retirees, was designed to help

local unions defray the costs associated with organizing

such as research, educational materials, legal costs, etc.

Since the last convention we granted 88 requests for

financial assistance which were granted from the Fund,

amounting to $1,082,281.05. Out of this amount $135,485

was returned to the Fund for future use showing

$946,795.58 as actual financial assistance or $10,759.04

average per request. This compares to 155 requests

amounting to $975.879.83 with $69,903.48 being returned

for a total of $905,976.35 or an average of $5,845.87 per

request during the five-year period between the 1996

Convention and the 2001 Convention.

Negotiations
Since our last convention, 623 collective bargaining

agreements were negotiated, averaging 125 per year.

Representatives of this International Association assisted

our shop locals in a majority of these negotiations due to
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the fact that they do not have full-time paid officers. In

many instances it requires a great deal of time to negoti-

ate an agreement, especially if it is an initial one, and the

time spent by our representatives in such instances inter-

feres with their primary objective which is to organize the

unorganized worker. I am confident the “District

Council & Local Union Evaluation Committee” that I

established will continue to make recommendations

regarding the merger of smaller shop local unions into

larger shop local unions and possibly outside locals, so

that they will have the resources to have full-time officers

conduct negotiations and other day-to-day operations of

the local unions. This would enable our representatives

to devote a greater amount of time to organizing.

We take a great deal of pride in the high standards of

our shop local union agreements which have been con-

summated with our employers. We do not believe any

other organization representing employees in the fabri-

cating industry provides the extent of protection and the

conditions of employment that are contained in our shop

agreements. We currently have to fight vigorously to

maintain the high standards of our shop agreements, and

although it is a difficult problem, we must win.

Economic Benefits
Since our last convention, combined hourly increase

negotiated by our shop local unions amounts to an average

increase of $3.99 per hour or an average of 80 cents per

hour per year. The average total amount for fringes was

$1.56 for the period for a grand total of $5.55 per hour or an

average of $1.11 per year. The weighted average increase

in earnings of shop members, based on straight-time hours

worked per year (2,080 hours) was $8,320.00 for the period

since our last convention. The analysis of wage increases is

not to be construed to mean the entire membership of our

shop local unions equally received a wage increase of 80

cents per hour in each of the last five (5) years. Some

received considerably more, and some less. The negotia-

tions of each local union, to a considerable extent, are con-

tingent upon the conditions prevailing in the geographical

area in which the local union is located.

It is our informed opinion that the average hourly rates

of shop local unions and the net pay of shop members

exceeds the compensation of fabricating plant employees

represented by other labor organizations and they certain-

ly exceed the earnings of those employees who are not rep-

resented by any labor organization.

It is important to be aware that as long as there are

employers performing work in our industry who are paying

substantially lower rates than our members receive, such

employers are in a position to underbid our signatory

employers. As long as such conditions exist, we can not sit

back and do nothing; we must organize such employers,

and thereby place our signatory employers in a better

competitive situation. Organizing is not only the respon-

sibility of the International Association, but it is also the

responsibility of our local unions and each member of this

International Association. In addition to the unfair com-

petition the non-union employer represents, the non-union

employer threatens our jobs and also has an adverse impact

on the ability of our shop local unions to negotiate for bet-

ter wages, fringes and working conditions.

Fringe Benefits
Our shop members are covered by many types of fringe

benefits, most notably health and welfare programs and

pension plans. During the past five (5) years health and

welfare costs have skyrocketed and today almost all of our

shop members pay a portion of the costs associated with

these plans. Whatever wage increases are negotiated, they

are almost certainly eaten away by having to pay higher

contributions to the health plans. For the past two (2)

years the Shop Department has been working to establish a

National Shop Health Care Plan, through IMPACT

(Ironworker-Management Progressive Action Cooperative

Trust) and effective June 1, 2006 an agreement to establish

an alliance between a broker and IMPACT was signed cre-

ating this new plan. The plan is a specifically-developed

health benefit program designed to provide cost-effective

coverage for union-represented employees, retirees and

their families as well as employers and their office staff.

The plan will have a two (2) year rate guarantee at a cost of

$3.11 per hour based on 2080 hours worked in a year. I will

say the plan is not a “Cadillac Plan” but it does provide basic

coverage which is important to our members and their fam-

ilies. Shop local unions will have to participate in IMPACT

to be able to utilize this plan. Employers and their staff will

be able to be covered under the plan.

Pension plans are another important fringe benefit and

I am proud to say that a substantial majority of our shop

members are covered by some type of a pension plan.

With respect to paid holidays, the average is 10 days, paid

vacation averages at 27.6 days. There are other fringe ben-

efits such as sick leave pay, severance pay, bereavement

pay, bonus and incentive programs, dental plans, prescrip-

tion drug programs, etc. which are enjoyed by many of our

shop members.

National Shopmen Pension Fund
The National Shopmen Pension Fund Trust was estab-

lished because many of our members employed by small fab-

ricating plants were unable to separately negotiate pension

coverage. At the time, there was no way for small numbers of

employees in a unit or several small units to establish and sus-

tain an actuarially sound plan, let alone be given credit for

years of service without the establishment of a large pension

trust fund. Recognizing this fact, the International Association

together with several employers entered into an Agreement

and Declaration of Trust in March 1969 and established the

National Shopmen Pension Fund. The Board of Trustees,

composed of an equal number of union and employer trustees,

was selected to administer the new trust. With the establish-
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ment of the National Shopmen Pension Fund, and the devel-

opment of a pension plan, the interests of both the union and

its signatory employers were served.

It should be noted that the National Shopmen Pension Plan is

a defined benefit plan and not a defined contribution plan.

Accordingly, the National Shopmen Pension Plan is the basic or

supplemental pension plan providing a pension benefit floor at

retirement age together with Social Security. The plan is portable

in that it allows the shop ironworker to move from one contribut-

ing employer to another while continuing to earn additional pen-

sion credit under the plan. In addition, it still provides a vehicle

for granting credit for past service, up to five (5) years for vesting

purposes, while continuing to earn additional credits. Although

the initial purpose for establishing a pooled pension fund was to

service the smaller shop local union, it is noteworthy that some of

the large shop local union are now participating in the pension

plan, either through mergers, or by negotiating out of their exist-

ing employer sponsored plans, or by negotiating supplemental

benefits.

As the National Shopmen Pension Fund has grown in size

and strength, so too has the plan’s coverage, so much so that it has

exceeded the purchasing power of the large shop local union pen-

sion plans. For example, the National Shopmen Pension Plan

provides for benefits for up to 40 years of service while providing

an unreduced benefit payable at age 60, with only 25 years of

service. Five (5) years ago the plan only provided up to 35 years

of service and an unreduced benefit at age 62 with a minimum of

25 years of service. The pension plan now provides a benefit

accrual for each year worked in covered employment. The

amount of monthly benefit a participant earns is based on the

contribution rate in effect on January 1st of each calendar year

times $0.32 per one cent of contribution per pension credit

earned. At a contribution rate of $1.50/hour, the accrual rate

equals $48.00 per years of service. At a contribution rate of $2.00

per hour the accrual rate per year of service is equal to $64.00.

The maximum accrual is based on the highest 40 calendar years.

More importantly, the National Shopmen Pension Fund has

continued to grow, albeit conservatively. By the most conserva-

tive measure, the actuarial value of assets represents 87.5% of the

actuarial current liability and because of its size, there are signifi-

cant economies of scale. Currently there are 148 participating

employers,37 affiliated shop local union and approximately 4,300

active covered participants, 4,600 inactive vested participants and

5,300 pensioners and beneficiaries receiving benefits.

It is with great satisfaction that I can report to this convention

the National Shopmen Pension Fund has successfully met this

International’s expectations by providing pension coverage for

the membership of our affiliated shop local union. Furthermore,

I am pleased to report the National Shopmen Pension Fund can

also provide benefits at a ratio of benefits-to-contributions that

are attractive to both our small and large shop local union.

Canadian National Shopmen Pension Fund
The Canadian National Shopmen Pension Fund was estab-

lished because there was a need for a national pension fund in

Canada. Therefore, effective July 1, 1995, the Canadian

National Shopmen Pension Fund was established as an inde-

pendent pension fund for the Canadian shop members.

Beginning with an initial participation of 17 employers, most of

whom were in British Columbia, the Fund has grown to include

42 employers in British Columbia, Saskatchewan and Ontario.

Moreover, the participation in the Pension Fund now includes

members from Shop Local Unions 712, 834 and 838.

Now with 42 employers participating, the number of par-

ticipants has grown to more than 1,400 active employees. In

1995 the average contribution rate was $0.64 per hour

(Canadian) with each one cent purchasing approximately

$5.00 in monthly benefits. As of 2001 the average contribu-

tion rate has increased to $0.95 per hour (Canadian) with the

new benefit structure paying 1% of accumulated contributions

in monthly benefits. This represents a substantial achieve-

ment since the Canadian laws governing the pension plan have

required that the plan’s coverage and vesting requirements be

broadened while raising the bar on plan funding.

Of course the measure of any plan is its funding and the

benefits paid. As of 2005 there were 165 pensioners and ben-

eficiaries on the pension rolls. The aggregate monthly bene-

fits being paid in 2005 amount to slightly more than $48,000

(Canadian) or more than $585,600 (Canadian) on an annual

basis. Against the liability for pensioners, beneficiaries and

active employees there were accumulated assets in excess of

$15,848,000 and a solvency ration of 69% at the latest valua-

tion as of December 31, 2003.

Shop ironworkers from British Columbia, Saskatchewan

and Ontario are the present participants in the pension plan,

but the plan is designed to allow for participation by members

from all Provinces. It is anticipated that the Canadian

National Shopmen Pension Fund will continue to be accepted

by new shop ironworker employers and that the contributions

to the pension fund will continue to increase.

Shop Department Conclusion
In summation, this part of my report reflects that

overall, despite many obstacles, progress has been made

with respect to improving terms and conditions of our

collective bargaining agreements. Organizing has been

performed under an extremely hostile climate, making

it obvious we must continue with organizing programs

we have established and explore new methods to organ-

ize the unorganized. In so doing, we will increase mem-

bership and market share thereby protecting the jobs of

our members employed by our signatory employers

faced with unfair competition. In addition we must not

surrender our efforts to keep foreign imports of fabri-

cated steel and fabricated steel products from destroy-

ing the industry.

We must not, nor will we allow the accomplish-

ments of the past 70 years to be obliterated by today’s

anti-labor political philosophy which permeates our

governmental structure. I have every confidence that

we will succeed in our efforts.
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Jurisdiction and Maintenance

Agreements
On February 25, 2003, the United Brotherhood of

Carpenters abrogated both the June 3, 1953 and June 5,

1957 national agreements regarding conveyors,

between our crafts. Again, on April 25, 2005, the UBC

abrogated all existing agreements between the carpen-

ters and ironworkers. I believe in the best interests of

both the Iron Workers and the United Brotherhood of

Carpenters the correct action to take would have been

to collectively resolve our differences in committees.

However, as a result of the abrogation of these agree-

ments, there was a sharp rise in jurisdictional disputes

involving conveyors in the automotive industry. At the

request of the Big Three Automobile Manufacturers a

nationwide conveyor manning agreement was consum-

mated. On November 1, 2005 I signed what is referred

to as the “Big Three Automotive Manning Agreement.”

This agreement applies to the automotive industry

throughout the United States and will preserve work

for our members into the future. As in the past with

any new agreement, it will take time to identify lan-

guage issues that affect one trade or the other. These

and any other points in the agreement that need

addressing will be handled in committee.

Big Three Conveyor Manning Agreement
This manning agreement between the UBC Millwrights

and the Iron Workers International Union applies to con-

veyor work at all General Motors-Ford-Daimler Chrysler

facilities. This agreement will apply only in the continental

United States. It is the intent of both the Iron Workers and

Millwrights Union to establish an agreement that will define

a working arrangement conducive to effective work per-

formance. All sub-contractors employed by the main con-

veyor contractor will be required to sign a letter of assent

binding them to this agreement. The letters of assent will be

submitted with the bid as a required condition of award.

The scope of work covered by this agreement shall be as

listed below and can be expanded with a memorandum

executed by both the Iron Workers and Millwrights Union.

1) The unloading, distribution, field fabrication, erection,

assembly and dismantling of all conveyor work opera-

tions.

2) Bumper posts and guardrail for conveyor protection

and miscellaneous steel with the sole purpose of

conveyor support or that is an integral part of the

conveyor system.

3) All tool rails and under slung bridge cranes.

Excluded work is as follows:

1) Structural steel, machinery and bumper posts and

guardrail not related to conveyor work.

2) All independent platforms, mezzanines and the erec-

tion or the reinforcing of all support steel that is an

integral part of the building structure such as a floor

or roof system with trusses or beams bridging build-

ing support columns is the work of the Ironworker.

3) Machinery work not related to conveyors.

The following manning numbers will be strictly adhered

to during the hiring and layoff procedures. All general fore-

men, foremen, journeymen and apprentices are included in

the manning numbers with crews being mixed at all times.The

employer will name their choice of first foreman with second

being from the other trade. When the manning numbers are

incorrect due to an employee quitting or being terminated,

the proper numbers will be restored at the next hiring. The

stewards for each craft will be supplied weekly with an up-to-

date personnel list to guarantee compliance and prevent any

disagreements. Non-working superintendents are not includ-

ed in the manning numbers.

This agreement is effective November 1, 2005, and will

supercede any previous agreements between the

International Unions or their affiliates. This agreement is

applicable to the automobile industry. The signing parties

agree to meet every three years to review and amend this

agreement as required to validate it as an effective tool to

assist the automotive industries’ owners.

Evidence Files
Since our last convention the Jurisdictional Department has

placed an emphasis on rebuilding our evidence files as well as

local union and district council evidence files with current letters

of evidence. The large majority of our evidence was acquired in

the 1960s and 1970s and the majority of decisions where no

agreements apply are rendered according to area practice. I

mentioned earlier in this report of trades withdrawing from the

National Building Trades. It is very important that our evidence

files be up-to-date and cover all the work our members per-

form.The evidence we present at pre-job and mark-up meetings

will have an impact on which trade gets an assignment.We send

out hundreds of packets each year containing letters of evi-

dence, dispute decisions, agreements and assignments from past

pre-job and mark-up meetings. This year we began e-mailing

packets to our locals to speed the process and to deliver docu-

ments in better condition to print.

Highlights of Jurisdictional Operations
Executive Director Bill Tweet is in charge of the

Jurisdiction Department. Since the last Convention in

2001, the Jurisdiction Department of this International

Association has been involved in 710 disputes where we

have 710 assigned an International Representative to

meet and adjust. The breakdown of disputes with other

crafts is as follows:
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Jurisdictional Disputes Summary 2001 – 2005 

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005

Boilermakers 25 29 18 33 39

Bricklayers 9 6 2 6 3

Carpenters 35 46 41 39 28

Electricians 11 13 4 7 7

Elevator Constructors 0 0 0 0 1

Laborers 9 15 9 18 9

Operating Engineers 4 2 1 2 0

Painters 4 2 7 8 3

Sheet Metal Workers 21 36 9 21 18

Teamsters 11 1 0 0 0

United Association 22 32 15 15 21

Roofers 1 0 0 0 0
Cement Masons/
Plasterers 1 0 0 0 0

Total: 143 182 106 150 129

This does not include disputes resolved directly

between our Jurisdictional Department and that of

another organization, either by telephone conversation

or personal meetings. The protection of our trade juris-

diction is vital to the earning opportunity of our mem-

bership; therefore, it is our intention to continue to seek

the solution of all jurisdictional disputes directly with the

trade and/or contractor involved and to continue to

maintain a positive, aggressive, and constructive

approach in seeking to resolve and/or prevent jurisdic-

tional disputes. Our approach will be in full recognition

that disputes and jobsite disruptions are costly to our

membership and damaging to our industry in that they

aid and abet the non-union contractors. Disputes settled

at the local level, and/or the district council level have

been improving over the past twenty-five years. At the

1981 Convention it was reported then that the prior five

years had 9,076 jurisdictional disputes and the message

then has not changed; we must continue to build rela-

tionships with other crafts and work out our differences,

while at the same time protecting our traditional jurisdic-

tion. The number of disputes reported on at each of the

past five conventions has been decreasing as shown here;

1986 (3,800) 1991 (2,356) 1996 (1,602) 2001(851). While

the trend is on the right track it will require a continued

commitment at each level of our union to resolve our

jurisdictional disputes in the most equitable manner.

Our primary goal is to settle jurisdictional disputes

directly with other trades. With that in mind, I have

appointed committees to meet with other trades in an

attempt to resolve our differences and look to the future

for ways we can better work together. We have joint

committees currently with the Boilermakers, Laborers,

Operating Engineers and Millwrights/Carpenters.

Although the Laborers, Carpenters, Teamsters and

Operating Engineers have withdrawn from the Building

Trades, it is imperative to keep dialogue open between

ourselves and these construction trade unions.

NCEFR
In 1972 the first pure Ironworkers Employer

Maintenance Agreement was developed.

Our International Association and the National Council

of Erectors, Fabricators and Riggers Association (NCEFR)

realized an “Ironworkers” Maintenance Agreement was def-

initely needed; an agreement for contractors who primarily

employed our union members on buildings, bridges, plants,

tunnels, decking, replacement, demolition, and all related

work assigned by the contractor to “ironworkers.”

Originally the NCEFR National Agreement was identi-

fied as the National Association of Miscellaneous

Ornamental Architectural Agreement (NAMOA). In order

to keep current, it was amended in February of 1979, in July

of 1985, and in September of 2000. It was renamed the

NCEFR Maintenance Agreement. Fred H. Codding is

President of the NCEFR. Fred Codding’s untiring efforts

and dedication as our contact person have made this venture

a huge success. On behalf of the Iron Workers, I would like

to express my sincere appreciation to Fred and the National

Council of Erectors, Fabricators and Riggers.

At first some building trades expressed concern over

whether this Ironworker Maintenance Agreement was a verti-

cal agreement and, therefore, prohibited by the Building and

Construction Trades Department. We have allayed their fears

and proven them wrong. The Ironworkers NCEFR

Maintenance Agreement is a living document utilized by

union contractors who primarily employ ironworkers. It is

used where the preponderance of the work is considered to be

the work of the ironworkers. Many times the agreement is uti-

lized where a job is in jeopardy of going non-union. With this

agreement our members have performed the work and we

have been able to beat out the non-union. We have been able

to compete in all major industrial plants where non-union con-

tractors try to eliminate union competition. Our fair contrac-

tors have gone head to head utilizing the terms of the NCEFR

with some of the most notorious large non-union bridge repair

maintenance contractors and we have faired exceedingly well.

We have a document that is flexible and gives union contrac-

tors a level playing field to compete against open shop compa-

nies. We are proud of the fact we have a membership of high-

ly skilled and trained workers that can compete and beat the

best non-union workers in the world.

Unlike other vertical agreements, the NCEFR agreement

has language that allows our contractors to hire other build-

ing trade crafts when needed to perform specialized work.

We recognize today, as in the past, the Iron Workers can not

allow the work habits and nonproductive ways practiced by

others to interfere with our goal of providing jobs we’re

skilled at. The NCEFR Maintenance program continues to

be an accomplishment we can be proud of and I feel it is an

obligation each and every one of us has to expand its use.

The NCEFR provides for contributions to the National
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Ironworkers and Employers Apprenticeship Training and

Journeyman Upgrading Fund. It features four (4), ten (10)

hour shift operations with a make-up day, a five (5) day, eight

(8) hour work week with a make-up day on Saturday. As I

have stated in the past, our International has changed with the

times in order to provide work opportunities for our mem-

bers. We put a make-up day in the agreement because of the

high cost of living today. These make-up days allow our mem-

bers to bring home more pay each week to provide for their

families. In addition, make-up days provide an opportunity

for our union contractors to utilize expensive construction

equipment and machinery that may otherwise remain idle.

All too often, idle equipment has bankrupted small fair union

contractors. We have a moral obligation, not only to our

members, but also to all fair contractors in business, to provide

a place for our ironworkers to work. We must keep our mem-

bers working so they can bring home a weekly paycheck, pro-

vide fringe benefits for their families, and hopefully, accrue

enough money for a decent pension. Our work is never done,

but with our union contractors, and our members all working

together, we can and will attain our goals.

NMA
The National Maintenance Agreement was written and

consummated between the NEA and the Iron Workers

committee in 1971 and by 1974 had eleven building trade

crafts on board.At every convention since then, the General

President’s reports have been consistent in reporting the

overwhelming success of this agreement. There has never

been a maintenance agreement that has lasted as long as the

NMA or delivered the number of manhours to our members.

The latest numbers show the Iron Workers have worked a

total of 216 million hours using this agreement.

Since our convention in 1996 the NMAPC has been dis-

cussing ways to market its qualities to owner/users, contrac-

tors and building trade representatives. For the past year the

NMAPC Marketing Committee has actively pursued mar-

keting techniques we all hope prove to be successful. The

NMA’s website, nmapc.org, has links to its new marketing

campaign. Included are streaming video mini programs that

allow a visitor to click on a subject of particular interest and

learn how the NMA can be of help. The NMAPC has quar-

terly articles in construction user magazines and is doing tar-

geted, direct mailings to potential users, one page flyers pro-

moting the use of the NMA. The NMA continues to be one

of the tools available for us to use to keep our feet in the

shrinking manufacturing industries. Foreign automobiles and

the exporting of manufacturing industries and their related

jobs, results in fewer opportunities available for members to

perform plant maintenance work. The purpose of the NMA’s

marketing program is an effort to open doors where we haven’t

been and give us an opportunity to showcase the skills we’ve

developed and our ability to get the job done on time and on

budget.

I solicit each and every one of you to assist in the effort to

open those doors and take advantage of the potential jobs

available to our members in the industrial plants that exist in

every city where we have a local union.

Ironworkers perform over 5 million work hours under the

terms of the NMA annually. That represents 12% of all

NMA hours worked. The NMA’s success to grow into new

markets relates to additional hours performed by ironwork-

ers in areas unrelated to work under other agreements.

Executive Director Bill Tweet is our representative on the

National Maintenance Policy Committee that meets month-

ly with 14 other building and construction trade unions and

quarterly with an equal number of management representa-

tives. Executive Director Bill Tweet also serves on numerous

committees representing labor at the NMAPC and was

appointed to the Board of Directors this past year. The NMA

has participation by all 14 trades and provides us with a griev-

ance procedure as well as a jurisdictional dispute process.

The grievance procedure has changed since our last conven-

tion in that grievances are heard by a Grievance Committee

monthly rather than waiting for a quarterly meeting before

the whole board. The dispute resolution process is

unchanged, but, it is important to note that all trades involved

in the NMA are subject to the process.

Prior to commencement of major maintenance projects,

the Work Scope Determination Committee meetings are

convened. Drawings, schematics, evidence, etc. are reviewed

and decisions are reached.We have to keep in mind that the

cost saving feature of the agreement is an inducement for the

owners to rebuild, using union building tradesmen. Over the

past few years this committee is seeing a trend of local build-

ing trades requesting the use of the NMA on new industrial

construction projects. Although originally designed for main-

tenance work, it is becoming popular with building trades

familiar with this agreement to want to expand its use, rather

than negotiate a PLA.The NMAPC will grant its use but does

not solicit its use in new construction.

The Iron Workers were responsible for the formation of

the NMA in 1971 and we look forward to working closely with

the NMA in the future. The NMA is administered by an

Impartial Secretary Noel C. Borck, and with the assistance of

Senior Vice President Steve Lindauer and Vice President of

Industrial Relations Kevin Hilton, the NMA will continue to

evolve as an agreement that works well for labor, management

and owner/users. I feel strongly we are on the right track with

this agreement and will continue to assist the NMAPC in

delivering opportunities for our members.

Jurisdiction has been the Achilles tendon of building trades

unions since our very beginning. All fifteen trades have an

identity and historical work practices that define what each

considers their jurisdiction. Disputes over jurisdiction have

cost all of us signatory contractors and jobs.

We are entering a time where all indications show a lack of

skilled construction workers to man the work ahead. I’m con-

tinually being solicited by construction user organizations if

we will be able to man our work and if so, will we be able to

assist other trades with similar skills in manning their work?

To me, the message is clear; if we are unable to man our juris-
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dictionally defined work, some other trade will. We must man

our work, and we must have skilled members available to give

our fair contractors confidence to continue bidding and pro-

tecting our jurisdiction. The unions that succeed in providing

the best skilled help will not only prosper, but win in the con-

tinuing battle over jurisdiction.

Department Of Ornamental,
Architectural & Miscellaneous
Metals (DOAMM)

Since our last convention, many great things have hap-

pened in the ornamental, architectural and miscellaneous met-

als fields. The Department of Ornamental, Architectural and

Miscellaneous Metals has continued to procure more and

more employment for the members of this Association.

DOAMM is constantly making strides to build stronger rela-

tionships with new, as well as old, curtain wall, detention, fence

and specialty contractors.

These contractors need to be competitive with other trades

as well as non-union contractors. Therefore, it is imperative

that we keep our members trained in every facet of our ever-

changing industry.

DOAMM works hand in hand with IMPACT and  the

National Fund on curriculum development, training and all other

matters relative to ornamental work. They have assisted over 30

of our locals in securing hands on training mock-ups complete

with drawings and all component parts. They have also played

key roles in new curriculum development in detention work and

continue to refresh the existing ornamental manuals.

This will enable our membership to receive the proper

training to meet the needs of this portion of our industry.

When they were established in February of 1992, there

were approximately three curtain wall, detention, fence, and

specialty contractors with International Agreements. As of

today, there are 17 and counting. DOAMM not only services

the International curtain wall, detention, fence and specialty

contractors, but also the local and regional contractors. The

future brings new technology changes and this department has

kept our locals informed of these changes so that we can con-

tinue to capture manhours for our members.

In February 2003, Executive Director Roy Williams retired

after a long and distinguished career. Brother Williams’

accomplishments are too many to list, however I feel it impor-

tant to mention that he retired never losing a jurisdictional

arbitration that he was assigned.

DOAMM has worked with the III and IMPACT attending

various trade shows geared towards architectural and orna-

mental ironwork. These shows include Fencetech, National

Glass Association, Glass Association of North America,

American Jail Association and American Welding Society.

These trade shows provide an opportunity to meet suppliers,

contractors and members of our Association who are often in

attendance. It has also generated several new signatory con-

tractors, as well as solidified existing relationships.

They also work in conjunction with the Jurisdictional

Department and presented three arbitration cases where we

received favorable decisions on two of the three for architectur-

al and ornamental ironwork. They also assist locals regarding

any ornamental jurisdictional questions that might arise.

Since the inception of DOAMM, they have been directly

involved in over $1 billion in curtain wall work and in most

cases, had they not been involved, we would not have received

the assignments. Since our last convention they have held 49

pre-job conferences resulting in thousands of manhours for

our members.

If anyone of our affiliates is ever in need of assistance with

curtain wall, detention work, fence or specialty work, please do

not hesitate to contact General Organizer Eric Dean at (630)

238-1003 or doamm@sbcglobal.net.

Ironworkers Political Action League
The start of the new century presents a multitude of

political challenges for the Iron Workers as it must cope

with a dynamic global economy and a generally hostile,

anti-union environment at the highest levels of the feder-

al government.

Throughout the 1990s the United States was trans-

formed by global integration that ultimately produced an

historic expansion of wealth and opportunity. However,

the “brave new world” of high-technology and informa-

tion also created an awkward economic contradiction.

While globalization has generated enormous wealth, rev-

olutionized industry and manufacturing, solved innumer-

able problems, and altered the exchange of information, its

darker side has been particularly harsh to workers who have

experienced declining hourly wages, scaled back benefits,

the explosive growth of temporary workers or independent

contractors, and the movement of production jobs from the

U.S. to low-wage countries overseas.

Even though ironworkers have benefited from a robust

construction industry and experienced relatively prosper-

ous times over the last ten years, the coming decade prom-

ises to alter the livelihoods of working men and women as

the so-called “social democratic bargain” is attacked and

possibly dismantled completely by a conservative federal

government.

The framework of the post-World War II economy was

a marriage between market economics and protecting the

welfare of workers and middle-class America. While major

economic decisions remained in private hands, the U.S. gov-

ernment used its considerable clout to take the hard edges

off economic downturns and recessions, permitting a per-

son to both endure hard times and hasten a return to pros-

perity. Labor laws guaranteed workers the right to organ-

ize, collective bargaining, and prevailing wages on federal

construction projects, thus generating benefit packages,

pension plans and safer working conditions.

It proved to be a solid deal. The marketplace continued

to provide the goods while the U.S. government carefully

regulated the flux and flow of the economy. But by the

1970’s, the bargain began to slowly unravel. As the country
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became further removed from the Great Depression, its

economic and social policies were no longer reflecting the

experiences and lessons of capitalism’s extreme unpre-

dictabilities. The collective understanding was that

Americans were prepared to accept the inherent risks of

capitalism as long as they were provided with a basic level

of security. The accelerated pace of globalism and the

growing acceptance of conservative politics has gradually

made that security tenuous.

The American labor movement has suffered immensely

from the breakdown of this pact. Over the last two

decades, union membership has declined from thirty-five

million members to fifteen million. Despite sporadic victo-

ries here and there, it struggles to play a significant role in

an economy that has no regard for the consequences it

unleashes on working men and women. Resistance from

workers has only resulted in corporations and companies

relocating plants and facilities to low-wage sections of the

country and when that is no longer satisfactory they move

to low-wage sections of the globe. Those who control capi-

tal have successfully waged a carefully orchestrated cam-

paign against workers for twenty years. Through the relo-

cation of production, accelerated trade, and capital mobi-

lization, they have diluted the countervailing strength of

organized labor. However, much of its success is also a

result of deliberate U.S. policymaking.

Many trade pacts that have unfairly punished American

workers are the product of both Republican, and unfortu-

nately, even a sizeable number of Democratic lawmakers.

Most subscribe to former Speaker of the House Newt

Gingrich’s description: “The price of labor is set in South

China, because that is the largest center of workforce on the

planet. So if you want to live seven times as well as some-

body in South China, you’re going to have to be seven times

as productive.” The policy and message is unmistakable: In

the new world economy, every worker is on their own.

The Bush administration promises to perpetuate this

brand of free trade economics as we start the new millen-

nium and while the exploitation of the global workforce

will continue, a new front of the war against organized

workers is already underway here at home on seventy

years of labor law.

The outcome of the 1994 elections was a political

dividing point for the Iron Workers and the American

labor movement. The Republican Party took control of

both chambers in the U.S. Congress for the first time in

forty years. Moreover, its leadership announced its inten-

tion to pursue an aggressively anti-union agenda.

The opening salvo was aimed right at the Iron

Workers and the building trades in early 1995; a full-

fledged attempt to repeal the Davis-Bacon prevailing

wage law. Even though a coalition of Democrats and

moderate Republicans thwarted this legislation, it hasn’t

stopped our political enemies from pushing forward.

Over the last five-years they have simply shifted strate-

gies. First it was piecemeal repeal and then a deliberate

effort to mislead public debate by arguing that the build-

ing trades are trying to “expand” Davis-Bacon on inno-

vative financing of federal construction contracts. While

none of this has succeeded yet, President Bush was open-

ly supportive of Davis-Bacon repeal during his campaign

which means this fight will continue in a variety of forms.

The attacks did not stop at Davis-Bacon. There was

compensatory time legislation that threatens overtime

pay after a forty-hour workweek; the TEAM Act, a bill

that would allow employers to sponsor worker-manager

partnerships tantamount to old fashion “company

unions” outlawed ever since the enactment of the Wagner

Act in 1935; the FAIR Act, aimed at prohibiting the

organizing practice of “salting”; efforts to expand the use

of independent contractors or contingent workers in the

construction industry; weakening of health and safety

standards in the workplace; and, efforts to ban the uti-

lization of project labor agreement (PLA) on federal con-

struction. This just touches on the most damaging and

noteworthy anti-union items promoted by the congres-

sional Republican leadership. The good news is that none

of these bills, amendments or provisions was adopted into

law. The bad news is that this is about to change in the

aftermath of the 2000 and 2004 elections.

The political presence of organized labor has risen

dramatically since 1996. As part of a new aggressive

voter education effort among union families, twenty-

three percent of all voters came from a union household

in both 1996 and 1998. That number was increased to

twenty-six percent in the 2000 and 2004 general elections.

By all accounts, Al Gore and John Kerry would have

never been competitive, particularly in the key battle-

ground states, without the huge effort of organized labor.

The response from our members was nothing less than

astonishing. Nationally, 26% of all ironworkers either

registered for the first time or updated their registration

for this election. 88% of ironworkers voted. 25% of our

registered members participated in election-related activ-

ities (rallies, neighborhood walks, volunteering for a cam-

paign, working for the AFL-CIO’s LABOR 2004 pro-

gram) and many other activities

However, this newly discovered political strength also

has its vulnerabilities. With Democrats out of power on

Capitol Hill and in the White House, the Iron Workers

and all of labor now confront an avowedly hostile admin-

istration. Unlike his predecessor, President Bush has

openly declared his intent to sign the anti-union agenda

of the congressional Republican leadership. A political

publication accurately noted: “The Bush administration

may be more hostile to labor than any administration in

postwar U.S. history–including Ronald Reagan’s. But the

Reagan administration wore its hostility on its sleeve.

The Bush’s by contrast, are hiding their struggle against

labor behind relentless smiles.”

On February 17, 2001, even before the U.S. Congress

could attempt to move this agenda, the Bush administra-
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tion quickly struck down a series of federal policies ben-

eficial to unions. Most damaging to the Iron Workers was

the one banning the use of project labor agreements on

all federally funded and assisted construction. In short,

PLA’s are overarching contracts that can require all con-

tractors and subcontractors on federally funded building

projects to follow basic union standards. PLA’s have

been particularly successful in carving out a larger union

share of the construction market. The effect of this ban is

incalculably harmful to the Iron Workers and other build-

ing trades. This essentially drives down labor standards

on federal construction making it easier for the non-

union contractors to win these bids.

The Bush administration will probably also take a

host of less conspicuous measures that cut back on regu-

lations and programs that undermine the basic tenets of

workers’ rights. The enforcement of the Davis-Bacon Act

or health and safety standards (OSHA) on the work site

are obvious targets. Others might include stealth attacks

on union organizing and political activity.

The coming years promise to test the Iron Workers’

resolve. In November 2006, 33 seats on the U.S. Senate,

virtually all seats in the U.S. House of Representatives, 36

state governor’s races, and many state and local elected

official races will be contested. The high cost of gas and

energy and protecting pensions and immigration will be

the major issues affecting not only ironworkers but all

working families. The 2006 mid-term elections will set the

stage for the presidential election in 2008. Ironworkers

must start registering and educating our members and

families now about worker friendly candidates.

Despite troubled political waters, we have prospered

since our last convention because of our increased politi-

cal activity. The Ironworkers Political Action League

(IPAL) is the organization’s political and legislative

department. In general, its two primary functions are to

protect, promote and defend the interests of ironworkers

on Capitol Hill and to raise money for our political fund

which is designed to finance the campaigns of pro-work-

er and pro-union candidates. Every member of this

organization needs to participate in this program.

Whether we like it or not, so much of an ironworker’s

livelihood is dependent on the federal government and

the politics that revolves around it. Virtually hundreds of

billions of dollars are spent annually on federal contracts

for roads, bridges, highways, dams, airports, water proj-

ects, environmental clean-up, energy and military proj-

ects, etc. This all amounts to jobs for ironworkers. In

addition, laws that provide Davis-Bacon prevailing

wages, health and safety standards, organization and col-

lective bargaining rights are all decided by the U.S.

Congress and the President of the United States. In some

respects, your involvement in politics is one of the most

important things you do as a union ironworker.

We are obligated to fight in the political arena for the

simple reason that no one else has volunteered to battle

for our work, wages, safety and retirement. The com-

bined challenges of the new economy and the increasing

practice of anti-union politics is a warning shot above our

heads. If the Iron Workers and organized labor are to

excel in the twenty-first century it must continue to build

political power and be prepared to wield it. But this can

only be accomplished by focusing on building member-

ship strength through organizing. Politics and organizing

go hand-in-hand and are inextricably linked together.

Therefore, labor must pursue a different form of

political participation. It must be one that builds an

independent movement that organizes working people,

raises their issues in public debate, and brings their con-

cerns before public officials every year and all year

around.

We can only prosper by recognizing and answering to

these changing times. The political challenge starts now.

Canadian Operations
Your Canadian Operation continues to play an

important role in this ever changing world of the Iron

Workers Union. The Canadian economy is probably as

strong as it has ever been and natural resources are still

the engine that drives it. The Athabasca Oil Sands have

been producing crude oil for about fifty years, but it is in

the last three years that the area has finally been listed as

one of the world’s oil reserves. The only question remain-

ing is whether these reserves are slightly smaller than the

known reserves in Saudi Arabia or slightly larger. Each

year the technology required to extract crude oil from

these “tar sands” deposits improves and that coupled

with the rising price structure has kicked off a billion dol-

lars in construction projects running from last year

through 2014 and beyond. This work is very ironworker

intensive in comparison to oil drilling.

The majority of the tar sands oil is shipped via

pipeline to Illinois or Denver, Colorado. Future pipelines

are proposed both to the United States and through

British Columbia to the Pacific Coast where it will go by

tanker to California or the Pacific Rim.

Oil is also big on the East Coast with more offshore drill

ships and gravity base rigs being contemplated for the North

Atlantic.

As we gather for this convention, the site work and

related construction for the 2010 Winter Olympics in

Vancouver is picking up speed and should keep us busy

almost up to our next convention in 2011.

The political climate in Canada has made a change

this year. After 13 years in power, the Liberal Party has

been replaced by the Progressive Conservatives. This

should bode well for big business and the relationship

between Canada and the United States should improve

at least until November of 2008.

It is too soon to tell how the political change will

affect labour. We are trying to become a constant part-
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ner with business and government and if we keep work-

ing toward this goal and possibly achieve it, then it

shouldn’t matter too much which political party is in

power. The Canadian ironworkers applaud the step

taken by the International in joining the World Labor

Organization and placing an ironworker on the Board.

Your Canadian Office consists of one International

Vice President, three General Organizers, one District

Representative and one Secretary. The office itself is in

Sarnia, Ontario and serves as the gathering and distribu-

tion point for all correspondence, jurisdiction, assign-

ments and notices that are received or forwarded to and

from Headquarters, the local unions, the Federal and

Provincial Governments, the Canadian Labour

Congress, the Canadian Building Trades and its

Provincial Affiliates, the various contractor organiza-

tions or any other body that may have an affect on our

membership.

Your Canadian Officers serve as Presidents of three

district councils in Canada, Chairman of the Canadian

Operation of the General Presidents’ Maintenance

Committee and the National Maintenance Committee,

your representative at the Canadian Building Trades as

well as the Quebec Building Trades, the Regional Safety

Committees, the Steel Structures Education Foundation,

the Canadian Ironworkers Aboriginal Committee and

all other regional or national committees that have the

potential to affect your working life.

As reported at past conventions, the Iron Workers

Union in Canada continues to develop apprenticeship

and training programs that are second to none. Most of

our apprentice training is funded by the various

Provincial Governments which not only allow us to do

state of the art training at well equipped training centers,

but it makes us an industry partner.

We are in the process of being recognized for a com-

mon core curriculum that will be called “Red Seal”

which will allow our members to have their skills recog-

nized throughout Canada and remove some of the hur-

dles that we run into when we travel to other Provinces.

This has not been an easy process, but it is attainable and

must be accomplished. It will also keep us one step

ahead of our competition.

Your union is strong and growing in Canada. The

Canadian membership is a strong, productive and

viable segment of our International Association. It is

not without its problems. There are apprentice funding

issues in British Columbia, large non-union

Contractors in Alberta and spreading East, and we

have pension funding issues and mobility problems.

Through the Canadian Office and primarily through

the endless work of our business agents across the

country we are meeting these problems head on. We

have an advantage that most of the other building

trades don’t have and that is the pride and the produc-

tivity of our membership.

IMPACT
When I was elected General President of our

International Union, I knew we faced serious chal-

lenges to not only our growth, but our survival. Looking

for new ways to boost market share and expand job

opportunities in the 21st century, I began a dialogue

with our general officers and major union contractors

and shop owners. We also conducted a national market

share analysis by a prominent marketing firm. It was

very apparent that our very survival as a union depend-

ed on our employers and our members working more

closely together to address the serious challenges that

faced us. These actions resulted in the creation of

IMPACT– the Ironworker Management Progressive

Action Cooperative Trust in 2003.

I announced the formation of this innovative

labor-management trust to nearly 300 elected iron-

worker officials and contractors at our Annual

Officers Meeting in Hollywood, FL on February 20,

2003. I told the officers that I believe IMPACT is crit-

ical to our future. While we are the best at what we do,

I told them, we are facing a number of major chal-

lenges that have led to job losses and declining mar-

ket share. We were only claiming about 20% of the

market share, a far cry from the 80% market share we

enjoyed in the 1960s. I called on every ironworker

union in the U.S. and Canada to include IMPACT in

their local agreement.

IMPACT was formed under Section 302(c)(9) of

the Taft Hartley Labor-Management Relations Act. It

is a non-profit, tax exempt trust under Section 501 (c)

of the Internal Revenue Code. IMPACT is governed

by a labor-management Board of Trustees. The eight

original trustees included four labor representatives

and four management representatives. I serve as the

Labor Co-Chair and William W. Brown, President of

St. Louis based Ben Hur Construction Co., serves as

the Management Co-Chair. The original labor trustees

also included Michael Fitzpatrick, General Secretary;

Dennis Toney, Treasurer; and Richard Zampa, First

General Vice President. In addition to Brown, the

original management trustees included William

Livingston, President of Quality Re-Steel, Inc.; David

W. McEuen, President of California Erectors, Bay

Area Inc.; and Donn R. Taylor, President of Century

Steel Erectors, Inc.

Through IMPACT programs, we will find ways to

make it easier to be a union contractor and knock

down those barriers that prevent our contractors and

shops from being able to be competitive in the market-

place. Our discussions and our market survey indicated

that we needed to address many issues including:

•  Develop a strategy to offer affordable workers

compensation and general liability insurance for

union contractors.
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•  Enhance the image of union ironworkers and con-

tractors to owners and the general public through

aggressive marketing programs.

•  Adopt a national drug-free policy that will reas-

sure owners and contractors of our commitment

to safety, reduce costs and increase productivity.

•  Preempt jurisdictional problems by showing deci-

sion makers in the architectural and engineering

fields that union ironworkers and contractors get

the job done with the highest quality and in the

safest  and most cost-effective way.

•  Monitor compliance with the Davis-Bacon pre-

vailing wage law and provide training to handle

compliance, application and wage decisions.

•  Insure that union ironworkers receive consistent

training in new technology and safety regulations.

Ironworkers and contractors share equally in funding

IMPACT, with each side contributing one-half of 1% of

the hourly wage into the fund. This contribution  replaces

the contributions to the I.I.I. and National Training Fund.

When IMPACT is fully funded, the entire budget for the

National Training Fund will be provided by IMPACT.

The trustees appointed Eric Waterman as CEO of

IMPACT in March 2003. Prior to joining IMPACT,

Waterman served 18 years as vice president of member-

ship for the National Erectors Asociation. At NEA,

Waterman directed legislative initiatives, education and

training and safety and health programs. He also had over-

sight of the labor relations, communications, marketing

and membership recruitment efforts.

Working with the Iron Workers, Eric helped lead a

nationwide campaign to convince the Department of

Labor to use Negotiated Rulemaking to revise the OSHA

Subpart R Steel Erection standard. In 1994 Waterman was

appointed by the Department of Labor to the

Occupational Safety and Health Administration’s Steel

Erection Negotiated Rulemaking Committee (SEN-

RAC).The panel crafted the first construction safety stan-

dard reached through negotiated rulemaking. In 2002,

Waterman spearheaded a partnership between NEA, the

Iron Workers Union and OSHA to train OSHA compli-

ance officers on the new steel erection standard. For that

effort, Engineering News-Record recognized him as one of

its Top 25 Newsmakers.

When I introduced him at the 2003 Officers Meeting,

Eric told the ironworkers that he was well aware of the

challenges facing our union. But, he asked the delegates:

“When have ironworkers ever been afraid of a good

fight?” Waterman added: “We’re going to start to work

together now, and we will never, never, never give up.”

The IMPACT office, located in the lobby of our head-

quarters building in Washington, D.C., was officially

opened by Waterman on April 21, 2003. In its first three

years, 131 local unions, 84 contractor associations and more

than 1,100 contractors added IMPACT to their local col-

lective bargaining agreement.

One of the first key actions by the Board of Trustees

was to create ten Regional Advisory Boards (RABs),

offering contractors and local unions a new localized

forum to discuss the critical issues facing our industry. The

regional boards were created largely along Iron Worker

district council lines and encompass one or more district

councils. Each RAB is guided by a labor-management

Executive Committee, appointed by the Trustees. Four

RAB meetings were held in 2004 and eight were held in

2005.

Lively debate and numerous concrete proposals were

discussed  at each Regional Meeting as each RAB tackled

the tough question of “How Do We Survive and Grow?”

The RABs provide an exciting forum for labor and man-

agement to not only meet and identify the problems we

face, but to begin the dialogue to solve those problems.

In addition to providing IMPACT with feedback on

issues in their respective geographic areas, the RABs also

serve as the vehicles for IMPACT to provide grant money

back to the regions to help current or new labor-manage-

ment programs. I want to stress that the financial contri-

bution each of you sends to IMPACT is not a “One-Way

Street.” Even as IMPACT was just getting started, the

Trustees approved grant requests from the regional

boards of hundreds of thousands of dollars. This year, the

Trustees approved a Block Grant Program which will pro-

vide each region with 10% of all IMPACT contributions

received to date. This percentage may be increased when

IMPACT is fully funded across the U.S. and Canada. Each

region is also free to request additional funding from the

Board of Trustees.

In its first two years, IMPACT developed a drug test-

ing program designed to help members who have sub-

stance abuse problems, reduce accidents and injuries, and

help our employers be more competitive. The National

Substance Abuse Program was developed by an IMPACT

labor-management task force. It surpasses drug testing

requirements of many owners and contractors. Once test-

ed, eligible members are pre-qualified to work on job sites

with substance abuse testing requirements. Standardized

procedures and a shared eligibility pool enable a mem-

ber’s current test to serve as a valid pre-employment test

for one or more contractors. It also keeps ironworkers

who are not in the eligibility pool from working on proj-

ects with drug-testing requirements. All officers and

employees of the Iron Workers International Union and

IMPACT also participate in the program.

The initial success of this program has made an impres-

sion throughout the construction industry. Elements of the

IMPACT drug program were incorporated into negotia-

tions between the Building Trades Department and the

Construction Users Roundtable to develop a national drug

testing program. The IMPACT Program served as a model

for the new Building Trades-CURT National Substance

Abuse Program.

IMPACT also offers our contractors a comprehensive
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safety insurance program, including workers’ comp and

general liability insurance from four major insurance

carriers. By working closely with the insurance carriers,

IMPACT contractors can receive lower insurance rates

due to the quality of our training programs and  our

drug-free work force. A tour of ironworker apprentice-

ship schools given, to several insurance carriers by

IMPACT, was real eye opener to the insurance carriers

who were unaware of the quality training that union

ironworkers receive.

IMPACT has worked very closely with our National

Training Fund on a variety of projects. They jointly

developed a Directory of Union Ironworker Training

Facilities in North America. This publication has

caught nationwide attention in our industry. It is a

great marketing tool to make owners aware of our

quality apprenticeship and journeymen training

programs.

To help our contractors and shops be more compet-

itive, IMPACT developed a Foreman Training Program

in 2005 with the National Training Fund, to address this

critical training issue vital to expanding our market

share. The training program rolled out in late 2005, and

an expanded schedule of courses is being held in 2006.

In addition, IMPACT and the National Training Fund

developed a standardized core curriculum for all

apprenticeship programs which will lead to their being

recognized by the new Ironworker Apprenticeship

Certification Program. IMPACT and the National

Training Fund also began to update and modernize all

apprenticeship and training materials.

IMPACT worked with our Shop Department and

for the first time in our industry, we have a National

Shop Insurance Program. All the programs and servic-

es of IMPACT are being fine tuned to be made com-

patible for our shops.

Another benefit of IMPACT membership is access

to four project tracking systems offered free to local

unions. These systems provide information to help

identify and bid commercial, industrial and mainte-

nance projects. IMPACT spends over $600,000 a year

to provide these services to our local unions and our

signatory contractor associations.

These tracking systems include IMPACT-TRAC, a

customized version of McGraw-Hill Construction’s

Dodge Reports, and IMPACT-DIRECT, a customized

version of Industrial Information Resources that tracks

project information from 12 industrial markets with

daily updates on new projects, shut downs, and sched-

uled and unscheduled outages. IMPACT has made lap-

top computers available to each local union to ensure

they are able to take advantage of the tracking systems.

In 2004, IMPACT opened regional offices on both

the East and West Coasts to provide local service to the

Regional Advisory Boards, local unions and signatory

contractors associations.

In 2005, two of the original labor trustees retired.

Dennis Toney was replaced by Iron Worker General

Treasurer Walter Wise and Iron Worker First General

Vice President Richard Zampa was replaced by Ninth

General Vice President Joe Standley. In January 2006,

the IMPACT Board of Trustees was expanded from

eight members to 22 members, allowing each IMPACT

region to be represented by one labor trustee and one

management trustee.

IMPACT will initiate a national marketing cam-

paign in 2006 to provide every local union with the

tools and a business plan to market the benefits of

union ironworkers and their signatory contractors to

owners and the public.

I believe that the years ahead will provide many

difficult challenges to the Iron Workers, but with

IMPACT, we now have the labor-management team to

jointly meet those challenges, regain our market share

and grow our great International Union.

Davis-Bacon / Prevailing Wage-
Provided through IMPACT

The year 2006 marks the 75th anniversary of the

passage of the national Davis-Bacon Prevailing

Wage Act. IMPACT is supplying the resources to

ensure that our members and other construction

workers will continue to receive the benefits to

which they are entitled under Davis-Bacon and the

numerous state-level “Little” Davis-Bacon-related

acts.

In that spirit, I am proud that we have recently

welcomed a new Wage Compliance Administrator to

our Union, Chris Burger. He comes from the

Building and Construction Trades Department of the

AFL-CIO. A native New Yorker, he brings over fif-

teen years of experience in the labor movement,

including work as an organizer, as well as a masters

degree in labor relations and research. Since 1997

until last year, he was an investigator for the

Foundation for Fair Contracting of Massachusetts in

Boston. Please make a point to make full use of our

revitalized Davis-Bacon department.

We are committed to upholding the principles

behind the Davis-Bacon Act. We cannot assume the

government or contractors wish to uphold their end up

the bargain – without our own compliance. On our end,

we must continue to be vigilant and aggressive in com-

plying with wage surveys and showing that we are

100% behind the principle of a “fair day’s pay for a fair

day’s work.”

Our commitment has been tested repeatedly for

these two decades and I consider it one of this

union’s major accomplishments to be able to report

to you that we have kept our promise with tenacity

and fierce determination in this era of the “low road”
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contractor. In the past year, we saw the Bush

Administration attempt and fail to deny already-

impoverished Gulf Coast construction workers the

very Davis-Bacon protections they need more than

ever. In the face of union and public outrage, the

Davis Bacon prevailing wage was reinstated.

We have been fighting to keep the Davis-Bacon Act

alive because we believe in its basic requirement which

mandates that contractors on federally-financed or

assisted construction projects must pay all construc-

tion workers and mechanics employed on such jobs no

less than the wage found by the Secretary of Labor to

be prevailing in the locality for work on projects of a

similar character. This requirement has, for the most

part, since the passage of the Davis-Bacon Act itself

and the related acts, ensured that workers on federal

construction projects have in fact received a fair day’s

pay for a fair day’s work.

In our view, an ironworker gets a fair day’s pay

when he gets the wage set by the collective bargaining

negotiated by his local union. So it is our goal that,

wherever possible under the regulations which govern

the administration of the Davis-Bacon Act, our local

union’s rate should be determined by the U.S.

Department of Labor to be the “prevailing” rate for

ironworkers on any particular federally-funded con-

struction project.

We are realistic enough to understand that these

days we cannot expect our rates to be issued for all of

the work covered by the Davis-Bacon Act, but we are

also knowledgeable enough to demand that our rates

must be issued as prevailing for those jobs in localities

where, under the Department of Labor’s own rules, we

do indeed dominate.

Our Davis-Bacon Department has operated with

an effective system to support our objectives to (1)

keep the United States Department of Labor fully

informed on the current wages, fringes, and escalators

negotiated by each of our outside local unions in the

fifty states and the District of Columbia; (2)actively

participate in the Department of Labor surveys to

establish prevailing wage rates for specific localities;

(3) uphold, and where possible strengthen, the statu-

tory protections to which the International and the

members of its members are entitled; and (4) in all

these efforts, to work with our locals in a team effort

to get problems solved.

Twenty years since our original 1986 commitment to

protect our wages on federal construction projects, I

can report proudly that we have lived up to the chal-

lenge, despite years of vicious attacks, direct and covert,

on the concept of “a fair day’s pay for a fair day’s

work.”

Despite our accomplishments in defending the

Davis-Bacon prevailing wage over the years, we must

never grow complacent about those who assault this

benchmark for our living standards. So we must contin-

ue in pursuing our goal of increased communication

between Headquarters and the local unions. It is your

job to provide the ammunition, which means full and

timely submission to Headquarters of information on

the wage and fringe packages you have negotiated, as

well as full and timely participation in Davis-Bacon

wage surveys conducted by the U.S. Department of

Labor.

It is also your job to be a leader in your communi-

ty to let your state and federal representatives know

in that Davis-Bacon protections will not be bargained

away on your watch. It is the job of our Davis-Bacon

Department to make the best use of the ammunition

and political assistance you provide. This cooperation

will strengthen our union and also will help make the

principles of Davis-Bacon prevailing wage a true bea-

con for the entire labor movement.

The Ironworker
The Ironworker continues to be the primary source

of communication between our International and our

members.

It is the magazine’s main responsibility to help

the members remain well informed on the affairs of

our International Union. In this regard, we report

the significant developments among our local

unions; on political, legislative, and economic

developments. In addition every department is

required to give a monthly report giving the mem-

bership a clear idea of the function of their office.

There is also a column called Officers’ Forum,

which provides a platform that may be used by any

local union officer to share best practices or com-

ment on any topic affecting our membership. The

contractors are also provided a column called

Contractors’ Perspective. The majority of the sub-

missions for this column have been to thank our

members for a job well done.

Although the basic editorial concern of the mag-

azine is the membership, we also, as a public rela-

tions tool, send copies to the United States

Congress and labor reporters in the United States

and Canada. Copies are also sent to union contrac-

tors, colleges, and university libraries.

Many times the only contact a member has with

other ironworkers in the United States and Canada

is through The Ironworker. Twice yearly our direc-

tory issue familiarizes our membership with our

sister locals and their wage structures, benefit lev-

els and methods of reciprocity. We have also

attempted to feature various construction projects

our brothers and sisters are working on, along with

local union activities, in each issue. The success of

these stories depends upon the cooperation of our

local unions and members to supply us with the
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information needed to print the story.

For the past six years, the magazine has been

printed in full color, continues to include family

oriented articles, and includes apprentice gradua-

tions as well as years of service ceremonies.

The Ironworker remains our most effective com-

munication vehicle. When members read, we build a

union of solidarity with each other that provides a

link among the entire membership of our great

union.

Disaster Relief Fund
It is with a great sense of pride I give this report

on the way our members responded to some of the

worst disasters to ever visit our great nation.

Everyone in this country knows about the cowardly

act of terrorism that took place on 9-11. What most of

them don’t know is that when everyone was running

as fast as they could away from the fire and twisted

steel that was once the World Trade Center, the Iron

Workers were running in to the disaster area to try to

save lives. Before the first of the rescue operations

were in place, ironworkers were calling their local

union halls and International Headquarter in

Washington D.C., to offer their assistance.

Ironworkers embody the very best of the American

sprit, courage, honor, bravery and hard work. While

many of us were feeling shocked and helpless, iron-

workers were leaving their homes and traveling from

all over the country, bringing supplies and volunteer-

ing in the clean-up of the tangled mess of steel and

glass which had become a grave to so many our loved

ones.

The tragedy so many of our fellow Americans suf-

fered was also our personal tragedy. We lost five of

our own that day. Brother Bill Cashman, Local 46-L,

Brother Peter Vega, Local 40, Brother Ken Watson,

Local 580, Brother John Collins, Local 580 and

Brother David Weiss, Local 580.

Upon learning of the fate of these five brother

ironworkers, I established the Disaster Relief Fund.

Once again ironworkers took care of ironworkers. In

all over $143,000 were collected and distributed to

the aggrieved families to help tied them over through

the most difficult time of their lives.

Later in 2005, Hurricanes Katrina, Rita and

Wilma devastated over 100 miles of the Gulf Coast,

costing hundreds of ironworkers their jobs, homes,

transportation and sometimes even their ironwork-

ing tools. Once again the Disaster Relief Fund was

activated and our members responded in true iron-

worker fashion donating $298,715 from 188 individu-

als, contractors, local unions and district councils. To

date there have been total disbursements of $208,341

to 557 very grateful members. When an ironworker is

in trouble there will always be ironworkers there to

back him up in any way necessary, that is what makes

us special, and the finest labor organization in North

America.

DADs Day - The Blueprint 
for Cure Campaign

The Blueprint for Cure was started by the

Building Trades Department more than twenty

one years ago to support the efforts of the

Diabetes Research Institute (DRI) at the

University of Miami School of Medicine. At the

time, scientists for DRI were working on the third

and fourth floors at the University. The

Department made a commitment to fund a new

state-of-the-art research facility and in February

of 1994, the doors were opened to what now is

considered the world’s premier research center for

diabetes.

Because of funding from the Blueprint for

Cure, DRI has been able to recruit the finest sci-

entists from around the world to assist in their

efforts to find a cure for diabetes. In 1998, the

National Institute of Health (NIH) formed a part-

nership with DRI for fast track research. This is

the first time that NIH has collaborated with an

agency outside the U.S. government. In 1999,

Business Week featured an article on the DRI and

how their promising work could lead to a cure.

The Blueprint for Cure has raised over $37 mil-

lion for the Diabetes Research Institute to date.

The cornerstone for the Blueprint campaign has

been Dollars Against Diabetes, better known as

DADs Day. Recognized around the country as a

top fund raising initiative, DADs Day continues to

raise $1 million every Father’s Day weekend.

Building and Construction Trades men and women

take to the streets in over 300 communities in all

fifty states raising money for diabetes research. In

addition to the traditional street corner collections,

Dads Day now has nearly fifty golf tournaments

throughout the year raising funds for DRI.

The biggest golf tournament is the Blueprint for

Cure’s Labor of Love, which is held each year in

conjunction with the AFL-CIO Executive Council

meetings. The year 2006 marks the twenty-first

annual Labor of Love which draws participants

from business, labor and politics. Each year the

tournament raises approximately $450,000.

Ironworkers from the U.S. and Canada have done

an outstanding job collecting for Dads Day and are

always recognized as one of the prime supporters

in the battle against diabetes.
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International Association of Bridge, Structural, Ornamental 

and Reinforcing Iron Workers

Union Plus

Union Plus
The Iron Workers Union Plus programs help build

better lives for our members, on and off the job site. The

Union Plus programs are developed and managed by

Union Privilege. The AFL-CIO founded Union Privilege

in 1986. Their goal is to provide consumer benefit pro-

grams to union members. No dues money goes into the

development or operation of any Union Plus program.

Union Privilege uses the collective purchasing power of

millions of union members to develop the Union Plus

programs, which provide more quality, value and service

than comparable programs available to the general pub-

lic.While Union Privilege develops, oversees and markets

these money-saving programs, it is Union Plus’ decision

to select the programs to endorse. Each program is care-

fully monitored to make sure the vendor complies with

every program detail and that members get the service

they deserve. The Union Plus chart reflects our members

usage of Union Plus programs.
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The State of the 
Construction Industry

Construction is on the rise. Congress passed the

“Safe, Accountable, Flexible and Efficient Transportation

Equity Act: A Legacy for Users” (SAFETEA-LU). This

long overdue bill will supply $286.5 billion dollars for

highway and bridge work over the next six years provid-

ing job opportunities for ironworkers all over the coun-

try. Also Power Houses, one of the biggest users of iron-

worker skills in the early 70s are in the building mode.

There are over one hundred applications to build new

power generation facilities, both fossil fuel and nuclear

plants, over the next 10 years. Each of these projects

requires thousands of tons of structural steel and rebar. In

addition to the new plant work, the Environmental

Protection Agency rules are forcing existing power facili-

ties to add new pollution controls costing billions of dol-

lars and requiring millions of manhours of construction.

On the commercial and high-rise side, the devastation of

Hurricane Katrina, will require the rebuilding of cities

and infrastructure all over the Southeast.

Canada is also experiencing one of the biggest con-

struction booms in its history. There are over 330 billion

barrels of recoverable oil in Northern Alberta’s tar sands.

That’s more than the total reserves in Saudi Arabia, and

it will require millions of manhours to build the plants

necessary for the extraction process. All these projects

are in addition to the normal workload.

Because of the boom in construction, contractors are

experiencing manpower shortages in some areas and are

projecting what they call a “manpower shortage crisis” on

both the union and non-union side. This can be a tremen-

dous opportunity for us to grow our organization; it can

also have a devastating effect if we fail to act. The non-

union will swell their ranks and unless we increase mem-

bership, when the work slows down we will have lost mar-

ket share. The trade that can supply a trained workforce

will gain in every way including jurisdiction.

Building Trades Agreements
Unfortunately, over the past five years, the Building

and Construction Trades Department has lost the support

of the Carpenters, Laborers, Operating Engineers and

Teamsters Internationals (the Teamsters have recently

signed a Solidarity Agreement). The Department has

continued to be diligent in defending, expanding, and

promoting opportunities for building trades union mem-

bers through various project labor agreements (PLAs).

The internationals that have disaffiliated, recognizing the

value of these agreements have pledged to continue to

work in concert with the Department on all PLA proj-

ects. These agreements, the General Presidents’ Project

Maintenance Agreement (GPPMA), the National

Construction Agreement (NCA), the Tennessee Valley

Authority Project Maintenance and Modification

Agreement and locally developed (PLAs), are all tools

designed to create job opportunities for our members.

The National Heavy and Highway Alliance Project

Agreement, although not administered by the

Department, is also a valuable PLA.

Project Labor Agreements
Of course there are some construction projects, and

some construction markets where the use of PLAs would

be inappropriate. The Building and Construction Trades

Department has worked with the Governing Board of

Presidents to establish guidelines to help identify where,

when and how PLAs should be applied. The Project

Review Committee meets monthly.

In addition, the BCTD has made the case project

labor agreements can provide the same tangible benefits

in the public sector as they do for the private sector. The

bottom line for the purchaser of construction services,

whether public or private, is building and construction

trades unions provide the world’s best trained, most

skilled, and safest workforce the construction industry

has ever known.

We have helped to defend project labor agreements in

many legal actions, including the Boston Harbor case, in

which the Supreme Court upheld PLAs, and almost a

dozen state court cases, all but one of which have been

decided in favor of these agreements.

General Presidents’ Committee on 
Contract Maintenance

Contract Maintenance work covered under the

General Presidents’ Project Maintenance Agreement

(GPPMA) has been increasing during the past five years.

Signatory contractors are working approximately 30 mil-

lion hours each year and annually employ some 20-

25,000 building trade’s workers.

The GPPMA covers over 400 projects in the U.S. and

Canada, which include industrial plants, electric power

facilities and government installations. During this five-

year period, we expanded the General Presidents’

Agreement to cover system-wide electric power facilities.

The most notable is the GPPMA with the Exelon

Generation Company.The Agreement covers all Exelon’s

nineteen fossil fuel and ten nuclear facilities.The General

Presidents’ Agreement Committee holds monthly meet-

ings and meets annually with the Associated

Maintenance Contractors (AMC), and with the owners

using the General Presidents’ Agreement

The General Presidents’ Committee continues to

receive excellent support from all affiliated International

Unions and building trades councils across the country.



OCTOBER 2006 79

The Heavy and Highway Division /National 
Heavy and Highway Alliance

In 2002, the National Joint Heavy and Highway

Construction Committee officially became the National

Heavy and Highway Alliance. The Alliance operates

independently of the Building Trades Department and is

now a department of the National Construction Alliance.

The goals remain the same: to increase job opportunities

in the heavy and highway industry for its members and

contractors; expand and improve the marketing of the

Heavy and Highway Agreement and the Labor-

Management Trust; and to the extent possible, level the

playing field for signatory contractors in order to gain

market share.

The National Construction Agreement.
The National Construction Agreement (NCA) is used

on new projects that have non-union bidders. In most

cases the agreement simply provides uniformity of over-

time, holidays and working conditions. However when

faced with non-union competition an addendum may be

added providing whatever revisions necessary to get the

job. In cases where union density is extremely low sub-

contracted portions of the project may be excluded from

the agreement. The Plan for the Settlement of

Jurisdictional Disputes is used to settle jurisdictional dis-

agreements.

The Center to Protect 
Workers’ Rights

The Center to Protect Workers’ Rights (CPWR) is the

research and development arm of the Building and

Construction Trades Department, AFL-CIO. Established

in the late 1970s by Building and Construction Trades

Department President Emeritus Robert A. Georgine,

CPWR’s purpose is to carry out research addressing

important issues having direct impact or indirect influ-

ence on the construction industry.

CPWR’s mission is to provide the building and con-

struction trades unions with needed information through

the conduct of scientifically sound research.The results of

CPWR’s research are intended to be utilized in support of

their overall objective to protect and improve working

conditions in construction for all members, while devel-

oping approaches to take advantage of this ability to bet-

ter position construction unions and their employers in

today’s construction market.

While CPWR’s research has traditionally been broad

based and has been responsive to specific needs as new

issues arise, its program over recent years has focused

specifically on construction safety and health research

and development.

CPWR’s safety and health focus is largely the result of

a resolution adopted at the 64th Convention of the

Building and Construction Trades Department in July

1990. Resolution No. 34 resolved the Department carry

out research in order to prevent occupational exposures

in the construction industry.

National Coordinating Committee
for Multiemployer Plans

During the five years since the last Iron Workers con-

vention, the National Coordinating Committee for

Multiemployer Plans (NCCMP) has continued to fight

on behalf of our multiemployer plans on the front lines of

the legislative and regulatory battlefields. Among the

issues undertaken were:

• crafting pension funding reform legislation,

• stopping the passage of the so-called “Patients’ Bill

of Rights” legislation that, among other things,

would have allowed participants and non-partici-

pants alike to sue health benefit plans and individ-

ual trustees for punitive damages, thereby reducing

assets available for benefits for other participants

and creating enormous obstacles to individuals to

serve as trustees,

• helping to structure changes in the application of

suspension of benefits rules,

• fighting to assure that multiemployer plans are not

swept up under inappropriate regulations as associ-

ation health plans,

• making sure regulations under USERRA work

appropriately within the multiemployer framework,

• working to limit government intrusion with respect

to plan reporting requirements under reinstituted

form LM-10 and the underlying regulations relating

to form LM-30,

• striving to preserve health plan subrogation provi-

sions, and

• engaging in the legislative debates leading to the adop-

tion of the Medicare Prescription Drug Part D subsidy

formulas and direct reimbursement of employer subsi-

dies to multiemployer health benefit plans.

Background
Some of you may not be familiar with NCCMP’s

impressive record of advocacy on behalf of multiemploy-

er plans. We are pleased to present the following histori-

cal perspective.

In 1974, a group of trade union representatives and

employee benefit professionals established the NCCMP.
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This happened shortly after enactment of the Employee

Retirement Income Security Act (ERISA). They created

the NCCMP to protect the interests of the millions of

workers participating in collectively bargained multiem-

ployer plans. For more than 30 years, the NCCMP has

worked diligently on behalf of ironworkers and other

multiemployer plan participants to assure that ERISA

and other employee benefit laws and regulations evolv-

ing through Congress, the regulatory agencies and the

courts effectively represent the interests of ironworker

plans and their participants every step of the way, from

conception to implementation and enforcement.

The NCCMP communicates with key government

officials and their staff members about the special nature

of multiemployer plans. NCCMP activity centers on pro-

posing, shaping, and sometimes stopping legislation, reg-

ulations, and rulings of the Internal Revenue Service

(IRS), Department of Labor (DOL), and the Pension

Benefit Guaranty Corporation (PBGC). Some of the

most important decisions involving multiemployer plans

are made in the court system. The NCCMP participates

as amicus curiae in virtually all Supreme Court cases

affecting multiemployer plans and in many precedent-

setting courts of appeals cases. When a decision is not

favorable to our members, the NCCMP may seek a leg-

islative remedy.

The NCCMP has been directly responsible for pre-

serving the integrity of multiemployer plans. Its actions

have saved the plans hundreds of millions of dollars in

regulatory and administrative costs – dollars that are bet-

ter spent on ironworkers and their families.

Recent Legislative Proposals
NCCMP’s commitment to the multiemployer plan

community is reflected in the following topics addressed

by the NCCMP during the period 2001-2006:

Pension Funding Reform
“Pension reform” has matured. It began as an initia-

tive to obtain funding relief for multiemployer pension

plans. Now, it’s a major piece of legislation that covers

both the Bush Administration’s wishlist of changes for

single-employer plans and the changes that multiemploy-

er plan sponsors need to help them improve funded sta-

tus. By mounting a proactive legislative initiative for

multiemployer reform, the NCCMP has effectively pre-

vented the imposition of several of the more draconian

single-employer rules in the Administration’s proposals

on the multiemployer universe.

The multiemployer provisions of the current pension

funding reform began as an NCCMP initiative. In 2002,

some of its member funds expressed concerns that the

deep and prolonged contraction of the investment mar-

kets, compounded by historically low interest rates had

pushed a number of funds to the brink of a funding defi-

ciency (the functional equivalent of a “bankruptcy” for

pension plans, when it’s often too late to save the plan).

Following an analysis of the breadth and severity of the

problem that led to the conclusion that as many as one-

third of all multiemployer plans were facing a funding

deficiency by the end of the decade unless substantial

changes were made to contribution rates, benefit plan

design features (including future accrual rates) or both,

the NCCMP contacted IRS as the federal agency with

jurisdiction over the funding rules to seek an administra-

tive remedy. Despite intensive discussions that included

recommendations as to the types of authority contained

in the present law, the IRS declined to adopt the recom-

mended course of action.

With no administrative recourse, the only option

open to our plans was a legislative solution. In 2003,

NCCMP staff began to alert member unions and con-

tributing employers of the potential problems awaiting

plans and to encourage them to work with their plan

actuaries to determine the nature and extent of the prob-

lem for their own plans. It was explained that a funding

deficiency would trigger extra-contractual contribution

and excise tax requirements for contributing employers

in a magnitude that could potentially dwarf any with-

drawal liability obligations and potentially lead to bank-

ruptcy. Over the next twelve months, the NCCMP

reached out to both the labor and employer communi-

ties to create a coalition of interested parties to educate

members of the U.S. House and the Senate as to the need

to address this problem before the funding deficiencies

actually occurred. During the course of that effort, the

Coalition succeeded in having its proposal to permit

plans to recognize the investment losses over a more

favorable period included in the original House Bill (HR

1776) and actually had it pass the Senate by an over-

whelming vote before having the relief measure and the

definition of what plans could qualify for such help dra-

matically scaled back when the “Pension Funding Equity

Act of 2004” was reconciled by a joint House-Senate

conference committee. In the end, the relief provisions

were so diluted as to make any practical relief unattain-

able, but the coalition created survived to form the

nucleus for the broad-based coalition that has designed

and become the driving force behind the current legisla-

tive measures.

Known as the Multiemployer Pension Plan

Coalition, this group of nearly 50 employer associations,

unions, large employers and multiemployer defined

benefit pension plans, its stated objective is to provide

plan sponsors with the tools to solve plan funding prob-

lems well before they reach a funding deficiency. It is the

Coalition’s intent to accomplish this goal without resort-

ing to a government bailout or adding to the govern-

ment’s pension insurance program liability. The propos-

al is designed to strengthen the funding of all multiem-

ployer plans, to impose additional discipline on plans
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whose funded position is beginning to deteriorate, and,

for the most seriously threatened plans, to give trustees

and the bargaining parties the ability to modify certain

ancillary benefits to the extent necessary to protect all

participants’ normal retirement benefits at normal

retirement age.

As the pension reform legislation progresses through

the joint House/Senate conference committee process, it

reflects many provisions that were part of the Coalition’s

original proposal. The NCCMP and other members of

the Coalition will continue to work with members of

Congress and the Conferees to try to bring the final leg-

islation closer to the Coalition’s aims. In any event, the

NCCMP continues to be deeply involved in this process

and will continue to work on behalf of its member plans

to secure legislation that reflects the unique place of mul-

tiemployer plans in the marketplace.

Suspension Of Benefits: 
The Heinz Decision

In late 2003, the NCCMP filed amicus briefs with the

U.S. Supreme Court to hear a case that had been decided

at the appeals court level against the Central Illinois

Laborers’ Pension Fund (Central Illinois Laborers

Pension Fund v. Heinz) in response to the trustees’

actions to modify the plan’s suspension of benefits rules.

The NCCMP argued in support of the trustees’ ability to

change such rules, consistent with long established rules

set forth by the IRS regarding suspension of benefits for

participants engaged in disqualifying employment.

Despite a compelling argument by attorneys for the

fund, joined by the U.S. Solicitor General, the Supreme

Court decided against the fund, saying that ERISA for-

bids a plan to apply additional types of prohibited post-

retirement employment under its suspension rules to

early retirement benefits that a participant had accrued

prior to the change. Pursuant to this decision, the IRS

issued guidelines for funds to comply with the decision.

The deadline by which a multiemployer plan must adopt

amendments to conform to this decision is January 1,

2007. The IRS provided this extended deadline in

response to a request from the NCCMP, which argued

that the extension was necessary due to a lack of guid-

ance regarding the retroactive application of certain pro-

visions. The NCCMP persuaded the IRS that it would not

have time to provide the necessary clarification to all

affected multiemployer plans and those plans would not

have time to adopt the appropriate amendments or pro-

vide required notices before the deadline imposed under

the IRS’ revenue procedure.

The NCCMP remains active in the analysis and dis-

cussion surrounding regulations affecting what the

Internal Revenue Code calls “protected benefits” and

how those regulations will be applied within the multi-

employer plan context.

LM-10/LM-30 Filings

Beginning in late 2005, it became apparent that sub-

stantive and significant informal guidance issued by

Department of Labor’s Office of Labor Management

Standards (OLMS) on the filing of Forms LM-10 and

LM-30 would have a direct impact on multiemployer

plan administration. Consequently, the NCCMP filed

comments with the DOL, arguing, among other things,

the following:

• Transactions and other dealings related to ERISA

plans, including multiemployer plans, generally

should be excluded from LMRDA reporting and

disclosure requirements inasmuch as the recently

resurrected reporting requirements completely

ignored the regulatory and reporting requirements

of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of

1974 (ERISA) passed in the interim.

• The proposed rules define “labor organization” too

broadly and attempt to undermine established law

governing a trustee’s sole and exclusive duty to plan

participants, rather than the organization which

appoints them.

• The current instructions for Form LM-30 include a

general exclusion for “sporadic or occasional gifts,

gratuities, or loans of insubstantial value, given

under circumstances or terms unrelated to the recip-

ient’s status in a labor organization.” This general

exclusion should be maintained under a new Form

LM-30. In the alternative, this general exclusion

could be incorporated into the de minimis excep-

tion. The benefit of this approach is twofold. First,

it would establish a bright line exclusion that would

eliminate any uncertainty and confusion many filers

may have regarding the definition of terms such as

“sporadic,” “occasional,” and “insubstantial.”

Second, it would promote uniform reporting by

greatly reducing the instances of under-reporting or

over-reporting.

• The de minimis exception should be preserved and

be clearly defined and updated.

• The definition of bona fide employee should be

articulated to clearly indicate that employer pay-

ments that relate to an employee’s time lost while

attending a trustees meeting of an employee benefit

plan should be excluded from reporting.

• The instructions should reflect Congress’ directive

that a union official’s investments and other sources

of income, which would not pose a conflict of inter-

est between the official and union members, not be

reported.

The DOL continues to review the comments received

from interested groups (including the NCCMP’s com-
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ments) and will update and revise the LM-10 and LM-30

rules accordingly. An open question remains regarding

the filing status of multiemployer trusts under the con-

cept that such funds are “employers” under the meaning

of the act. The NCCMP remains actively engaged in dis-

cussing this and other reporting issues affecting trust

funds with the OLMS.

Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment
Rights Act Of 1994 (“USERRA”)

The NCCMP presented comments to the DOL

regarding regulations under the Uniformed Services

Employment and Reemployment Rights Act of 1994

(USERRA). The NCCMP’s comments focused on con-

cerns common to multiemployer plans, identifying ways

in which the proposed rules may complicate plan admin-

istration and raising questions about the treatment of

returning veterans. In particular, their comments raised

the concern that the proposed regulations create confu-

sion about who is considered an “employer” and that this

confusion would hinder plans trying to comply with their

obligations under USERRA. In addition, the lack of

clarity about employee rights and responsibilities may

confuse returning veterans who may not take the appro-

priate steps under USERRA because they will not know

what the appropriate steps are. For example, a returning

veteran who is used to being recalled to work from a

union hall may think that reporting to the union hall for

work would be sufficient under USERRA provisions as

well. The NCCMP also requested that the Labor

Department clarify whether the “employer” means the

pre-service employer or any contributing employer

under the Plan.

Benefit Accruals

The NCCMP submitted comments to IRS with regard

to proposed regulations under the Internal Revenue

Code’s accrual rules, particularly with respect to multi-

employer, defined benefit pension plans. NCCMP

emphasized that the ultimate regulation in this area

would affect not only the Internal Revenue Code and

ERISA but also the Age Discrimination in Employment

Act where it will be interpreted and applied by parties

other than the agencies responsible for employee benefit

plan governance. Therefore, much care needs to be taken

not to create regulations that foster confusion or formu-

late complex technical responses that end up hurting par-

ticipants and workers. The NCCMP’s comments includ-

ed ways to accommodate “13th checks” and, a more

recent development in the multiemployer world, DROP

account provisions. These accounts create an “account”

for participants who stay in service beyond retirement

and are becoming more common as multiemployer plans

look for ways to encourage older, more skilled workers to

stay in the workforce. These types of single-sum increas-

es would fail if required to pass the life-annuities at nor-

mal retirement age tests. The NCCMP suggested treating

such benefits as non-discriminatory if they do not drop

off due to age, or unless they are a subterfuge for age-

based discrimination.

Phased Retirement Distributions
The NCCMP asked the IRS to clarify that the phased

retirement distribution regulations provide that the rules

regarding retirement may be adopted by the employer or

by the plan sponsor in the case of multiemployer plans.

This would address the fact that employers do not adopt

the rules relating to benefit distributions in the multiem-

ployer plan setting. In addition, the NCCMP requested

that the Service clarify whether the reduction or suspen-

sion of the phased retirement benefit is the appropriate

remedy when an employee works more hours than

expected for an employer maintaining the plan under the

phased retirement program. Also, the NCCMP asked

what happens in the multiemployer setting when an

employee works more than the expected number of hours

for an employer who does not maintain the multiemploy-

er plan. Finally, the NCCMP’s comments requested clari-

fication of how the reduction in hours or “full-time” des-

ignation works in the context of multiemployer plans

where it is difficult to determine a reduction in hours for

an employee who works for several different contributing

employers during the phased retirement period.

Relative Value Regulations 
The NCCMP asked the IRS to clarify that plans that

use simplified actuarial factors to convert to optional

payment forms are in compliance with the regulations if

they comply based on representative ages, even if they do

not comply at every age. In addition, the NCCMP

requested that the IRS reaffirm the principle that actuar-

ial equivalence may be based on consistently applied fac-

tors for groupings of participants as well as for each par-

ticipant or all participants. Finally, the NCCMP asked

that the IRS provide amendment relief for plans that may

wish to change from simplified actuarial factors to specif-

ic actuarial factors by providing that such plans may be

amended for annuity starting dates no earlier than six

months after the date of adoption of the amendment.

Minimum Required Distributions
The NCCMP expressed its concern to IRS that the

relief from disqualification for isolated failures to make

minimum required distributions under Internal Revenue

Code Section 401(a)(9) should be maintained for multi-

employer plans as long as the plans follow reasonable

compliance procedures. The mobility of the multiemploy-

er plan workforce, coupled with the high number of termi-

nated vested participants with small benefits that may be

overlooked, and the fact that benefits are administered
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separately from the employer and that plans must rely on

information from outside sources for participant addresses

and birthdates, means that it will never be possible for mul-

tiemployer plans to be certain they have started mandato-

ry distributions to all affected participants. The NCCMP

requested that the final regulations specifically state that a

plan will not be disqualified for failure to make a manda-

tory distribution if the plan has taken reasonable steps to

do so.

Subrogation
The NCCMP recently endorsed the proposed change

in the Pension Protection Act (PPA), which contains a

necessary correction to ERISA resulting from recent

court decisions that have called into question the ability

of multiemployer plans to provide a valuable service to

plan participants who are involved in accidents that may

be the responsibility of an unrelated third party.

In a letter to House and Senate conferees, the

NCCMP maintained that the plans’ subrogation feature

is good for the participants of jointly sponsored multiem-

ployer plans. With the notable exception of workers’

compensation claims, multiemployer plans commonly

advance payment for health benefit claims on behalf of

participants who have been injured as a result of a third

party’s negligence under the subrogation provisions of

the plans and trusts. That practice is dependent on the

participant’s agreement to reimburse the plan if the par-

ticipant recovers from the negligent third party that

caused his injuries. If multiemployer plans cannot seek

reimbursement for those amounts, they will have no

recourse than to stop advancing such payments for those

injuries and treat such claims in the same way that work-

ers’ compensation claims are handled today (that is,

denied pending a final determination of liability).

Ultimately, claim payments to providers will be slowed,

participants will be dunned while awaiting adjudication

by the other payers, participants’ credit will be adversely

affected, and additional health care resources will be con-

sumed by yet an additional layer of administrative

expense. The NCCMP urged the pension reform confer-

ees to adopt the proposed language to amend ERISA

Section 502(a)(3) and protect this valuable benefit for

plan participants.

Fundamental Tax Reform
The NCCMP continues to monitor legislative tax pro-

posals ranging from: migrating from income taxes to a

national sales tax or consumption tax; eliminating the tax

favored treatment of employer-provided health benefits;

creating associated health plans (unless they make an

exception to their onerous rules for multiemployer

plans); or replacing the tax advantages of our current

employer-provided health coverage with tax deductions

and credits for health insurance that employees must pur-

chase for themselves on the open market. The NCCMP

will vigorously participate in the public debate that pre-

cedes such fundamental changes in our benefit programs

and associated tax structure.

Medicare Prescription Drug Part D
Although the final design of the Medicare Plan D pro-

gram has some serious flaws and limitations, the NCCMP

actively participated in the legislative process, succeeding

in having the rules governing employer subsidies amend-

ed from the legislation’s initial drafts by permitting the

fund to receive such subsidies directly rather than having

them passed along to each contributing employer accord-

ing to an extremely complex formula related to the

employer’s contributions relative to the cost of retiree

health benefits.

We Need NCCMP More Now Than Ever Before
Under the guise of the so-called “ownership society,”

new and broader assaults intended to deprive American

workers of their hard-won pension and health care cov-

erage are launched against worker benefit plans each leg-

islative session. The NCCMP has expressed its deep

appreciation to the officers and members of the

International Association of Bridge, Structural,

Ornamental and Reinforcing Iron Workers and all mem-

ber plans and participants without whose support the leg-

islative and regulatory advances made on behalf of mul-

tiemployer plans over the last five years would not have

been possible. Your continued support of these efforts is

the only way to ensure that multiemployer plans and

their participants continue to have a chance of preserving

these important social programs for current and future

generations.

Negotiated Benefit Funds – 
Outside Local Unions

Local benefit programs represent a major portion of

the economic security negotiated for our outside local

union membership and their families. The Iron Workers

health benefit funds provide protection that is absolutely

necessary for ironworkers and their families throughout

their working lifetime. And the Iron Worker pension

funds continue to provide substantial levels of retirement

income for both the ironworker and their spouse. The

protection afforded by these pension funds is strength-

ened by the annuity funds, which provide ironworkers

with additional savings and a source of supplemental

income at retirement. Many annuity funds have been

changed to allow participants to make their own choices

of where to invest their annuity fund monies, thus allow-

ing ironworkers to invest a portion of their overall retire-

ment portfolio according to their individual risk and

reward preferences. However, the pension funds remain

one of the most important components of retirement
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income as the benefits provided can be depended upon at

retirement.

The local benefit funds are facing many challenges at

this time. Unlike previous years, when we saw the stock

market perform exceptionally well for extended periods

of time, there is increased uncertainty and volatility in the

current market. The pronounced underperformance dur-

ing the period 2000 through 2002 continues to have an

effect on funding status and future costs for the large

majority of funds. The performance of the market con-

tributed to the ability of many of the local pension funds

to make benefit improvements as the value of their pen-

sion fund assets grew with the stock market during the

bull-market years in the 90’s. The decline of the market

during the first few years of the current decade have had

the reverse impact, forcing funds to cope with possible

reductions in future benefit levels coupled with increases

in contribution rates. The Pension Reform Legislation

that was in Conference Committee at the time that this

material was prepared attempts to address some of the

funding issues created, in large part, by the decline of the

investment market during the early years of this decade.

However, the impact of the final legislation will need to

be reviewed for each Pension Plan’s specific circumstance

in order to determine if the relief that has been sought

through this legislative process has survived the political

machinations of election year lawmaking, as well as sort

through the additional disclosure and other requirements

that are likely to come out of the legislation.

Our local union health funds continue to face many

challenges. Health care costs continue to rise in spite of

the cost containment efforts by various institutions.

Although somewhat moderating from previous levels,

costs continue to increase at double-digit levels.

According to projections performed by various consult-

ing firms, health care claim costs are projected to increase

by 14 – 15% for traditional indemnity plans in 2006.

HMO and PPO plans are projected to increase around

12%. The pressures caused by such double-digit increas-

es have continued to make this issue one of national con-

cern. The issues of funding Medicare and Social Security

continue to be deeply divisive on partisan lines, with the

missteps of the Medicare Part D program continuing to

confuse the very people that it was intended to assist.

Of note, however, is the seeming change in focus when

analyzing the components of health costs on a plan level.

While it is necessary to continue to negotiate the best dis-

counts in terms of fixed administrative and network

access costs or all-inclusive premiums, there has been a

shift of focus on identifying and managing the particular

disease states that drive health plan costs. There has been

a gradual change from cost-shifting strategies to long-

term strategies that identify the cost and quality of serv-

ices and seek to manage these more effectively.

The continual march toward retirement of the “Baby

Boom” generation has been discussed at great length. This

demographic shift will put pressure on both our local

union pension funds in terms of their cash flow liquidity

requirements, as well as our local union health funds in

terms of possible increased utilization by an aging work-

force. This shift will also serve to exacerbate the issue of

the high costs of providing retiree health coverage. Those

local unions health funds that currently provide no-cost or

subsidized retiree health coverage are faced with the

prospect of double-digit health care cost increases, coupled

with a growing number of members that may be eligible

for retiree coverage in the near future. Proper planning

and consideration are of the utmost importance in facing

these dual issues, while continuing to provide retirees with

much-needed health coverage.

While there are many challenges facing our local

union fringe benefit funds in the near future and undoubt-

edly in the long-term, the local unions will continue to

build upon the strong foundation that has been laid. The

members of the International Association of Bridge,

Structural, Ornamental and Reinforcing Iron Workers

continue to be the leaders in the construction industry

and will continue to use their collective creativity and

strength to conquer the issues that will arise in the future.

Portability of Fringe Benefits
Portability is an area where the Iron Workers continue

to make outstanding progress. The International

Association’s Reciprocal Pension, Reciprocal Health and

Welfare Agreements and Reciprocal Annuity Agreements

represent the comprehensive effort initiated by the

International Association to protect the rights of our iron-

workers.

Background
Historically, the “boomer” has played a significant role

in our industry since its inception. For various reasons, our

members have had to travel to work in different regions of

the country and be separated from their families, homes

and local unions by great distances. Sometimes these work

patterns are the result of personal choice, but they are

more often the result of economic necessity, as the local

construction market experiences a periodic recession that

forces ironworkers to “boom out” to find work.

On April 4, 1982, ninety Iron Worker business agents

and financial secretaries from the United States and

Canada, who also served as Trustees on their independ-

ent local union or district council pension and welfare

plans, came together at the George Meany Center to

make history. Their purpose was to create a method to

reduce or eliminate any disruption to the pension and

health benefits of the traveling ironworker. After sever-

al days of discussion and sometimes heated debates, an

agreement was reached that would assure a retirement

pension for an ironworker in a participating pension plan
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almost regardless of where that ironworker traveled. At the

same time, a creative agreement was reached establishing a

method of portability for health fund benefits. These agree-

ments were not only major breakthroughs for the traveling

ironworker and his family, but one of the first of its kind

among the building trades unions and are now used as a

model.

The results of this historic Committee’s diligent efforts

were the new Iron Workers International Reciprocal

Pension Agreement and the first ever Iron Workers

International Reciprocal Health and Welfare Agreement.

These reciprocal agreements were then printed in early

1983 and by mid-1984 the agreements had been adopted

by most Iron Worker Funds. At the end of this section is a

complete listing of reciprocating local unions who partici-

pate under these agreements which indicates each Fund’s

method of reciprocity under the Pension and Welfare

Agreements.

While there remains a need for ironworkers to move to

find work, the portability agreements will allow this to hap-

pen without our members losing the benefits they so justly

earn. Now, more than ever before, local union members can

work in participating outside local unions and be assured of

their pension credits for retirement and the continuity of

their health and welfare fund coverage.

As one of the first agreements of its kind, the Iron

Workers International Reciprocal Agreements will

undoubtedly continue to rank as one of the most important

innovations implemented by this International Association

for the direct benefit of the traveling ironworker, and his

family, whose hard work and sacrifices have contributed so

much to our industry and our union. We continue to

encourage all Ironworkers and trustees to participate in all

of the Reciprocal Agreements in order that our traveling

members can receive all the benefits that they so justly

earn.

A list of the reciprocal agreements follows.

Local Unions Signatory to the Iron Workers 
International Reciprocal Agreements for 
Health & Welfare, Pension and Annuity

Revised JULY 1, 2006

Health & Welfare Pension

A&B = Money Follows A&B = Money Follows 

the Man the Man

A = Point of Claim A = Pro-Rata

Annuity

*** Local Union signatory to the Iron Workers

International Reciprocal Annuity Agreement

U.S. Locals
LU City H&W PENSION ANNUITY

1. CHICAGO, IL A & B A & B ***

3. PITTSBURGH, PA A & B A & B ***

5. WASHINGTON, DC A & B A & B

6. BUFFALO, NY  A & B A & B ***

7. BOSTON, MA A & B A & B ***

8. MILWAUKEE, WI  A & B A & B ***

9. NIAGARA FALLS, NY A & B A & B ***

10. KANSAS CITY, MO A & B A & B ***

11. NEWARK, NJ  A A

12. ALBANY, NY A & B A & B ***

14. SPOKANE, WA  A & B A & B ***

15. HARTFORD, CT A & B A & B

16. BALTIMORE, MD A & B A & B ***

17. CLEVELAND, OH A & B A & B ***

21. OMAHA, NE A & B A & B ***

22. INDIANAPOLIS, IN A & B A & B ***

24. DENVER, CO A & B A & B ***

25. DETROIT, MI A & B A & B ***

27. SALT LAKE CITY, UT A & B A & B ***

28. RICHMOND, VA A & B A & B ***

29. PORTLAND, OR A & B A & B ***

33. ROCHESTER, NY A & B A & B

36. EASTON, PA A A 

37. PROVIDENCE, RI A & B A & B ***

40. NEW YORK, NY A A 

44. CINCINNATI, OH A & B A & B ***

45. JERSEY CITY, NJ A A

46. SPRINGFIELD, IL A & B A & B ***

46-L NEW YORK, NY A & B A & B ***

48. OKLAHOMA CITY, OK A & B A & B ***

55. TOLEDO, OH A & B A & B ***

58. NEW ORLEANS, LA A & B A & B ***

60  SYRACUSE, NY A & B A & B ***

63. CHICAGO, IL A & B A & B ***

66. SAN ANTONIO, TX  A & B A & B ***

67. DES MOINES, IA  A & B A & B ***

68. TRENTON, NJ  A A

70. LOUISVILLE, KY A & B A & B ***

75. PHOENIX, AZ A & B A & B ***

79. NORFOLK, VA  A & B A & B ***

84. HOUSTON, TX  A & B A & B ***

86. SEATTLE, WA  A & B A & B ***

89. CEDAR RAPIDS, IA  A & B A & B ***

92. BIRMINGHAM, AL  A & B A & B ***

103. EVANSVILLE, IN  A & B A & B ***

111. ROCK ISLAND, IL  A & B A & B ***

112. PEORIA, IL  A & B A & B ***
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118. SACRAMENTO, CA  A & B A & B ***

135. GALVESTON, TX  A & B A & B ***

136. CHICAGO, IL  A & B A & B ***

147. FT. WAYNE, IN  A & B A & B ***

155. FRESNO, CA  A & B A & B ***

167. MEMPHIS, TN  A & B A & B ***

172. COLUMBUS, OH  A & B A & B ***

197. NEW YORK, NY  A

201. WASHINGTON, DC  A & B A & B ***

207. YOUNGSTOWN, OH  A & B A & B ***

229. SAN DIEGO, CA  A & B A & B ***

263. DALLAS/FORT WORTH, TX A & B A & B ***

272. MIAMI, FL  A & B A & B

290. DAYTON, OH  A & B A & B ***

292. SOUTH BEND, IN  A & B A & B ***

301. CHARLESTON, WV A & B A & B ***

321. LITTLE ROCK, AR  A & B A & B ***

340. BATTLE CREEK, MI  A & B A & B ***

350. ATLANTIC CITY, NJ  A A 

361. BROOKLYN, NY  A A

372. CINCINNATI, OH A & B A & B ***

373. PERTH AMBOY, NJ A A

377. SAN FRANCISCO, CA A & B A & B ***

378. OAKLAND, CA  A & B A & B ***

379. LAFAYETTE, IN A & B A & B ***

380. CHAMPAIGN, IL A & B ***

383. MADISON, WI  A & B A & B ***

384. KNOXVILLE, TN  A & B A & B ***

387. ATLANTA, GA  A & B A & B ***

392. EAST ST. LOUIS, IL  A & B A & B ***

393. AURORA, IL  A & B A & B ***

395. HAMMOND, IN A & B A & B ***

396. ST. LOUIS, MO A & B A & B ***

397. TAMPA, FL  A & B A & B ***

399. CAMDEN, NJ A A

401. PHILADELPHIA, PA A  A

402. W. PALM BEACH, FL  A & B A & B ***

404. HARRISBURG, PA  A A

405. PHILADELPHIA, PA  A A

416. LOS ANGELES, CA  A & B A & B ***

417. NEWBURGH, NY  A A

420. READING, PA  A A

424. NEW HAVEN, CT  A & B A & B 

433. LOS ANGELES, CA  A & B A & B ***

439. TERRE HAUTE, IN  A & B A & B ***

440. UTICA, NY  A & B A & B ***

444. JOLIET, IL  A & B A & B ***

451. WILMINGTON, DE  A A

469. JACKSON, MS  A & B A & B ***

474. MANCHESTER, NH  A & B A & B ***

477. SHEFFIELD, AL  A & B A & B ***

480. ELIZABETH, NJ  A  A

482. AUSTIN, TX  A & B A & B ***

483. HACKENSACK, NJ  A A

489. SCRANTON, PA  A A

492. NASHVILLE, TN  A & B A & B ***

495. ALBUQUERQUE, NM  A & B A & B ***

496. PORTLAND, ME  A & B A & B ***

498. ROCKFORD, IL  A & B A & B ***

512. MINNEAPOLIS-ST. PAUL, MN A & B A & B ***

549. WHEELING, WV  A & B A & B ***

550. CANTON, OH  A & B A & B ***

568. CUMBERLAND, MD  A & B A & B

577. BURLINGTON, IA  A & B A & B ***

580. NEW YORK, NY  A 

584. TULSA, OK  A & B A & B ***

591. SHREVEPORT, LA A & B A & B ***

597. JACKSONVILLE, FL A & B A & B

601. CHARLESTON, SC A & B A & B ***

623. BATON ROUGE, LA  A & B A & B ***

697. ROANOKE, VA A & B A & B ***

704. CHATTANOOGA, TN A & B A & B ***

709. SAVANNAH, GA  A & B A & B ***

710. MONROE, LA  A & B A & B ***

732. POCATELLO, ID A & B A & B ***

751. ANCHORAGE, AK A & B A & B ***

769. ASHLAND, KY  A & B A & B ***

772. CLEARFIELD, PA  A & B A & B ***

782. PADUCAH, KY  A & B A & B ***

787. PARKERSBURG, WV  A & B A & B ***

798. MOBILE , AL  A & B A & B ***

808. ORLANDO, FL  A & B A & B ***

843. GREENSBORO, NC A & B A & B ***

846. WASHINGTON, D.C. A & B A & B ***

Canada
LU City H&W PENSION ANNUITY

97. VANCOUVER, BC A & B A & B

700. WINDSOR, ON  A

720. EDMONTON, AB A & B A & B

721. TORONTO, ON A & B A & B

725. CALGARY, AB A & B A & B

728. WINNIPEG, MB A & B A & B ***

736. HAMILTON, ON A

752. HALIFAX, NS A & B A & B

759. THUNDER BAY, ON A

765. OTTAWA, ON A

771. REGINA, SK A & B A & B

786. SUDBURY, ON  A

842. ST. JOHN, NB A & B A & B ***
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Death Benefit Fund
In advance of each convention, a detailed study of the

International Association’s Death Benefit Fund is made

and, through this report, is presented to the delegates.

This report reviews the Fund’s operation and reflects the

experience contained in the General Treasurer’s Report,

while reviewing both the operation of the Death Benefit

Fund and the facts concerning its operation, together

with a projection of the program’s future direction. The

report also provides a basis for the convention’s delibera-

tion of future death benefits.

The Death Benefit Fund has operated for the last five-

year period on a sound financial basis. While paying the

highest death benefits ever paid by the International

Association, the Fund has maintained healthy reserves

against future downturns in interest rates or other eco-

nomic contingencies. However, the investment return for

the Fund during the period 2001, 2002 and 2003 was well

below the 71Џ2% benchmark due to the challenging mar-

ket conditions during that period. The result was a

decline in the net assets of the Fund for the first time in

over 20 years. Accordingly, the specifics of the Death

Benefit Fund’s operation and projected future scenarios

must be reviewed prior to their deliberation by the dele-

gates at the convention in order to inform any decisions

on the future level of death benefits from the Fund.

Background
At its inception, the International Association’s Death

Benefit Fund represented the sole source of life insur-

ance protection for our membership. This Fund existed

before Social Security and before any of our negotiated

health benefits were begun. So, at a time when conven-

tional life insurance policies were prohibitively expen-

sive, the International Association provided a much-

needed death benefit for its membership.

In addition to death benefits provided through the

negotiated health plans and Social Security, the negotiat-

ed pension plans’ joint and survivor provisions have been

strengthened and coverage extended for ironworkers’

surviving spouses. Now, widows of ironworkers usually

are protected both immediately and on a long-term basis.

Generally, the ironworkers negotiated-health plans will

pay a death benefit against immediate needs to the iron-

worker’s designated beneficiary. Then, assuming the

ironworker was vested, his negotiated pension plan will

pay a longer-term pension benefit to his surviving spouse.

The combination of the negotiated health plan’s immedi-

ate death benefit coverage, Social Security and the

defined benefit pension coverage now provides an iron-

workers’ family with relatively extensive protection.

While the Death Benefit Fund may now only provide a

modest amount of the total security afforded an iron-

worker and his family, we are proud to be able to have

provided this coverage continuously since 1932. The fol-

lowing chart summarizes the maximum benefits that

were in effect in 1932 and the changes that have occurred

since the 1981 convention. It should be noted that the

benefits were dramatically cut in 1964 and have been

improved at almost each convention since then.

CHANGES IN BENEFIT LEVEL
Maximum Benefit

1932 1981* 1986* 1991* 1996** 2001**

$400 $1000 $1250 $1500 $1650 $2000

*Amount is tripled if death is due to an on-the-job acci-
dental death

** Amount is quadrupled if death is due to an on-the-job
accidental death

Since its inception, the Death Benefit Fund has been

financed by a death benefit assessment started at $0.25 per

month in 1932, which increased to $0.50 in 1960 and again

to $0.75 per member per month in 1964, its present level.

Today the Fund continues to operate on a sound financial

basis, while maintaining the death benefit assessment at

the same rate for more than forty years.

Fund Financial and Benefit Experience
Table 1 details the progress of the Death Benefit Fund

since December 31, 1986. There are several periods of sig-

nificant note, the period of growth since 1995 and the mod-

est declines starting in 2002. Death benefits paid per thou-

sand have leveled off, from a high of close to 14 people per

thousand to under 12 people per thousand. Consistent with

an aging population, the number of deaths per one thou-

sand has generally increased each year, with the last ten

years seeing a moderation in the rate.

Since the beginning of the historical period, the benefits

paid by the Death Benefit Fund have required the total of

the assessment income received plus some portion of the

Fund’s net earnings, whether they are derived from interest

or capital gains. Accordingly, the Death Benefit Fund has

been “net interest” dependent, meaning that without the

interest earnings, the Fund could only continue the current

level of coverage for a limited period of time before either

the assessment was raised or the benefit lowered or a com-

bination of both. The experience of the last five years has

produced net investment yields, meaning net after expens-

es, during the period 2000 through 2005 as follows: +7.4 per-

cent, +4.2 percent, -1.0 percent, -6.0 percent, +9.1 percent

and +6.7%, respectively. Almost as important as the earn-

ings rate in an interest dependent environment, is the rate

at which money is being spent.

The death rate per 1,000 and the on-the-job accidental

death percentages are indicative of the rate at which money

is spent, barring any disaster. Presently, the death rate per

1,000 covered members has decreased somewhat to 11.9 per

1000, which is approximately the same as in 1986. The num-

ber of accidental deaths occurring each year continues to
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decline. This is good news, in that it indicates that our Iron

Worker training safety courses continue to be effective and

the equipment and conditions are safer as well. It also means

that the rate at which the death benefits are paid out more

closely reflects normal mortality based on age.

While we have discussed the facts that age and mor-

tality rates have an effect on the rate at which money is

spent, the level of benefits paid has an even greater

impact on the amount spent in the course of any meas-

urement period. Table 1 shows that, while the total death

benefits paid over the period has grown, the net assets of

the Fund have grown at a faster rate, more than doubling

by 2001 and then decreasing somewhat due to the invest-

ment market environment. With the assessment holding

constant over this period, it is clear that the increases in

the death benefit over the period were made based on

the investment return on the assets. Again, it is important

to emphasize that the Death Benefit Fund is significantly

dependent on investment earnings and the continued

strength of the Death Benefit Fund is more dependent

than ever on factors that are not within the control of the

average ironworker of this International Association.

Projection
At the last convention the death benefits paid by the

Death Benefit Fund were substantially increased based

on the recommendation of the Constitution Committee.

The Committee’s recommendation was based on projec-

tions prepared by our consultants. We are constantly

investigating the possibility of securing greater benefits

for our members, if it is fiscally prudent to make such an

increase. Accordingly, we requested our consultants to

prepare Death Benefit Fund projections for the consid-

eration of the Constitution Committee.

Table 2 shows the number of death benefits paid

based on an average level of membership of 126,200

with 1% increase in membership. While an assumption

has been made as to the average level of membership, it

should be noted that because of future economic uncer-

tainty, it is possible that the membership assumption will

not develop as projected. During the ten-year period,

we expect that there will be a continued increase in the

number of claims paid by the Fund each year. In effect,

as the membership continues to mature, claims levels

are projected to increase to over 1,800 claims per year.

In view of past experience, we think it is prudent to

anticipate these future increases in claims.

Based on these and other assumptions, we have pro-

jected the future growth of the Death Benefits Fund.

This is reflected in Table 3. However, the projection of

the future growth of the Death Benefits Fund is and will

continue to be totally dependent on interest income and

market value appreciation as it is anticipated that bene-

fit payments will far exceed assessment income.

Accordingly, if we anticipate average membership of

126,200 over the next ten years, it is projected that the

reserves will be slightly more than $29,900,000 at the end

of the ten-year period based on an earnings assumption

of 7.0 percent and an average benefit payment of $2,000.

If we project that there will be an average of 132,500

members over the next ten years, the reserves are pro-

jected to be slightly more than $30,048,000, at the end of

the ten-year period. This shows that the increase in

assessment income associated with an increase in mem-

bership more than offsets the additional death benefits

paid over the projection period.

As this report indicates, the Death Benefit Fund is

projected to continue to operate on a sound financial

basis, however the reserves are projected to decrease

slightly over the projection period. The extent to which

the reserves decline will be based largely on the per-

formance of the investment market, given the cash flow

needs of the Fund. The importance of maintaining sub-

stantial reserves against possible catastrophic claims or

any further sharp reductions in membership cannot be

overstated in helping to keep the assessment at the

current level, while prudently considering increases in

the level of benefits. While an earnings assumption of

7.0 percent has been used to project investment

income, the negative earnings during the early 2000s

has shown the variability that is inherent in the

investment market.

Therefore, to guide the delegates in their delib-

erations, we have requested our actuaries to make

projections for the next 10 years based on a max-

imum death benefit of $2,400 and based on a

number of membership level (See Table 4). In

each of the projections, the following assumptions

were made:

Assessments –Assumes a $0.75 per month assess-

ment for each member. Assessments are 95 per-

cent effective.

Interest Assumption - Assumes a seven percent

interest assumption.

Claims Experience – Based on mortality statis-

tics in the 1983 Group Annuity Mortality Table.

Reflects quadruple indemnity for accidental

death on the job.

The average benefit paid is equal to the maximum.

The projections show that an increase of $400 to

the death benefit would result in a substantial

reduction in the Death Benefit Fund reserves,

which are projected to decline by 33% by the end

of the projection period. Clearly, this level of

increase would not be sustainable based on the cur-

rent assessment rate.

Given the projected deficits in the Death
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Benefit Fund, we are exploring another possibility.

As discussed in the General Treasurer’s Report, we

are discussing termination of the Old Age and

Disability Fund prospectively, as this Fund has

served its purpose well over the years, but is not

projected to be a self-sustaining Fund in the future.

The annual travel service dues that helped to fund

that program could then be used to better fund the

Death Benefit Fund and potentially allow for an

increase in the death benefit. For purposes of this

projection, we have assumed that those dues will

average approximately $250,000 per year. Table 5

shows the projected status of the Death Benefit

Fund if the maximum $2,000 death benefit were

increased to $2,200, coupled with 1% increases in

the membership base. The projection shows that

the $200 increase in the death benefit would be

supported through 2009, with net assets starting to

decline in 2010. Of course, the actual investment

return, travel service dues, and death benefit pay-

ments made in the future will determine the fund-

ed status of the plan.

At this point, I would note that the goal of this

body with regard to the Death Benefit Fund

should be to maintain a stable Fund and benefit

level that the membership can depend on.

Accordingly, a review of any changes that require

an amendment will be conducted by the

Constitution Committee. Our actuaries will be

available to the Constitution Committee.

Delegates can appear before the Committee and

the Committee will prepare a report and their rec-

ommendations to this convention.
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Conclusion
This report has been assembled for our 41st Convention

and I believe it will give the delegates and all our mem-

bers an accurate understanding concerning the operations

of our International Association during the past five

years. It is a detailed report and each subject was drafted

and redrafted. This report is a fair representation, in short

form, of our activities and our goals for the future.

The delegates who have attended previous conventions

are aware we have followed the same procedure as we

have for many conventions, such as reading this report

from time to time during the Convention. This is to make

sure the entire record is placed in front of the delegates

so they are fully informed about the operations of this

International Association. It is my request to the dele-

gates that they, too, advise our members to read the

report and the entire proceedings of the convention when

it is published in the October and November issues of The
Ironworker. By encouraging our members to read the

report and the convention proceedings, you, as delegates,

will have contributed greatly to having a well-informed

membership.

Together the officers and staff have improved effi-

ciency and streamlined operations throughout our

International by modernizing and using new technology to

our advantage. In politics, we have strengthened our voice

on Capitol Hill and we have won jobs for our membership

by persuading Congress to release funds for construction.

We have modernized and upgraded apprenticeship and

training materials. We have strengthened our jurisdiction.

We have reached out into new areas in environmental

cleanup by training and certifying our membership. We

have also made a total commitment to organizing.

Finally, I would like to take this opportunity to tell

each member of our great union how proud and honored

I am to be your president. Ironworkers are the greatest

people on earth, and I will never forsake the trust you

have placed in me as your president.

As our great union seeks to expand through “A

Bridge To the Future” as incorporated in our convention

theme, I look forward to this 41st Convention with hope,

pride, and enthusiasm.

We must leave this convention in solidarity because

we need to work together to grow and prosper.And there

is certainly no doubt that our united spirit, our aspiration,

goals and dreams will prevail.
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Recommendations
I recommend that the International Constitution be

amended as follows:

Article II, Membership

Amend Section 3 to read as follows:

Sec. 3. No person shall be admitted to member-

ship in this Association or any Local Union

thereof who is a member of, or associated with,

any organization or body of Communists, Nazis,

Fascists, terrorists or any organization which

advocates or furthers the principles or policies of

Communism, Nazism, Fascism, terrorism, or

other principles or policies opposed to the prin-

ciples of the Constitution of the United States or

Canada, or to the purposes, aims, or objects of

this Association.

Amend Section 7 to read as follows:

Sec. 7. Except as otherwise specified in this

Constitution, a member shall not be considered

in good standing who is one (1) month in arrears

in payment of dues, assessments, fines, or other

financial obligation, nor in continuous good

standing for any period during which said mem-

ber has at any time been in default for one (1)

month in payment of dues, assessments, fines, or

other financial obligation. Dues, assessments and

fine payments for each calendar month shall be

payable on the first day of that month.

Article V, Conventions

Amend Article V, Section 7a, to read as follows:

Sec. 7a. This Constitution may be amended at

any regular Convention of the Association if

there is cast in favor of the adoption of the pro-

posed amendment three-fourths (3/4) of the total

number of votes which all Local Unions, through

their delegates are entitled to cast upon such

proposed amendments and not otherwise during

any Convention. Amendments of the

Constitution adopted as required in this Section,

shall become effective upon adoption, unless
otherwise stated in the amendment. The General

Executive Council is granted the authority and

empowered to amend this Constitution between

regular Conventions on an interim basis to meet

emergencies or to promote the best interest of

the International Association and its member-

ship, when it is evident that the best interest of

the membership can be served by taking action

between Conventions, such amendments shall be

subject to ratification by the delegates at the next

regular Convention. The General Executive
Council shall have the authority to amend the
Constitution  between regular Conventions to
correct typographical, grammatical or formatting
errors provided said changes do not change
meaning or intent. When the International Con-
stitution is amended and such amendment
affects other Articles and Sections of the Inter-
national Constitution, said Articles and Sections
shall also be changed. These changes will not
require approval by Convention action.

Article VII, Officers

Amend Section 4 to read as follows:

Sec. 4. There shall be one (1) election of officers

at each Convention with nominations and elec-
tion of officers occurring on the second day. Can-
didates for an elected office must file an official
affidavit form indicating which office they are
seeking by June 1 of the Convention year. Affi-
davit forms will be available from the General
Secretary’s office on March 1 of the Convention
year. The affidavit form must be returned to the
General Secretary’s office by a mail or delivery
service requiring signature upon receipt. Notice
for filing the candidate affidavit form will be
printed in THE IRONWORKER at least one
hundred and eighty (180) days prior to the Con-
vention. Notice of the day for nominations, the

nomination procedure, and the day for election

of officers shall be printed in THE IRON-

WORKER and distributed at least thirty (30)

days prior to the Convention. The election of

officers shall be by plurality vote with each can-

didate voted on individually and shall be con-

ducted by three (3) Judges of Election.

Amend Section 8 to read as follows:

Sec. 8. The General President, General Secretary,

General Treasurer and General Vice Presidents,

by virtue of their offices, shall be accredited dele-

gates to all Conventions of the International

Association, have full voice and vote, and shall be

eligible to election at said Conventions.
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Article IX, General President

Amend Article IX by inserting the following as a new
section:

When conducting his duties as required under

normal business practice or on business of the

International Association, the General President

is authorized to have his spouse and/or other

employees of the International Association and

their spouses accompany him at International

union expense.

Article XI-A, General Organizers

Amend Section 2 by inserting the words “and the Gener-
al Treasurer” following the words “General Secretary”

Article XII, General Executive Board

Amend the last sentence of Section 7 to read as follows:

Within a reasonable time after the General

Executive Board has placed a Local Union under

International supervision, the General Executive

Board or its representative may hold a full and

fair hearing to determine the propriety of such

action giving reasonable notice of such hearing.

Article XIII, General Executive Council

Amend Section 3 by deleting the words “at International
Headquarters” from the last sentence of this Section

Amend Article XIII by adding a new Section at the end
of the Article to read as follows:

a. The General Executive Council shall have the

authority to amend Article IV, Jurisdiction, when

deemed necessary, to claim for the membership

any additional work not previously included in

Article IV. These changes will not require

approval by Convention action.

b. The General Executive Council shall have the

authority to amend the Constitution  between

regular Conventions to correct typographical,

grammatical or formatting errors provided said

changes do not change meaning or intent. When

the International Constitution is amended and

such amendment affects other Articles and

Sections of the International Constitution, said

Articles and Sections shall also be changed.

These changes will not require approval by

Convention action.

Article XVI, Sources of Revenue

Amend Section 2b by deleting it in its entirety and insert-
ing the following in its place:

Sec. 2b. Each Outside member, except Lifetime

Honorary members, shall pay an assessment of

Three Dollars ($3.00) per month to the

International Ironworkers Organizing Fund. The

disbursements from this Fund shall be approved

by the General Executive Board, disbursed

through the General Treasurer’s Office and shall

be used solely for the purpose of meeting the

financial requirements of organizing the unor-

ganized and for no other purpose. The General

Executive Council shall have the authority to

increase the International Ironworkers

Organizing Fund assessment, if such increase is

determined absolutely necessary by the General

Executive Council.

Article XVIII, Death Benefit Fund

Amend Section 3 by deleting the words “on order of the
General Secretary” from the second sentence

Amend Section 4 by deleting the words “General Secre-
tary” and inserting the words “General Treasurer” in
their place

Amend Section 5 by deleting the words “General Secre-
tary” and inserting the words “General Treasurer” in
their place

Article XIX, General Rules

Amend Section 9a by deleting the words “Executive
Board” and inserting the word “Secretary” in their 
place and inserting the words “for the period of the first
enlistment”

Amend the last paragraph of Section 10 to read as
follows:

Charges under this Section shall be in writing

and filed with the General President, who shall,

by inspection, determine whether they be of a

nature to justify trial.The General President may

return any charges so filed for amendment or for

such additional explanation or specification as

the General President deems proper. If, in the

General President’s opinion, the charges be such

as to justify a trial, the General President shall,

without unnecessary delay, arrange for a trial by

the General Executive Board, or Local Union as
provided in Article XXVI, Section 14 of this
Constitution, to be conducted in one of the
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two forms described in the next succeeding

Section, the particular form to be determined by

the General President; provided, however, that a

General Officer against whom charges have

been filed shall be tried by the General

Executive Council as provided in Article VII,

Section 9. Every member brought to trial before

the General Executive Board shall be served

with written charges, given a reasonable time to

prepare a defense, and afforded a full and fair

hearing.

Amend Section 13, paragraph (b), to read as follows:

(b) Every application for a withdrawal card shall
be made to the Local Union and if approved by
the Local Union in regular meeting, such
approval shall be certified by the President and

Recording Secretary of the Local Union and sent

with the application to the General Secretary at

International Headquarters; whereupon the

General Secretary shall issue the card and trans-

mit the same to the applicant through the

Recording Secretary of the Local Union.

Amend Section 13, paragraph (g), by deleting the words
“and give notice thereof in THE IRONWORKER”

Article XXI, Local Unions

Amend Section 28a by deleting the words “at least four
(4) months” and inserting the words “not less than sixty
(60) days” in their place

Article XXIII, Apprentices

Amend Section 5 to read as follows:

Sec. 5. Local Unions shall regulate the amount of

dues of apprentices except that Local Unions

shall not charge full dues and apprentices shall

not be permitted to hold any office in any Local

Union, or to represent or act for any Local

Union in any capacity. Apprentices, after com-
pleting their first year of apprenticeship, shall be
allowed to vote on all Local Union matters and
in Local Union elections.

Article XXVI, Constitution Governing All Local Unions

Amend Article XXVI by inserting the following as Sec-
tion 1:

Sec. 1a. All monies collected for or by the Local

Union shall be known as the General Fund, and

all Local Union expenses shall be paid therefrom.

Sec. 1b. Any member performing duties for the

Union, by its order which compels the member

to cease regular employment, shall receive not

less than regular wages, and reasonable expenses,

duly itemized and receipted for.

Sec. 1c. The funds of this Union shall not be

appropriated, contributed or donated, except for

the purpose of maintaining and helping others

maintain union principles, wages and/or hours as

sponsored by the International Association of

Bridge, Structural, Ornamental, and Reinforcing

Iron Workers. Contributions, appropriations or

donations must be proposed at a regular meeting

and be sustained by a majority vote, stating pur-

pose, amount, etc., and if such amount is over

One Thousand Dollars ($1,000.00) such amount

shall again be voted upon at the following regu-

lar meeting as unfinished business; a vote of two-

thirds (2/3) of the members present is necessary

to carry.

Amend Section 5 by inserting the following sentence
after the third sentence of this Section:

Payment of fines shall be in accordance with the

guidelines established by the General Secretary’s

office.

Amend Article XXVI by inserting the following as a new
Section:

Salaried Officers Training

All elected full-time salaried officers, Business

Managers, Financial Secretary-Treasurers and

Business Agents are required to attend educa-

tional classes conducted by the International

within one (1) year of election. The cost of

attending the classes shall be paid by the Local

Union.

Amend Section 14, paragraph 6 by deleting the words
“for misdemeanor”

Amend Section 15, paragraph 9, by deleting the words
“elected at the next regular meeting” and inserting the
words “shall be appointed by the President” in their
place
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Article XXVIII, Special Provisions Governing Shop and
Navy Yard Riggers Locals Only

Amend Section 14 to read as follows:

Sec. 14. Each Shop and Navy Yard Rigger mem-

ber, except retired members, shall pay an assess-

ment of Three Dollars ($3.00) per month to the

Initial Organizing Contract Fund, a separate

Fund maintained for the purpose of defraying

the Local Union’s expenses in obtaining the first

initial contract following the organizing of a

shop. The Fund may be used to defray the cost of

research, educational material and defense. The

General Executive Board shall provide rules and

regulations governing the administration of the

Fund. The General Executive Council shall have
the authority to increase the Initial Organizing
Contract Fund assessment, if such increase is
determined absolutely necessary by the General
Executive Council.

I also recommend that the appropriate Committee

review Article XXI, Section 37 of the International

Constitution, stated below, to consider a possible increase

in the amount of travel service dues:

Sec. 37. Each Local Union issuing a travel service

dues receipt shall charge to and collect from all

those persons within its territorial jurisdiction to

whom this Article shall apply travel service dues

in the amount of Five Dollars ($5.00) per week.

Upon payment of the proper dues there shall be

issued a travel service dues receipt to each trav-

eling member or to each applicant for member-

ship. The amount of travel service dues shall be

the same for traveling members and for appli-

cants.

I further recommend the following changes in the

International Constitution:

In all sections of the Constitution requiring that mail be

sent by certified mail, return receipt requested, change

the wording to read as follows: “by a mail or delivery
service requiring signature upon receipt.”

I also recommend the following changes to the General

Information and Rules in Connection with the

Nomination and Election of Local Union Officers and/or

Delegates to the International Convention as follows:

General Information Applicable to Outside Local
Unions Only (Page 2)

Apprentice members, not being full dues paying

members, are not eligible to be nominated or
hold office. Apprentices, after completing their
first year of apprenticeship, shall be allowed to
vote on all Local Union matters and in Local
Union elections.

Conflicting Nominations and/or Offices (Elected or
Appointed) (Page 5)

1. President or Vice President and 

Executive Committee Member

2. President or Vice President and 

Examining Committee Member

3. President or Vice President and Trustee

4. President or Vice President and Treasurer

5. President or Vice President and 

Financial Secretary

6. President or Vice President and 

Recording Secretary

Judges of Election Guide—Outline of Basic Procedure
to be Followed in Local Union Elections (Page 11)

A. The Local Union will supply the Judges of
Election with a potential voter list prepared in
alphabetical order. In addition to this list, the

Judges of Election should use two (2) “VOTED”

hand stamps, two (2) ink pads, ball point pens,

and at least one (1) legal tablet.



96 THE IRONWORKER



OCTOBER 2006 97

Report of General Secretary Michael A. Fitzpatrick

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TITLE PAGE

District Councils/Local Unions Organized and/or Discontinued ........................................................................ 98

Membership ................................................................................................................................................................ 98

Wage Increases............................................................................................................................................................ 98

Apprenticeship Progress............................................................................................................................................ 98

Ironworker-Management Progressive Action Cooperative Trust – I.M.P.A.C.T. .................................................. 99

Ironworkers Job Line ................................................................................................................................................ 99

International Agreements.......................................................................................................................................... 99

Ironworkers Labor Orientation Seminar ................................................................................................................ 99

Record of Membership for Five (5) Years July 1, 2001 - June 30, 2006 ............................................................ 100

Recapitulation .......................................................................................................................................................... 101

Membership Record for the Fiscal Years 1904 to 2006 ...................................................................................... 102

Number of Delegates Allowed Each Affiliated Local Union ............................................................................ 103

District Councils Organized and Charters Installed During

the Five (5) Year Period - July 1, 2001 to June 30, 2006 ................................................................................ 106

Total Number of Locals as of June 30, 2006 ........................................................................................................ 106

Number of Locals Revoked from July 1, 2001 to June 30, 2006 ........................................................................ 106

Locals Revoked ........................................................................................................................................................ 106

Report of the General Executive Council ............................................................................................................ 107

Summary of the Cases Considered by the General Executive Council ............................................................ 108

Report of the General Executive Board .............................................................................................................. 108

Summary of Cases that were Considered and Acted Upon by the 

General Executive Board during the Five (5) Year Period Beginning July 1, 2001 

and Ending June 30, 2006 .................................................................................................................................. 108

Recommendations .................................................................................................................................................... 110



98 THE IRONWORKER

Pursuant to the provisions of the Constitution of the

International Association, I submit herewith for the consider-

ation of  the Delegates assembled at this 41st Convention of

the International Association of Bridge, Structural,

Ornamental and Reinforcing Iron Workers, and the member-

ship, in general, a condensed report which briefly sets forth the

activities of the Office of the General Secretary for the fiscal

years beginning July 1, 2001, and ending June 30, 2006.

District Councils/Local Unions
Organized and/or Discontinued

There were two Local Unions organized and/or char-

tered during the period from July 1, 2001 to June 30, 2006.

This is set out elsewhere in this report. There was one (1)

District Council that was organized and chartered during the

period from July 1, 2001 to June 30, 2006.

Two (2) new Local Union charters were issued and

installed during the past five (5) year period, and twenty-

nine (29) Local Union charters were revoked during this

same period of time. Two (2)  District Council charters were

revoked. Accordingly, there are now 132 Outside Local

Unions, 66 Shopmen Local Unions and 7 Outside/Shop

Local Unions, making a total of 205  Local Unions affili-

ated with this International Association.

Membership
In this report, you will find a detailed record of the mem-

bership of this International Association showing the

increase and decrease during the five-year period ending

June 30, 2006.

As of June 30, 2001, the total membership of this

International Association was 134,007 and on June 30, 2006,

the total membership is 127,242 showing a decrease of 6,765.

From July 1, 2001 to June 30, 2006, there were 42,316 new

members initiated into membership; 11,806 former members

were reinstated into membership; and 1,044 former members

deposited withdrawal cards, resulting in a total increase in

membership of 55,166. Also during this period of time 47,796

members were suspended for non-payment of dues; 8,288

members deceased; 3,418 members were issued withdrawal

cards; 6 members were expelled; and 2,423 members had their

membership revoked by the General Executive Board, which

represents a deduction in membership of 61,931.

Organizing the unorganized is still the top priority item

with this International Association. This Organization will

continue, as it has in the past, with a vigorous and aggressive

organizing campaign in both shop and field construction.

Wage Increases
We continue to face many obstacles in negotiating better

wages and benefits for our members. Many of these are the

result of anti-union activities by the current administration

occupying the White House. However, the amount of out-

sourcing that has taken place during the past five years is

more of a concern. With American companies moving their

work overseas, where employees are treated with less dignity

and respect and incur lower wages, it is difficult for many of

our contractors to compete.

Fortunately, by working diligently with our fair union

contractors, we have seen significant improvement in the

wages, benefits and working conditions for our members.

These contractors are to be commended for their commit-

ment to our members.

I am pleased to advise that, overall, our wage structure

and fringe benefit contributions are higher than they have

been in the past and are comparable to and even better than

many of the other Building and Construction Trades crafts. I

would like to thank our Local Unions for their continued

diligence in fair negotiating at the table, commitment to sub-

mitting all necessary information for protection of our rights

under the Davis-Bacon Act and the steps they take each and

every day to insure physically safe and financially beneficial

working conditions for all of our members.

Apprenticeship Progress
Our Apprenticeship, Training and Journeyman

Upgrading programs continue to be the “lifeline” of this

International Association. The greatest tool we have for

combating the open shop market and maintaining our work

jurisdiction is the highly skilled Ironworker. This is why such

a high priority has been set by our office for apprenticeship,

training and journeyman upgrading. Numerous communica-

tions have been sent to all Iron Worker Local Unions in the

United States and Canada emphasizing that we must con-

tinue to indenture and train as many apprentices as possible

and to establish journeyman upgrading classes that are so

vital to the future of our trade.

Currently, this International has a total of 11,888 appren-

tices and trainees in the United States and Canada with

more than 500 additional pending apprentice initiations. It is

our goal to continue the work necessary to maintain or

exceed this number and to further enable our local unions to

provide the skilled workforce necessary to the future well-

being of our Organization.

The Annual Ironworkers’ Instructors Training Program

Report of General Secretary Michael A. Fitzpatrick

to the Forty-First Convention of the International Association of

Bridge, Structural, Ornamental and Reinforcing Iron Workers
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is an excellent example of one way we assist our Local

Unions in developing the qualified instructors necessary to

teach our apprentices and provide adequate journeyman

upgrading. This program is extremely beneficial in keeping

our workforce current with the changing trends in all facets

of our trade. The General Secretary’s office maintains daily

contact with the Apprenticeship Department and works dili-

gently with them to achieve the communication and service

which are necessary for successful implementation of pro-

grams such as this.

At the Convention in 2001, I reported nearly 100% par-

ticipation in the National Ironworkers and Employers

Apprenticeship Training and Journeyman Upgrading Fund.

This showed tremendous support for the apprenticeship,

training and journeyman upgrading programs in place at

that time. Each Local Union and District Council that par-

ticipated, and those still participating, are to be commended

for their desire to keep our workforce up-to-date in training

and allowing us to remain one of the strongest organizations

in the Building Trades.

Ironworker-Management Progressive
Action Cooperative Trust – I.M.P.A.C.T.

Building on the success of the National Ironworkers and

Employers Apprenticeship Training and Journeyman

Upgrading Fund, on April 21, 2003, this International imple-

mented the Ironworker-Management Progressive Action

Cooperative Trust – I.M.P.A.C.T. The purposes of

I.M.P.A.C.T. are to increase our market share, deliver more

jobs and improve long-term job security by providing a well

trained, highly skilled work force through education, train-

ing, communication, cooperation and governmental lobby-

ing and legislative initiatives. I am pleased to advise we cur-

rently have 122 Local Unions in the United States and

Canada which have negotiated I.M.P.A.C.T. into their local

Collective Bargaining Agreements, with many additional

locals looking to do so in the near future.

Contributions to I.M.P.A.C.T. are in lieu of those

made to the Institute of the Ironworking Industry

(I.I.I.) and the National Ironworkers and Employers

Apprenticeship Training and Journeyman Upgrading Fund

(N.I.E.A.T.J.U.F.). However, the goals remain the same – to

provide the training and other programs necessary to keep

our members employed with fair wages and benefits and

safe working conditions.

Ironworkers Job Line
Effective July 1, 1994, this International began providing

a toll free 800 number that members could call to locate

work throughout the United States and Canada. This num-

ber is updated daily and is available 24 hours a day, 7 days a

week. Prior to June 2005, this number was published

monthly in The Ironworker magazine. For the period July

2004 through June 2005, the Job Line recorded an average of

53,814 calls monthly. As of June 2005 we ceased publication

of the number in our magazine and began referring mem-

bers to the web site, www.ironworkers.org. From July 2005

through June 2006, the Job Line recorded an average of

33,579 calls monthly. Referring members to the web site has,

apparently, allowed us to provide additional information to

the membership, reduce the number of calls to the job line

and contribute to reducing the costs of providing manpower

needs information to our members.

In the spring of 2005, General Treasurer Walter Wise

renegotiated the contract with the provider of our Job Line

service and, as a result of contract renegotiation and the

reduction in calls placed to the job line this International has

realized a savings of more than Seventy Thousand Dollars

($70,000). This has been a tremendous savings while still

providing the same, or better, services to our members.

International Agreements
As of June 30, 2006, the total number of firms signatory

to the standard form of the International Agreement is 179.

On February 11, 2004, correspondence was directed to

each contractor signatory to the International Agreement

advising the Agreement had been revised. Revisions includ-

ed Section 6 which enables employers to make fringe bene-

fit contributions for key employees directly to the home

local union of those employees. However, in order to invoke

Section 6, the employer must have a signed participation

agreement with the home Local Union of the key employee.

The other change enacted at that time was under Section

14 and raised the dollar amount of the security bond to One

Hundred Thousand Dollars ($100,000). This change was

necessary to better protect our members from the few

instances in which an employer may default on payment of

wages or fringe benefits.

There are 777 firms signatory to the National Maintenance

Agreements with this International Association, of which 632

are signatory to the NMA (National Maintenance Agreement

for Repair, Replacement, Renovation and Maintenance Work)

and 145 are signatory to the NCEFR (National Maintenance

Agreement for Remodeling, Repair, Replacement, Renovation

and Maintenance Work).

Ironworkers Labor Orientation Seminar
The first Ironworkers Labor Orientation Seminar was

held in the fall of 1990. The seminar was established to give

a brief overview of all the Departments associated with this

International as well as providing basic material and infor-

mation relevant to their performance as a local union offi-

cer. Invitations are sent to newly elected and/or appointed

financial secretaries, business managers, business agents and

organizers. This seminar has proven to be one of the most

successful programs this International has established. All

past attendees have praised the seminar and during the peri-

od of July 1, 2001 through June 30, 2006, there have been 195

participants from various local unions in the United States

and Canada. The seminar usually lasts 2-1/2 to 3 days.
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Record of Membership for Five Years July 1, 2001 - June 30, 2006

Number of Members as of June 30, 2001 134,007

New members initiated, July 1, 2001 to June 30, 2002 10,000

Ex-members reinstated, July 1, 2001 to June 30, 2002 2,402

Withdrawals deposited, July 1, 2001 to June 30, 2002 266

Increase in membership, July 1, 2001 to June 30, 2002 12,668

Members suspended, July 1, 2001 to June 30, 2002  10,595

Members expelled, July 1, 2001 to June 30, 2002 1

Members deceased, July 1, 2001 to June 30, 2002 1,719

Withdrawals issued, July 1, 2001 to June 30, 2002 605

Revoked members, July 1, 2001 to June 30, 2002 300

Decrease in membership, July 1, 2001 to June 30, 2002 13,220

Number of Members as of June 30, 2002 133,455

Average Number of Members as of June 30, 2002 134,469

New members initiated, July 1, 2002 to June 30, 2003 7,435

Ex-members reinstated, July 1, 2002 to June 30, 2003 2,266

Withdrawals deposited, July 1, 2002 to June 30, 2003 196

Increase in membership, July 1, 2002 to June 30, 2003 9,897

Members suspended, July 1, 2002 to June 30, 2003 10,401

Members expelled, July 1, 2002 to June 30, 2003 2

Members deceased, July 1, 2002 to June 30, 2003 1,700

Withdrawals issued, July 1, 2002 to June 30, 2003 611

Revoked members, July 1, 2002 to June 30, 2003 558

Decrease in membership, July 1, 2002 to June 30, 2003 13,272

Number of Members as of June 30, 2003 130,080

Average Number of Members as of June 30, 2003 130,928

New members initiated, July 1, 2003 to June 30, 2004 6,537

Ex-members reinstated, July 1, 2003 to June 30, 2004 2,172

Withdrawals deposited, July 1, 2003 to June 30, 2004 182

Increase in membership, July 1, 2003 to June 30, 2004 8,891

Members suspended, July 1, 2003 to June 30, 2004 9,312

Members expelled, July 1, 2003 to June 30, 2004 1

Members deceased, July 1, 2003 to June 30, 2004 1,708

Withdrawals issued, July 1, 2003 to June 30, 2004 763

Revoked members, July 1, 2003 to June 30, 2004 581

Decrease in membership, July 1, 2003 to June 30, 2004 12,365

Number of Members as of June 30, 2004 126,606

Average Number of Members as of June 30, 2004 127,009
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New members initiated, July 1, 2004 to June 30, 2005 8,022

Ex-members reinstated, July 1, 2004 to June 30, 2005 2,349

Withdrawals deposited, July 1, 2004 to June 30, 2005 206

Increase in membership, July 1, 2004 to June 30, 2005 10,577

Members suspended, July 1, 2004 to June 30, 2005 9,110

Members expelled, July 1, 2004 to June 30, 2005 0

Members deceased, July 1, 2004 to June 30, 2005 1,611

Withdrawals issued, July 1, 2004 to June 30, 2005 776

Revoked members, July 1, 2004 to June 30, 2005 527

Decrease in membership, July 1, 2004 to June 30, 2005 12,024

Number of Members as of June 30, 2005 125,159

Average Number of Members as of June 30, 2005 125,437

New members initiated, July 1, 2005 to June 30, 2006 10,322

Ex-members reinstated, July 1, 2005 to June 30, 2006 2,617

Withdrawals deposited, July 1, 2005 to June 30, 2006 194

Increase in membership, July 1, 2005 to June 30, 2006 13,133

Members suspended, July 1, 2005 to June 30, 2006 8,378

Members expelled, July 1, 2005 to June 30, 2006 2

Members deceased, July 1, 2005 to June 30, 2006 1,550

Withdrawals issued, July 1, 2005 to June 30, 2006 663

Revoked members, July 1, 2005 to June 30, 2006 457

Decrease in membership, July 1, 2005 to June 30, 2006 11,050

Number of Members as of June 30, 2006 127,242

Average Number of Members as of June 30, 2006 127,222

Recapitulation

Total number of new members initiated, July 1, 2001

to June 30, 2006 42,316

Total number of reinstatements, July 1, 2001 to

June 30, 2006 11,806

Total number of withdrawal cards deposited,

July 1, 2001 to June 30, 2006 1,044

TOTAL 55,166

Total number of members suspended, July 1, 2001 to June 30, 2006 47,796

Total number of members expelled, July 1, 2001 to June 30, 2006 6

Total number of members deceased, July 1, 2001 to June 30, 2006 8,288

Total number of withdrawal cards issued, July 1, 2001 to June 30, 2006 3,418

Total number of revoked members, July 1, 2001 to June 30, 2006 2,423

TOTAL 61,931

Net decrease  in membership, July 1, 2001 to June 30, 2006 –6,765
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1904-1905 

1905-1906

1906-1907

1907-1908

1908-1909

1909-1910

1910-1911

1911-1912

1912-1913

1913-1914

1914-1915

1915-1916

1916-1917

1917-1918

1918-1919

1919-1920

1920-1921

1921-1922

1922-1923

1923-1924

1924-1925

1925-1926

1926-1927

1927-1928

1928-1929

1929-1930

1930-1931

1931-1932

1932-1933

1933-1934

1934-1935

1935-1936

1936-1937

1937-1938

1938-1939

1939-1940

10,216

9,776

11,574

10,422

9,607

10,872

12,230

10,928

12,222

13,184

12,334

14,209

15,985

18,607

24,047

27,560

22,418

15,113

17,021

19,249

19,572

19,310

21,474 

21,639

22,547

22,471

19,112

14,504

10,318

11,731

13,220

17,222

31,678

42,263

38,765

41,261

1940-1941

1941-1942

1942-1943

1943-1944

1944-1945

1945-1946

1946-1947

1947-1948

1948-1949

1949-1950

1950-1951

1951-1952

1952-1953

1953-1954

1954-1955

1955-1956

1956-1957

1957-1958

1958-1959

1959-1960

1960-1961

1961-1962

1962-1963

1963-1964

1964-1965

1965-1966

1966-1967

1967-1968

1968-1969

1969-1970

1970-1971

1971-1972

62,651

94,364

115,607

100,492

94,409

93,079

98,918

104,901

103,481

101,093

114,674

130,928

138,245

140,789

135,563

139,469

151,551

156,028

148,767

146,362

138,416

136,610

136,616

138,366

144,565

156,172

162,354

164,902

169,657

175,646

176,808

175,827

1972-1973

1973-1974

1974-1975

1975-1976

1976-1977

1977-1978

1978-1979

1979-1980

1980-1981

1981-1982

1982-1983

1983-1984

1984-1985

1985-1986

1986-1987

1987-1988

1988-1989

1989-1990

1990-1991

1991-1992

1992-1993

1993-1994

1994-1995

1995-1996

1996-1997

1997-1998

1998-1999

1999-2000

2000-2001

2001-2002

2002-2003

2003-2004

2004-2005

2005-2006

176,766

180,034

181,062

180,011

176,544

174,144

176,545

179,278

182,046

181,314

169,442

160,324

155,515

153,151

148,445

142,647

141,379

142,801

140,442

137,281

130,217

125,680

124,080

122,904

122,267

123,288

127,132

130,804

134,007

134,469

130,928

127,009

125,437

127,222

Membership Record for the Fiscal Years 1904 to 2006
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L.U. No. of 
No. Delegates

City and State/Province

1 Chicago, Illinois 10

3 Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 11

5 Washington, D.C. 6

6 Buffalo, New York 6

7 Boston, Massachusetts 13

8 Milwaukee, Wisconsin 8

9 Niagara Falls, New York 2

10 Kansas City, Missouri 8

11 Newark, New Jersey 5

12 Albany, New York 5

14 Spokane, Washington 6

15 Hartford, Connecticut 6

16 Baltimore, Maryland 8

17 Cleveland, Ohio 9

21 Omaha, Nebraska 6

22 Indianapolis, Indiana 6

24 Denver, Colorado 7

25 Detroit, Michigan 15

27 Salt Lake City, Utah 6

28 Richmond, Virginia 2

29 Portland, Oregon 7

33 Rochester, New York 4

36 Easton, Pennsylvania 2

37 Providence, Rhode Island 5

40 New York, New York 9

44 Cincinnati, Ohio 6

45 Jersey City, New Jersey 3

46 Springfield, Illinois 3

46L New York, New York 7

48 Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 3

55 Toledo, Ohio 7

58 New Orleans, Louisiana 5

60 Syracuse, New York 4

63 Chicago, Illinois 9

66 San Antonio, Texas 3

67 Des Moines, Iowa 4

68 Trenton, New Jersey 3

70 Louisville, Kentucky 6

75 Phoenix, Arizona 8

79 Norfolk, Virginia 3

84 Houston, Texas 6

86 Seattle, Washington 10

89 Cedar Rapids, Iowa 4

92 Birmingham, Alabama 5

97 Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada 8

103 Evansville, Indiana 6

111 Rock Island, Illinois 3

112 Peoria, Illinois 4

118 Sacramento, California 8

135 Galveston, Texas 4

136 Chicago, Illinois (International Supervision) 0

147 Ft. Wayne, Indiana 3

155 Fresno, California 5

167 Memphis, Tennessee 3

172 Columbus, Ohio 6

197 New York, New York 2

201 Washington, D.C. 5

207 Youngstown, Ohio 5

228 Portsmouth, Virginia 1

229 San Diego, California 9

263 Dallas/Ft. Worth, Texas 8

Number of Delegates Allowed Each Affiliated Local Union
as Provided for Under Article VI, Sections 1A-1C

of the International Constitution in Accordance with 
Membership Record July 1, 2001 through June 30, 2006
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272 Miami, Florida 6

290 Dayton, Ohio 7

292 South Bend, Indiana 3

301 Charleston, West Virginia 3

321 Little Rock, Arkansas 3

340 Battle Creek, Michigan 6

350 Atlantic City, New Jersey 2

361 Brooklyn, New York 7

372 Cincinnati, Ohio 3

373 Perth Amboy, New Jersey 5

377 San Francisco, California 10

378 Oakland, California 10

379 Lafayette, Indiana 2

380 Champaign, Illinois 2

383 Madison, Wisconsin 4

384 Knoxville, Tennessee 4

387 Atlanta, Georgia (International Supervision) 0

392 East St. Louis, Illinois 6

393 Aurora, Illinois 4

395 Hammond, Indiana 7

396 St. Louis, Missouri 11

397 Tampa, Florida 5

399 Camden, New Jersey 7

401 Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 7

402 West Palm Beach, Florida 3

404 Harrisburg, Pennsylvania 3

405 Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 4

416 Los Angeles, California 10

417 Newburgh, New York 4

420 Reading, Pennsylvania 2

424 New Haven, Connecticut 4

433 Los Angeles, California 13

439 Terre Haute, Indiana 3

440 Utica, New York 4

444 Joliet, Illinois 6

451 Wilmington, Delaware 3

455 New York, New York 1

468 Cleveland, Ohio 2

469 Jackson, Mississippi 4

470 Jamestown, New York 1

473 Chicago, Illinois 3

474 Manchester, New Hampshire 2

477 Sheffield, Alabama 4

480 Elizabeth, New Jersey 3

482 Austin, Texas 3

483 Hackensack, New Jersey 3

486 Washington, D.C. 2

489 Scranton, Pennsylvania 6

492 Nashville, Tennessee 4

493 Des Moines, Iowa 1

495 Albuquerque, New Mexico 4

496 Portland, Maine 2

498 Rockford, Illinois 4

499 Toledo, Ohio 1

501 Boston, Massachusetts 2

502 Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 2

506 Seattle,Washington (International Supervision) 0

508 Detroit, Michigan 2

509 Los Angeles, California 3

512 Minneapolis-St. Paul, Minnesota 10

516 Portland, Oregon 4

518 St. Louis, Missouri (International Supervision) 0

520 Kansas City, Missouri 1

521 Scranton, Pennsylvania 1

522 Cincinnati, Ohio (International Supervision) 0

523 Pawtucket, Rhode Island 1

526 Chattanooga, Tennessee (Not Represented) 0

527 Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 2

535 Minneapolis-St. Paul, Minnesota 2

536 Dallas, Texas 1

549 Wheeling, West Virginia 5

550 Canton, Ohio 4

553 Omaha, Nebraska 1

568 Cumberland, Maryland 2
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576 Buffalo, New York (International Supervision) 0

577 Burlington, Iowa 1

580 New York, New York 9

584 Tulsa, Oklahoma 7

585 Vincennes, Indiana 1

590 Aurora, Illinois 1

591 Shreveport, Louisiana 3

597 Jacksonville, Florida 3

601 Charleston, South Carolina 
(International Supervision) 0

612 Syracuse, New York 1

623 Baton Rouge, Louisiana 6

624 Fresno, California 1

625 Honolulu, Hawaii 6

642 Erie, Pennsylvania 1

643 Victoria, British Columbia, Canada 1

665 Madison, Wisconsin 1

691 Rock Island, Illinois 1

697 Roanoke, Virginia 3

698 Miami, Florida 2

700 Windsor, Ontario, Canada 7

704 Chattanooga, Tennessee 6

709 Savannah, Georgia 4

710 Monroe, Louisiana 2

711 Montreal, Quebec, Canada 10

712 Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada 6

720 Edmonton, Alberta, Canada 7

721 Toronto, Ontario, Canada 11

725 Calgary, Alberta, Canada 5

726 Ft. Wayne, Indiana 2

728 Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada 2

730 Elkhart, Indiana (Not Represented) 0

732 Pocatello, Idaho 4

733 Nashville, Tennessee 

(International Supervision) 0

736 Hamilton, Ontario, Canada 8

742 Honolulu, Hawaii 1

745 Portsmouth, New Hampshire 1

751 Anchorage, Alaska 3

752 Halifax, Nova Scotia, Canada 5

759 Thunder Bay, North Ontario, Canada 3

764 St. John’s, Newfoundland, Canada 6

765 Ottawa, Ontario, Canada 4

769 Ashland, Kentucky 5

771 Regina, Saskatchewan, Canada 4

772 Clearfield, Pennsylvania 3

778 Lima, Ohio (Not Represented) 0

781 Norfolk, Virginia 1

782 Paducah, Kentucky 5

786 Sudbury, Ontario, Canada 4

787 Parkersburg, West Virginia 4

790 San Francisco, California 3

798 Mobile, Alabama 4

803 Honolulu, Hawaii 1

805 Calgary, Alberta, Canada 2

807 Winslow, Maine 1

808 Orlando, Florida 7

809 St. John, New Brunswick, Canada 1

811 Wausau, Wisconsin 2

812 Asheville, North Carolina 1

822 Lewisburg, Pennsylvania 1

824 Gouverneur, New York 1

825 LaCrosse, Wisconsin 1

831 Wayne, Michigan 1

832 Meriden, Connecticut 
(International Supervision) 0

834 Toronto, Ontario, Canada 1

835 Scarborough, Ontario, Canada 1

838 Regina, Saskatchewan, Canada 1

842 St. John, New Brunswick, Canada 5

843 Greensboro, North Carolina 
(International Supervision) 0

844 Pinole, California (International Supervision) 0

846 Washington, D.C. (International Supervision) 0

TOTAL – 832
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District Councils Organized and Charters Installed During the Five (5) Year Period —

July 1, 2001 to June 30, 2006 Inclusive

District Council & Date Organized
New York State Ironworkers District Council

Chartered September 28, 2003

Local Union & Date Organized
Local Union No. 845, Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada -

Chartered September 21, 2002*

Regional Local Union No. 846, Washington, D.C. –

Chartered February 10, 2004

*Charter was revoked on May 1, 2004

Total Number of Locals as of June 30, 2006

132  Outside Locals

66 Shop Locals

7 Outside & Shop Locals Mixed

205 Total

Number of Locals Revoked from
July 1, 2001 to June 30, 2006

13 Outside Locals

16 Shop Locals

29 Charters Revoked

Locals Revoked
L.U.
No. City and Date

464 (Shop) ........................ Rochester, New York 
May 1, 2001

545 (Shop) ......................... Newark, New Jersey 
February 1, 2002

620 (Shop) .......................... Tulsa, Oklahoma 
September 1, 2002

647 (Shop) ..........................Clinton, Iowa 
December 1, 2002

682 (Shop) .......................... Louisville, Kentucky 
February 1, 2003

627 (Shop) ........................ San Diego, California 
July 1, 2003

799 (Shop) ........................ Lafayette, Indiana
August 1, 2003

827 (Shop) ....................... Danville, Illinois 
August 1, 2003

357 (Outside) ................... Springfield, Massachusetts
August 1, 2003

348 (Outside) .................... Erie, Pennsylvania
March 1, 2004

753 (Shop) ........................ Bristol, Virginia 
March 1, 2004

563 (Outside) .................... Duluth, Minnesota
April 19, 2004

793 (Outside) ................... Bismarck, North Dakota 
April 19, 2004

125 (Outside) ................... Beaumont, Texas 
May 1, 2004

621 (Shop) ....................... Conklin, New York 
May 1, 2004

830 (Shop) ....................... Casper, Wyoming 
June 1, 2004

845 (Shop) ....................... Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada
May 1, 2004

161 (Outside) ....................Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
June 1, 2004

529 (Shop) ....................... Muncie, Indiana 
December 1, 2004

820 (Shop) ....................... Mt. Vernon, Ohio 
December 1, 2004

465 (Outside) .................... Kankakee, Illinois 
January 1, 2005

386 (Outside) .................... LaSalle, Illinois 
June 1, 2005

57 (Outside) ..................... Worcester, Massachusetts 
July 1, 2005

514 (Shop) ......................... Peoria, Illinois 
November 1, 2005

454 (Outside) .................... Casper, Wyoming
December 1, 2005

184 (Outside) ..................... Sioux City, Iowa 
January 1, 2006

606 (Outside) ..................... Wichita, Kansas 
January 1, 2006

841 (Outside) ..................... Helena, Montana
January 1, 2006

594 (Shop) ......................... Bethlehem, Pennsylvania 
June 1, 2006

This concludes the report of the General Secretary for

the past five (5) years ending June 30, 2006.
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There were ten (10)  formal meetings of the General

Executive Council held during the fiscal years beginning,

July 1, 2001, and ending June 30, 2006.

In order that the membership of this International

Association and the Delegates in attendance at this

Convention can become familiar with the many matters

considered by the General Executive Council, a general

listing summarizing the matters acted upon is set forth in

the following section.

Report of the General Executive Council

Summary of the Cases Considered by
the General Executive Council

General Executive Council
July 1, 2001 - June 30, 2006 Inclusive

Appeals from the Decision of the General Executive

Board and/or General Executive Council — 9

Apprenticeship and Training Program — 9

Building and Construction Trades Department — 17

Changes in Per Capita Structure, etc. — 3

Charters – Local Unions/District Councils — 32

Developments in Collective Bargaining and Review of

Negotiations — 10

Elections – Local Union — 10

Equal Employment Opportunity Program, Civil Rights,

Persons Working on Permit, etc. — 10

Financial Status of International Headquarters,

etc. — 29

Health, Welfare and Pension Plans — 26

International Convention, Arrangements, Agenda, Major

Issues, Convention City, Hotel, etc. — 5

International Staff, Changes, Appointments, Resignations,

etc. — 17

Investments Consulting Program and Transactions — 44

Legal Matters — 9

Matters Relating to Agreements and Meetings with

Contractor Associations and Other Trades — 46

Matters Referred to the International Convention — 0

Miscellaneous Matters — 41

National   Joint   Board, Impartial   Disputes   Board,

Joint Administrative Committee, etc. — 9

Organizing Programs — 22

Political Activities and Legislation — 15

Progress of the Institute of the Ironworking Industry and

IMPACT — 11

Reciprocal Pension Plan — 7

Report of Membership Status — 20

Report of Ornamental, Architectural and Miscellaneous

Metal — 7

Report of Shopmen’s Division — 9

Review of Canadian Operations — 9

Review of Development in Connection with Davis-Bacon

Regulations — 2

Review of Financial Progress of Various Funds — 25

Review of Jurisdictional Relationship with Other

Trades — 11

Review of Maintenance Agreements and Activities — 38

Review of Market Recovery Program — 0

Review of Project Agreements — 8

Safety Activities — 10

Salary and Expenses Adjustments, etc. — 4

Staff Retirement Plan — 6

Status of Supervision — 11

TOTAL — 541
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During the five (5) year period beginning July 1, 2001,

and ending June 30, 2006, the General Executive Board

of this International Association took under considera-

tion and rendered judgment on a total of  19,715 cases.

During this five (5) year period of time, 9 appeals

from the decision of the General Executive Board were

made to the General Executive Council, and in all cases

the General Executive Council reaffirmed the decision

rendered by the General Executive Board.

The actions taken by the General Executive Board

referred to are listed herewith for the information of the

Delegates in attendance, as well as the membership of the

Local Unions affiliated with this International

Association.

Report of the General Executive Board

Summary of Cases that were Considered and Acted Upon by the 
General Executive Board during the Five (5) Year Period 

beginning July 1, 2001 and ending June 30, 2006

General Executive Board
July 1, 2001 - June 30, 2006 Inclusive

Applications for change of classification — 3,728

Appeals from Fines and Penalties levied against Members 

by Local Unions — 41

Applications for Charters for Local Unions/District

Councils which were issued and/or moved — 4

Applications for Old Age and Disability Pensions

approved — 6,240

Charters of Local Unions Revoked — 29

Circular letters sent out — 12

Differential Fees — 0

Election Protests, Convention and/or Local Union

Offices — 16

Expulsion of Journeyman Membership — 6

International Agreements approved — 241

International Agreements canceled — 62

Investment of Funds — 1

Legal Matters — 0

Local Unions placed under International Supervision — 12

Local Unions released from International Supervision — 3

Miscellaneous Matters — 236

Projects placed under Supervision — 0

Requests for approval to adjust dues — 53

Requests for approval of By-laws and Amendments — 546

Requests for approval of Local Union Agreements — 217

Requests for approval to negotiate Local Union 

Agreements — 196

Requests for approval of Working Assessments — 64

Requests for approval of Special Assessments — 32

Requests for approval of Strike Assessments  — 1

Requests to change work hours and work shifts of less 

than five days — 183

Requests for Business Agents to serve as member of

Executive Committee — 2

Requests for financial assistance from District Councils,

Local Unions, Members and Others — 0

Requests for Local Unions to permit members, failing to

keep themselves in continuous good standing, to be candi-

dates for office — 124
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Requests from Local Unions for permission to change

regular meeting date — 132

Requests from Outside Local Unions for permission to

hold Special Meetings — 217

Requests from Shop Local Unions for permission to hold

Special Meetings — 420

Requests for Strike Permission —  99

Requests for Strike Permission denied or rescinded — 0

Requests for Time and one-half —  12

Requests from Members for Transfer —  208

Requests for approval of Project Agreements — 0

Requests for Special Initiation and/or Reinstatement

Fees — 3,710*

Revocation of Apprentice Membership — 2,557

Territorial and Job Jurisdiction Agreements Approved —

26

Transfer of Funds —  189

Withdrawal Cards Annulled/Revoked —  1

Withdrawal Cards Issued — 95

TOTAL —  19,715

*Supervised by the General Executive Board
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Recommendations

Between January 22, 2002 and December 5, 2005, the

General Executive Council met and amended the follow-

ing Articles and Sections of the International

Constitution. I recommend that the International

Constitution be amended, by the Delegates to the 41st

International Convention, as follows:

Article IV, Jurisdiction
Amend  Article IV, Jurisdiction, of the International

Constitution by adding the following words inserted in

“bold” and “underlined” to read as follows:

This International Association claims for its members all

work including but not limited to: the field, fabrication,

production and/or erection and construction of all struc-
tural iron, steel; ornamental lead, bronze, brass, copper,

aluminum, steel, glass, all ferrous and nonferrous metals

and plastics; precast, prestressed and poststressed con-

crete structures, agitators, air ducts, anchors, application

of all sealants such as Thiokol, Neoprene and similar

types used to seal metal surfaces; access door and frames;
air conditioner cans; amusement equipment; anchors;
Geodesic and other domes, decking, diagrams and other
roofing systems; agents and ticket booths, aprons, aque-

ducts, atriums, awnings, acoustical elements, sound barri-
ers, computer floors, bells, bank fixtures, barjoist, blast

furnaces, book stacks, buildings, boilers and stokers, (sec-

tional water tube, and tubular), boxes, bracing, brackets,

bridges and bridge rail, bridge viaducts, bucks, bulkheads,

bumper and bumper posts, bunkers, cableways, cable
slots and cablewells, cages, caissons, canopies and unistrut
canopies, car-dox and carports and enclosures, cart lift
fronts, caps, cast tiling, cat walks, chutes of all types, cir-
cuit breakers, clips, clocks, collars, column casings, col-
umn cladding, column covers, concentrators, counter sup-
ports, conservatories, conveyors, coolers, coping, corbels,

corrugated sheets when attached to steel frames, includ-
ing insulation; cranes (the erection, installation, handling,

operating and maintenance on all forms of construction

work), all types of cranes including jib-cranes; crushers,

cupolas, curb guards, theater curtain and back stage lifts,
curtains, curtain wall, window wall and substitute sys-
tems, stone curtainwall, dams, (cofferdams), decking

(metal); roof decking (such as but not limited to “Cofar”

and similar type materials, as well as “Trusdeck,” Mahon

“M” deck and other dual purpose type roof deck), deco-
rations and displays, dismantling and loading out convey-
ors, aggregate plants, batch plants, refrigeration plants,
derricks including jumping and servicing of hoisting
equipment and personnel hoists, directory boards, room
dividers, docks and dock levelers, doors, metal or metal
clad doors and frames; glass doors, hangar doors, patio

doors; rolling doors; rolling fire and iron doors; sliding
doors; maintenance on doors; fire doors; rolling shutter
doors; door plates; draft curtains; drapery track; domes,

dredges, drums, duct and trench frames and plates, duct
supports, dumb waiter enclosures and fronts, dumpers,

duorails, drywall, metal trim; electrical supports, eleva-

tors, elevator cars, elevator fronts and enclosures, elevator
dust covers and fascia; enamel tanks, enamel vats, ceram-
ic, laminated spandrelite, entrances, erection of steel tow-
ers, erection and dismantling of Monigan walking
dragline, launch hammer bucket wheel excavator and
other trenching equipment; signaling on highlines,
whirley cranes and derricks, buck hoists, man hoists, fork
lifts, material towers and scanning antennae; assembling
and erection of offshore drilling platforms or similar
installations; escalators, escalator trim, approaches and
subframing, expanded metals, expansion joints; erection,
rigging or dismantling of all false work; fascias, fascia sof-
fits; fascia entrances and panels, false work, fans and hot
rooms, fencing of all types, fiberglass or substituted mate-
rials, fire equipment, breaks, stops and fire escapes, fins,

flag poles, floor construction and flooring, floor plates,
flumes, frames, frames in support of boilers, erection, rig-
ging or dismantling of all framework, sheet metal on
fence framework; highway metal plate guardrail; highway
delineators and reflectors (metal or synthetic); guard
cable; highway safety devices; fronts, fur and storage
rooms,  gates, generators, grating, grillage and foundation

work, grills, grill work, guards, guides, greenhouses,
guardhouses, gymnasium equipment, handrails (alu-
minum, glass, metal and plastic); hangers, hanging ceil-

ings, hardware and screens, hoppers, hospital room t.v.
supports and gas supports, hot rooms, inclines, iron doors,

jail and cell work, jail cell beds, benches, bunks, chairs,
tables, mirrors; jail cell access doors; joists (precast, pre-

stressed and poststressed), all types of cranes including
jib cranes; kalomeined doors, kilns, laminated wood
structures, laser beams, lintels, lockers, locks and lock-
smithing, louvres, machinery (moving, hoisting, lowering

and placing on foundations), making and installation of

all articles made of wire and fibrous rope; marquees,

material altered in field such as: framing, cutting, bend-

ing, drilling, burning and welding by acetylene gas and

electric machines; erection of all curtain wall, window
wall, glass, metal floor decking, metal forms and false-

work pertaining to concrete construction, metal furni-

ture, metal strips or tight lacing for decorative or protec-
tive purposes, metal windows and enclosures, mixers,

modular buildings, monorails, multi-plate, name plates
and nosings, nuclear reactors, electromagnetic shielding
plates and atomic vessels including all component parts,
the plumbing, aligning and leveling of all materials and
equipment through the use of optical instruments, oper-

ating devices, operating and dental room light equipment;
oxygen and gas pipe supports, ovens, pans, panic devices
and locks, panels (insulated and non-insulated, factory
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and field assembled), Q-panel; any type panel pertaining
to curtain wall whether it be stone aggregate or precast;
partitions, toilet partitions and supports; pen stocks, pile

drivers, pipe railing, pipe supports, plaques; plastic and
synthetic fences; platforms; playground equipment; poles;
poster frames; porch supports; plates and plate pit liners,
porcelain enameled panels, prefabricated metal buildings,

preglazed windows, storefront, and window walls; pulver-

izers, reinforcing steel, racks, railings (including pipe),

railwork bridgework and maintenance, radiator enclo-
sures, reservoirs, revolving doors, rigging (including ship-

yards, navy yards, vessels and government departments),

rigging in connection with display shows, roofs, mansard
roofs, space roof systems, rolling grills and shutters,

rotors, safe deposit boxes, night depositories and drive-up
equipment, safety devices, safes, sash, preglazed sash,
steel and aluminum sash, scaffolding, scenery equipment;
sculptures and art objects; scum plates; sills and sill
plates; seats, seating and plank seating; security doors;
security door frames; shafting, sheet piling, shelving,

shoring, sidewalk and vault lights, signs, signaling, rigging
and hoisting involved with the use of helicopters; skate
wheels; skip hoists, skylights, slope wall; smoke convey-

ors, smoke plates, space frames, solar energy panels,
spandrels (metal and precast concrete), spillways, stacks,

stacker cranes, stage equipment and counterweight sys-

tem and rigging for asbestos curtain, stairways, including
preengineered stairs; all types of stairs, stairing and steel
supports, steel and fire proof curtains; storefronts and
entrances; stators, stokers, storage racks used as an
entricit part of a building, storage rooms, stoves, subways,

sun shades, support brickwall and steel granite; swim-
ming pool equipment; switch gear, tables, towers, tanks,

target ranges; target range baffles, booths and conveyors;
temporary fencing; thimbles; thresholds; tracks and
guides, track frames; tramways, transformer, travelers,

traveling sheaves, trellises; trim on vaults; turnstiles;
trusses (steel, Howe and combination trusses), tunnels,

turbines, all translucent and plastic material on steel
frame construction, vats, vault doors, vaults, ventilators,

vertical hydraulic elevators, pressure vessels and vessels
of all types, wire mesh, wire work; wall, stub, stud, wall
tires; wainscoting; waste compactors; weather stripping;
weather vanes, weirs and weir plates, welding machines,
wheel guards, winches, windows, window cleaning equip-
ment, window washing hooks, window and door screens
and brackets, window stools, wickets, window washer
track, x-ray equipment, x-ray support. Aligning, leveling
and surveying in conjunction with steel or machinery
erection. The unloading, distributing, stockpiling and
handling of all materials coming under the jurisdictional
claims of the Union. All layout work for the above
regardless of equipment needed to perform operations;
all work in connection with starting, stopping, operating,
maintaining all equipment used in the performance of the

above-listed work; and all labor involved in water and
wind testing of windows and curtain wall.  Ornamental
lead shall consist of the distributing, erection, installation,
removal, uncrating and recrating, unloading and reload-
ing, relocation, repair, maintenance, layout, removal,
replacement, handling, cutting, bending, rigging, jobsite
fabrication, framing, drilling, fitting, burning, incidental
building or scaffolding, welding by combination of vari-
ous gases and electricity. All reinforcing work in connec-
tion with field fabrication, handling, racking, sorting, cut-
ting, bending, hoisting, placing, burning, welding and
tying of all material used to reinforce concrete construc-
tion shall be done by Iron Workers.  Erection of steel
towers, chutes and spouts for concrete where attached to
towers and handling and fastening of cables and guys for
same; unloading, racking, sorting, cutting, bending, hoist-
ing, placing and tying, burning and welding including stud
welding of all iron, steel and metal in reinforced concrete
construction including mesh for floor arches and the
making of hoops and stirrups, metal forms and metal sup-
ports thereof; jacking of slip forms, G.F.R.C., Dryvit Sys-
tem, including the securing by bolting and/or welding and
the installation of steeltex and wire mesh of any type
when used for reinforced concrete construction. Alter-
ation, wrecking, dismantling and repair of all of the above

and all housesmith work and submarine diving in con-

nection with or about the same. The above claims are

subject to trade agreements and decisions of the Plan for

the Settlement of Jurisdictional Disputes in the

Construction Industry of the Building and Construction

Trades Department. The demolition of all of the above
work shall be done by the Iron Workers.

Article V, Section 2
Amend Article V, Section 2, of the International

Constitution, which reads in part:

“…airfare, one day’s travel, each way...”

by inserting the words “direct coach-class” preceding

the words “airfare” to read as follows:

“direct coach-class airfare, one day’s travel, each

way…”

Article V, Section 7
Amend Article V, of the International Constitution

by inserting  the words “Section 7” after the heading enti-

tled, “Order of Business”, and insert the following sen-

tence after “Sec. 7.” so that same reads:

Order of Business

“Sec. 7. The General President, or presiding officer,
shall prescribe, subject to adopted rules, the order of
business.  Such order of business may be as follows.”
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Article VI, Section 7
Amend Article VI, Section 7, of the International

Constitution, by adding the following sentence so that

same reads:

“…forfeit his office. Furthermore, no member receiv-
ing pension benefits, to the extent permitted by law, may
serve as a delegate to the Convention.”

Article VII, Section 5
Amend Article VII, Section 5, of the International

Constitution, by changing the word “majority” to the

word “plurality” which reads in part:

“…A plurality of all votes cast shall be necessary for

an election.”

Article VIII, Sections 1 through 6
Amend Article VIII, Sections 1 through 6, of the

International Constitution, to read  in part as follows:

“…effective January 1, 2004, the three percent (3%)
salary increase will, in lieu of a salary increase, be utilized
to increase the contributions to the Staff Retirement
Plan.”

“…effective January 1, 2005, the salary levels shall be
restored to reflect three percent (3%) salary increases for
January 1, 2003, January 1, 2004, and January 1, 2005,
with all salary increases effective retroactive January 1,
2005, and the pension contributions to the Bridge and
Iron Workers Staff Retirement Plan shall be decreased to
twenty-five percent (25%) effective retroactive January
1, 2005.”

and further amend Article VIII, by adding a new

Section 7 to read as follows:

“Sec. 7. The salary increases provided within this
Article VIII of the Constitution for General  Officers,
General Vice Presidents, General Organizers, and certain
other employees of the International Association effec-
tive January 1, 2003, shall, in lieu of salary increases, be
utilized to increase the contributions to the Staff Retire-
ment Plan by said three percent (3%). All or part of the
salary increases scheduled for subsequent years may, on
action of the Trustees of the Staff Retirement Plan and
concurrence by Resolution of the General Executive
Council be similarly reflected as increased contributions
to the Staff Retirement Plan rather than as a salary
increase.”

Article XVIII, Section 2
Amend Article XVIII, Section 2 by adding the fol-

lowing sentence at the end of Section 2, to read as fol-

lows:

“Sec. 2. …With respect to any member in good stand-
ing whose death occurs while said member is on active
duty in the United States Military as a result of injuries
incurred while on active duty, said member shall receive
in all instances the maximum accidental death benefit.”

Article XIX, Section 1
Amend Article XIX, Section 1, of the International

Constitution, by adding the words “and reinstatement”

after the word “initiation” to read, in part, as follows:

“Sec. 1. …The standard initiation and reinstatement
fee for apprentices...”

Article XIX, General Rules, Section 4
Amend Article XIX, General Rules, Section 4, of the

International Constitution, by deleting the following sen-

tences, which read:

“…Violation of this Section shall be sufficient cause

for expulsion from membership in this International

Association and its Local Unions. In addition, any offi-

cer, member or Local Union violating this provision shall

be subject to a fine equal to the full amount of the costs

incurred in the defense of any such action, together with

such costs additional as the court may fix or assess against

such officer, member or Local Union.”

to read, in part, as follows:

“Sec. 4. …This provision  shall require resort to inter-
nal remedies for a period not exceeding four (4) 
months. The provisions of this Section shall be enforced
to the extent permitted by law.”

Article XIX, General Rules, Section 10,
Charges and Trials

Amend Article XIX, General Rules, Section 10,

Charges and Trials, of the International Constitution, by

deleting Subparagraphs 4, 6, and 7, in their entirety, which

read as follows:

“4. Defrauding, slandering or otherwise wronging a

member of the Association.

6. Inciting or attempting to incite dissatisfaction or

dissension among any of the members or Local

Unions of the Association.

7. Publishing or circulating among the membership

false reports or misrepresentations.”

and renumber the remaining Subparagraphs to read,

in part, as follows:

“4. Advocating or attempting to bring about the
withdrawal from the Association…

5. Advocating or attempting to bring about dissolu-
tion or division…

6. Belonging to, subscribing to, or furthering the
principles or policies of…

7. Doing any act or thing which is intended or like-
ly to injure the Association…

8. Engaging in conduct tending to interfere with
the performance by the….”

Further amend Article XIX, General Rules, Section

10, Charges and Trials, of the International Constitution

by deleting the words “in duplicate” found in the last
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paragraph, which shall read in part as follows:

“Charges under this Section shall be in writing and
filed with the General President…”

Article XIX, General Rules, Section 12,
Disabled Members

Amend Article XIX, General Rules, Section 12,

Disabled Members, of the International Constitution, by

changing the words “and all International assessments

except the Convention Fund assessment” to “and the

International Death Benefit Fund and Pension Fund

Assessments,” to read in part as follows:

“Sec. 12. …shall pay Per Capita Tax of Six Dollars

Fifteen Cents ($6.15) per month and the International
Death Benefit Fund and Pension Fund assessments to the

International Association through their Local Union…”

Article XXI, Section 34, Travel Service Dues
Amend Article XXI, Section 34, Travel Service Dues,

of the International Constitution, by changing  the words

“Business Representative” to “Business Manager” in

both places in this Section.

Article XXI, Section 35, Prior Payments of Current
Dues Required

Further amend Article XXI, Section 35, Prior

Payments of Current Dues Required, of the International

Constitution by changing the words “Business

Representative” to “Business Manager.”

Article XXI, Section 40, Failure to Comply
Also amend Article XXI, Section 40, Failure to

Comply, of the International Constitution by changing

the words “Business Representatives” to “Business

Managers.”

Article XXIII, Apprentices, Section 4
Amend Article XXIII, Apprentices, Section 4, of the

International Constitution, by changing the words “one-

half (1/2) the standard initiation fee” to “one hundred

dollars ($100.00),” to read, in part, as follows:

“Sec. 4. All applicants for membership as an initiation

and/or reinstatement in the International Association as

apprentices shall pay a fee of One Hundred Dollars
($100.00)…”

Article XXIII, Apprentices, Section 6
Further amend Article XXIII, Apprentices, Section 6,

of the International Constitution, by changing the words

“Business Representative” to “Business Manager.”

Article XXIII, Apprentices, Section 10
Also amend Article XXIII,Apprentices, Section 10, of

the International Constitution, by deleting the following

words at the end of this section:

“…upon payment of the difference between their ini-

tiation fee and the standard initiation fee of the Local

Union.”

to read, as follows:

“Sec. 10. Apprentices who have served the required
term of apprenticeship and have passed a satisfactory
examination shall be granted a Journeyman membership
card.”

Article XXIII-A, Trainees, Section 4
Amend Article XXIII-A, Trainees, Section 4, of the

International Constitution, by changing the words “one-

half (1/2) the standard initiation fee” to “one hundred

dollars ($100.00),” to read, in part, as follows:

“Sec. 4. All applicants for membership as an initiation

and/or reinstatement in the International Association as

trainees shall pay a fee of One Hundred Dollars
($100.00)…”

Article XXIII-A, Trainees, Section 6
Further amend Article XXIII-A, Trainees, Section 6,

of the International Constitution, by changing the words

“Business Representative” to “Business Manager.”

Article XXIII-A, Trainees, Section 10
Also amend Article XXIII-A, Trainees, Section 10, of

the International Constitution, by deleting the following

words at the end of this section:

“…upon payment of the difference between their initia-

tion fee and the standard initiation fee of the Local Union.”

to read, as follows:

“Sec. 10. Trainees who have served the required term
and have passed a satisfactory examination shall be
granted a Journeyman membership card.”

Article XXV, Rules Governing Old Age and 
Disability Pensions, Section 15

Amend Article XXV, Rules Governing Old Age and

Disability Pensions, Section 15, of the International

Constitution, by changing the words “and all International

assessments except the Convention Fund assessment” to

“and the International Death Benefit Fund and Pension

Fund assessments” to read in part as follows:

“Sec. 15. …shall pay Per Capita Tax of Six Dollars

Fifteen Cents ($6.15) per month and the International
Death Benefit Fund and Pension Fund assessments to the

International Association through their Local Union…”

Article XXVI, Constitution Governing All Local
Unions, Section 11, Duties of Executive Commit-

tee, Paragraphs 1 and 2
Amend Article XXVI, Constitution Governing All Local

Unions, Section 11, Duties of Executive Committee,

Paragraph 1, of the International Constitution, by chang-

ing the words “Business Agent” to “Business Manager.”

Further amend Article XXVI, Constitution Governing All

Local Unions, Section 11, Duties of Executive Committee,

Paragraph 2, of the International Constitution, by changing

the words “Section 29” to “Section 28.”
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Article XXVI, Constitution Governing All Local
Unions, Section 14, Charges, Paragraph 3

Amend Article XXVI, Section 14, Charges, Paragraph

3, of the International Constitution, by deleting the words

“in duplicate” found in the last sentence, which shall read,

in part, as follows:

“…must be sent to the General Secretary immediately…”

Article XXVI, Constitution Governing All Local
Unions, Section 18, Obligation of Members

Amend Article XXVI, Constitution Governing All

Local Unions, Section 18, Obligation of Members, by

deleting:

“that I will not reveal any private business or pro-

ceedings of this Local Union or of the International

Association, or any individual actions of its members;”

to read, in part, as follows:

I (give name) hereby solemnly and sincerely pledge
my honor  that I will, without equivocation or evasion,
and to the best of my ability, abide by the Constitution
and By-Laws…”

Article XXVII, International Pension Plan for 
Full–time Salaried Officers and Employees of 
Local Unions and District Councils Affiliated 
with the International Association, Section 1
Amend Article XXVII, International Pension Plan

for Full-time Salaried Officers and Employees of Local

Unions and District Councils Affiliated with the

International Association, Section 1, of the International

Constitution, by deleting :

“…the sum equal to fifteen percent (15%) effective

January 1, 1997”

and substitute:

“…the sum equal to twenty percent (20%) effective
January 1, 2003; twenty-five percent (25%) effective
March 1, 2005, and thirty percent (30%) effective Jan-
uary 1, 2006.”

Article XXVIII, Special Provisions Governing 
Shop and Navy Yard Riggers Locals Only,

Sections 6a and 6b
Amend Article XXVIII, Shop Stewards and/or

Negotiating Committee, Section 6a and Section 6b, by

changing  the words “Business Agent” to “Business

Manager” and changing the words “Business Agents” to

“Business Managers.”

Article IV, Jurisdiction
Amend Article IV, Jurisdiction, by adding the follow-

ing alphabetically in the applicable part of this Article, so

that same shall read in part as follows:

“…erection and construction of all structural iron, steel,

including light metal studs; amusement rides and  equip-

ment, antennas, baffles, ball mills, barges for casinos, barri-

cades for security, barrier cables, concrete barriers, batch

plant, both permanent and temporary, blast deflectors,

bleachers of all materials, burial containers, cyclones,

degassers, digesters, electronic locking devices for security

cells, fabric skin – tent structures, firewall systems, flues, jet

ways, kilns, melters, modules – the rigging and assembly for

multi-crafts, pasteurizers, peaking units, presses, pulverizers,

shielding of all materials, reactor heads, sun screens, securi-

ty systems – steel, composite, concrete, wire and cable, spray

booths, troughs, wind turbine/generators – assembly, rigging

and maintenance of all related parts, wind walls,…aligning

leveling of all materials and equipment through the use of

optical instruments or lasers.”

I further request that the General Information and
Rules In Connection With the Nomination and Election
of Local Union Officers and/or Delegates to the Interna-
tional Convention, which is a part of the International

Constitution, be amended as follows:

Eligibility Requirements for Candidates for Local
Union Office - Paragraph A, No. 3

Amend the Eligibility Requirements for Candidates

for Local Union Office, Paragraph A, No. 3, by adding the

following sentence to the end of No. 3, to read, in part, as

follows:

“Furthermore, no member receiving pension benefits,
to the extent permitted by law, may serve as a delegate to
the Convention.”

I further request that the following recommendations

be referred to the appropriate Convention Committee:

Article II, Membership, Section 1
Amend Article II, Membership, Section 1, of the

International Constitution, by adding the word “region-

al” so that same shall read, in part, as follows:

“Sec. 1. This organization shall consist of an unlimit-

ed number of bridge, structural, ornamental, reinforced

concrete iron workers’, machinery movers’, stone derrick,

shop and navy yard riggers’ and regional Local

Unions…”

Article V, Conventions, Section 1
Amend Article V, Conventions, Section 1, of the

International Constitution, by adding the word “region-

al” so that same shall read, in part, as follows:

“Sec. 1. There shall be provided a Convention Fund

by an assessment of Two Dollars Ten Cents ($2.10) per

member per month, excepting Shop members, Navy Yard

Riggers members and Regional Local Union members,

who shall pay an assessment of One Dollar Five Cents

($1.05) per member per month. (Payment of such assess-

ment and Disability Pensions and permanently disabled

and retired Shop, Navy Yard Rigger and Regional Local
Union members)…”
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Article VI, Representation, Sections 1a and 1b
Amend Article VI, Representation, Sections 1a and

1b, of  the International Constitution, by adding “and

regional” so that same shall read, in part, as follows:

“Sec. 1a. Each Local Union excepting Shop, Navy

Yard Riggers and Regional Local Unions for whom rep-

resentation...”

“Sec. 1b. Each Shop, Navy Yard Riggers and Region-
al Local Union shall be entitled to representation as

follows…”

Article  XVI, Sources of Revenue, Section 2a
Amend Article XVI, Sources of Revenue, Section 2a,

of the International Constitution, by adding the words

“and Regional Local Unions” so that same, shall read, in

part, as follows:

“Sec. 2a. There shall be paid, as International Per

Capita Tax, the sum of Nineteen Dollars Fifteen Cents

($19.15) per month by all members of the International

Association, except that Shop Local Unions, Navy Yard

Riggers Local Unions and Regional Local Unions shall

pay, as International Per Capita Tax, the sum of Nine

Dollars ($9.00) per month.”

…except that Per Capita Tax for members of the Shop

Local Unions, Navy Yard Riggers Local Unions and
Regional Local Unions could be increased in the amount

of not more than Fifty Cents [50¢] per month in each such

year)…”

“Sec. 2b. Per Capita Tax for members of Outside

Local Unions and Regional Local Unions specified in

Article XVI, Sources of Revenue, Section 2a, be

increased to Two Dollars ($2.00) per month in addition to

any other Per Capita Tax increases; said Two Dollars

($2.00) to be deposited in the ‘International Ironworkers

Organizing Fund’…”

Article XIX, Disabled Members, Section 12
Amend Article XIX, Disabled Members, Section 12,

of the International Constitution, by adding the words

“and Regional Local Unions” so that same shall read, in

part, as follows:

“Sec. 12. The International Association will grant an

Honorary Membership Card to members (except members

of Shop, Navy Yard Riggers and Regional Local Unions to

whom this Section of the Constitution has no application)…”

Article XIX, Withdrawal Cards,
Section 13, Paragraph (e)

Amend Article XIX, Withdrawal Cards, Section 13,

Paragraph (e), of the International Constitution, by adding

the words “including Regional Local Unions” so that same

shall read, in part, as follows:

“(e) The holder of a withdrawal card may be reinstat-

ed as a member of this International Association (includ-
ing Regional Local Unions) by surrendering the with-

drawal card together with a withdrawal card reinstate-

ment fee of Two Hundred Dollars ($200.00)…”
Article XXI, Local Unions, Section 2

Amend Article XXI, Local Unions, Section 2, of the

International Constitution, by adding the words “and

Regional” so that same shall read, in part, as follows:

“Sec. 2. Each Local Union, except Shop, Navy Yard

Riggers and Regional Local Unions, shall have an

Examining Committee to examine the qualifications of

candidates seeking admission as members of a Local

Union of this body…”

Article XXI, Section 28b, Agreements and Work-
ing Rules

Amend Article XXI, Local Unions, Section 28b,

Agreements and Working Rules, by adding the words

“and Regional Local” so that same shall read, in part, as

follows:

“Sec. 28b. The provisions of this Paragraph shall

apply only to Shop, Navy Yard Riggers and Regional
Local Unions. Each Shop, Navy Yard Riggers and

Regional Local Union desiring to terminate its agree-

ment with an employer shall notify such employer, in

writing, not less than sixty (60) days prior to the expira-

tion date of such agreement, and copy of such notifica-

tion shall simultaneously be mailed to the General

President…”

Article XXI, Section 46, Failure to Comply
Amend Article XXI, Local Unions, Section 46, Failure

to Comply, by adding the words “or Regional,” so that

same shall read, in part, as follows:

“Sec. 46. The above Sections of this Constitution, rela-

tive to clearance cards, transfers, and travel service dues and

travel service dues receipts, shall not apply to

Superintendents or similar supervision as designated by the

General Executive Board or members of Shop, Navy Yard

Riggers and Regional Local Unions for whom transfers are

hereinafter specifically provided for in this Constitution.”

Article  XXV, Rules Governing Old Age and 
Disability Pensions, Section 1

Amend Article XXV, Rules Governing Old Age and

Disability Pensions, Section 1, by adding the words “and

Regional Local Unions,” so that same shall read, in part,

as follows:

“Sec. 1. A member (except members of Shop, Navy

Yard Riggers and Regional Local Unions to whom the

provisions of this and the following Sections of the

Constitution relative to Old Age and Disability Pensions

shall not apply.”

Article XXVI, Constitution Governing All Local
Unions, Section 1, Officers, Paragraph 1

Amend Article XXVI, Constitution Governing All

Local Unions, Section 1, Officers, Paragraph 1, by adding

the words “and Regional Local Unions,” so that same
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shall read, in part, as follows:

Par. 1. The officers of the Local Unions shall consist

of a President, Vice President, Business Manager,

Treasurer, Financial Secretary, Business Agent,

Recording Secretary, Examining Committee (except

Shop, Navy Yard Riggers and Regional Local Unions)…”

Article XXVI, Section 8. Duties of Examining
Committee

Amend Article XXVI, Constitution Governing All

Local Unions, Section 8, Duties of Examining

Committee, by adding the words “and Regional Local

Unions,” so that same shall read, in part, as follows:

“Sec. 8. The Examining Committee shall consist…

The provisions of this Section shall not apply to Shop,

Navy Yard Riggers and Regional Local Unions.”

Article XXVII, International Pension Plan for 
Full-time Salaried Officers and Employees of 
Local Unions and District Councils Affiliated 
with the International Association, Section 1
Amend Article XXVII, International Pension Plan

for Full-time Salaried Officers and Employees of Local

Unions and District Councils Affiliated with the

International Association, Section 1, by adding the words

“including Regional Local Unions,” so that same shall

read, in part, as follows:

“Sec. 1. There shall be created and established under

the supervision of the General Executive Council an

International Pension Plan covering all full-time salaried

officers and employees of Local Unions (including
Regional Local Unions) and District Councils affiliated

with the International Association, the cost of which shall

be paid by each of the Local Unions (including Regional
Local Unions) and District Councils…”

I also recommend the following changes to the Gen-
eral Working Rules:

Work Hours Per Day, Section 4a
Amend Work Hours Per Day, Section 4a to read as fol-

lows:

“Eight (8) hours shall constitute a day’s work which
shall be negotiated by the Local Union and their con-
tractor’s associations in their collective bargaining agree-
ment.”

Work Hours Per Day, Section 4b
Delete Section 4b in its entirety.

Shifts, Section 5, Second Paragraph
Amend the second paragraph of Section 5 to read as fol-

lows:

“Notwithstanding the contents of the above para-

graph, the General Executive Board, in special instances

and cases, or where the Local Union and their contrac-
tor’s association have shift language negotiated in the
collective bargaining agreement, may determine that the

contents of the above paragraph shall not apply and in

such cases may specifically provide for shift work and

payment for such shift work.”

Health and Safety, Section 30
Insert a new Section to be known as Section 30,

Health and Safety, Paragraphs a and b to read as follows:

Health and Safety, Section 30
“Sec. 30a. In accordance with the requirements of the

Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970, it shall be

the sole responsibility of the Employer to insure the safe-

ty and health of its employees. Nothing in this

Agreement will make the Union liable to any employees

or to any other persons in the event that injury or acci-

dent occurs.

Sec. 30b. The safety and health standards and rules

contained herein are minimum standards and are not

intended to imply that the Union objects to the establish-

ment and imposition by the Employer of additional or

more stringent rules to protect the health and safety of

the employees. It shall be the sole responsibility of the

Employer to insure compliance with safety and health

standards and rules.”

Date of Adoption, Section 30

shall be renumbered and named 

Date of Adoption, Section 31.
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Report of General Treasurer Walter W. Wise

presented to the
Forty-First Convention of the

International Association of Bridge, Structural,
Ornamental & Reinforcing Iron Workers

As provided in Article V, Section 6, of the International

Constitution, I hereby submit the General Treasurer’s

Report for the five fiscal years commencing July 1, 2001,

and ending June 30, 2006. This Report covers the activi-

ties of the General Treasurer’s office and the unconsoli-

dated finances of the International Association.

The duties and responsibilities of the General

Treasurer are clearly stated and defined in our

International Constitution; to safeguard the assets of our

organization, maintain oversight and a comprehensive

accounting of all financial transactions, and provide com-

plete and transparent information about the activities of

our Union. It is a responsibility that is embraced by

General President Hunt, General Secretary Fitzpatrick,

myself, the General Executive Council and Staff.

Included, for your review, is the 5-Year Audit for the

Convention period prepared by Bond Beebe, PC. The

audit is presented in an unconsolidated statement format

which separates the International Office Fund, Death

Benefit Fund, Old Age and Disability Pension Fund,

Outside Organizing Fund, Initial Organizing Contract

Fund and Convention Fund.

While the Audit Statement contains the numerical

balances of all assets, liabilities, revenue, expenses and

changes in net assets, a graphical representation of these

balances are used to illustrate the year-to-year accumula-

tive effects and the trends of the past five years.

General Treasurer’s Office
With the primary responsibility to govern all financial

activities of our International, the functions of the

General Treasurer’s office are carried out through a vari-

ety of duties involving the areas listed below.

Membership Services – The tasks directly related to

servicing our Local Unions include the management of

our International and Local Union information process-

ing system. This office maintains all membership data-

base operations including the collection and processing

of local union receipts, maintaining membership activity

and monthly local union billings.

Accounting – The day-to-day handling of all receipts,

vendor contracts, billing, payment of approved invoices

and/or expenses, and record retention.

Administration of Assessment Funds – These func-

tions include processing death benefit claims, maintaining

the pension rolls for the Old Age and Disability Pension

Fund, and the handling of financial activities for the

Convention Fund, the Outside Organizing Fund, the

Initial Organizing Contract Fund and the Ironworkers

Disaster Relief Fund.

Bonding – A Labor Organization Bond is negotiated

by the General Treasurer’s Office which covers all Local

Unions, District Councils and the International. This cov-

erage is mandatory under the Labor Management

Reporting and Disclosure Act (LMRDA) of 1959. The

LMRDA generally requires bonding equal to 10% of the

organization’s assets and receipts up to a maximum of

$500,000 per person. The bonding company automatical-

ly increases the limit of liability as long as the affiliate was

properly covered at the bond’s inception. This eliminates

the need to increase the bond limit over the three year

period and provides an added level of protection. The

current policy period expires in June of 2008.

Investments – The General Treasurer’s Office is

responsible for the investments of the International’s

funds. The “reserves” are placed with Investment

Managers, whose performance and compliance with our

investment policies are monitored by the General

Executive Board. Excess “operational” funds are invest-

ed on a daily basis through overnight Repurchase

Agreements to maximize our interest returns. Fund dol-

lars are prudently invested in highly rated fixed income

or bonds, equities and money market instruments to pro-

tect our investments and receive market returns.

Local Union Audits – As required by Article XXI,
Section 23, the General Treasurer’s office receives and

compiles all Local Union audits and conducts on-site

inspections for Local Unions whose combined assets and

receipts are less than $200,000.

Audit Committee – The General Treasurer’s Office

provides the expenses of the General President, General

Secretary and General Treasurer to the Audit Committee

for their bi-annual review and approval.

Federal Reporting Requirements – The General
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Treasurer’s Office advises Local Unions and Officers of

their Federal reporting requirements under the LMRDA

and submits the necessary filings for the International

Association. The numerous changes made by the Office

of Labor Management Standards (OLMS) are addressed

in this report.

Personnel – This office maintains all International

staff and office personnel records and administers the

various fringe benefit programs for our staff. The

General Treasurer’s office conducts background checks

for all new employees and administers IMPACT’s Drug-

Free Workplace Program for all International

Association employees. The chart below reflects the per-

sonnel statistics for the Convention period. Employees

of the Pension Department, National Fund and IMPACT

are employees of the International, but are leased back to

those entities for their share of total payroll costs.

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

Officers 12 12 12 12 12 12

General Organizers & 

Directors 35 33 30 27 25 22

District Representatives 8 7 8 7 8 9

Special Representatives 1 1 0 1 0 0

Subtotal 56 53 50 47 45 43

Staff Employees 6 6 6 6 6 6

Office Employees 31 36 35 27 27 27

Subtotal 37 42 41 33 33 33

Total 93 95 91 80 78 76

Leased-back Employees
Pension 10 7 10 10 11 9

National Fund 0 10 9 12 13 11

Impact 0 2 4 6 10

Subtotal 10 17 21 26 30 30

Membership Information Technology
System

The General Treasurer’s office maintains all member-

ship database operations for the International Association

and Local Unions. While the processing is contracted with

Union Labor Life Insurance Company, the General

Treasurer’s office is responsible for oversight of ULLICO

employees and approves all programming changes.

There are currently three systems in place for pro-

cessing membership information:

1. The original manual system utilizing credit card type

receipts that are processed in-house at Headquarters

by ULLICO employees.

2. The Gemini system was developed in 1981 (Gemini I),

rewritten in 1990 (Gemini II) to run on a personal com-

puter and modified in 2000 to avoid any effects of

“Y2K”.

3. The Local Union (LU) Membership System which was

introduced in 2001 and is a Windows-based application.

Conversion of all Local Unions to the latest LU

Membership System is necessary for our organization to

substantially reduce costs from the processing of manual

dues receipts and to eliminate the redundancy of multiple

programming updates. Before we can take full advantage of

new technology, it is imperative that all Local Unions are

upgraded to the LU Membership System. The technology

staff of ULLICO has assisted Local Unions with the conver-

sion through training sessions conducted at International

Headquarters, District Council wide training sessions in the

field and one-on-one training with individual Local Unions.

To date, 179 Local Unions, serving 118,241 members, have

been converted to the LU System. This increases our partici-

pation to 84% of the Local Unions serving 93% of the mem-

bership.

The current LU Membership System is installed on each

Local Union’s computer with the information transmitted to

Headquarters at regular intervals. In many cases, this

requires that any upgrades to the program be mailed to the

Local Union for installation and the transfer of information

is a one way street from the Local Union to International

Headquarters. In the event of a catastrophic event or com-

puter meltdown at the Local Union, only the information

since the last transmittal is saved at Headquarters and not all

information entered by the Local Union is currently stored

at Headquarters. Therefore, a complete re-install is neces-

sary to get the Local Union up and running and it is the

responsibility of the Local Union staff to insure that a cur-

rent back-up of their membership files is available for this

re-installation.

The next generation of our membership information

technology system will take advantage of the internet and

will be a web-based system that will allow the Local Unions

to enter information directly into a single database residing

at Headquarters. Consequently, any upgrades to the pro-

grams will be immediately available to all Local Unions and

all information entered by the Local Union staff will be

secured at International Headquarters. With proper author-

izations, a wide range of information will be available for use

by International staff personnel, District Councils and Local

Unions.

I would like to thank ULLICO Manager Jim Bonanno

and his staff of Hank Rupprecht, Melonie Collins, Pat Battle,

Gwen Cason-High, Helen Gunn and Sharon Monaghan for

their dedicated efforts in maintaining the Membership

Information Technology System.

International Office Fund
The International Office Fund is comprised of the General

Treasurer’s Fund and the General Fund. Their assets are com-

bined in the financial audits, LM reporting requirements and

this report, as collectively, they represent the full operational

scope of financial activity of the International Association.
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The General Fund contains the entire financial reserves of

our International Association. All Local Union receipts are

initially deposited into the General Fund Lockbox from which

monthly transfers are calculated and made to the Death

Benefit Fund, the Old Age and Disability Pension Fund, the

Convention Fund, the Initial Organizing Contract Fund and

the International Ironworkers Organizing Fund according to

their assessments as defined by the International Constitution.

The monies from your monthly per capita tax, fees, sale of sup-

plies and investment income remain in the Fund to meet the

operational requirements of the International Association.

The General Treasurer’s Fund is the checking account for

the International Office Fund and is used to pay all operat-

ing expenses. All monies stay invested in the General Fund

until checks are presented for payment to insure interest

earnings on all available funds.

The financial report is represented using the following

comparative charts:

International Office Fund Assets are depicted on the line graph below which reflects a decrease in Fund balances

from $47,755,494 in 2001 to $46,023,008 in 2006 for a total decrease of $1,732,486 or 3.63%  

International Office Fund Assets
General Fund & General Treasurers Fund (Combined)
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Cash Receipts reports income in the following categories: Local Union receipts, investment income, administrative fees from

affiliates, and reimbursement of legal fees, costs and settlements.
Local Union receipts are the largest source of income for the International, and includes dues payments, travel service dues, and

initiation and reinstatement fees. Investment income includes interest, dividends and net realized gain or loss on the sale of securities.

 Cash Receipts
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As shown above, income derived from Local Union receipts has improved slightly over the Convention period. The one
dollar Per Capita increase in 2004, 2005 and 2006 helped to stabilize the revenue stream to make up for the loss of mem-
bership, and investment losses of $1,309,186 and $2,427,693 in 2002 and 2003, respectively.

International Office Fund Assets

Total Cash Receipts

Total Cash Disbursements

Personnel Expense (Salaries, Fringe Benefits, Travel)

General & Administrative Expenses

Total Receipts vs. Disbursements
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Cash Disbursements have been broken down into two sub-categories: Personnel Expense and General and Administrative
Expenses.

Personnel Expenses as shown below include salaries, related payroll and travel expenses, pension contributions, health
and welfare premiums, and other benefits.

Personnel Expenses
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During the 2001 Convention, the delegates voted to increase
salaries by 3%,with a 3% annual increase through 2005,and a 4%
increase in 2006. A reduction in staff and policy changes regard-
ing expenses resulted in significant savings in salaries and expens-
es from 2002 through 2006.

A decrease in employees offset the considerable premium
increases for health insurance during the same period which had
the impact of stabilizing this cost. Various healthcare options are
evaluated annually.

The Bridge and Iron Workers Staff Retirement Plan which cov-
ers all International employees has experienced a large increase in
required contributions due to several inter-related factors. The
investment losses of 2001, 2002 and 2003 are averaged in over a 5
year smoothing period for actuarial purposes and continue to be a
burden to current funding requirements. Those losses reduced the
Fund to less than 80% funding of future liabilities and triggered
additional Deficit Reduction Contributions as required by the
Retirement Protection Act of 1994 for single employer defined ben-
efit pension plans. In 2003 and 2004, additional funding to the pen-
sion fund was obtained by reallocating the 3% staff salary increase
into the pension fund, thereby raising the contribution level from
25% to 31% of salary.

To meet the requirements of the law, additional lump sum
contributions of $3 million, $1.5 million and $8 million were nec-
essary in 2004, 2005 and 2006. Loans totaling $10 million dollars
were obtained from the Death Benefit Fund bearing interest rates
of 4.6% to 7.5%. The loan balance as of June 30,2006 is $7,873,038.
Effective January 1, 2006, the Trustees took action which reduced
future benefits for active participants by 22 1/2% and will greatly
help control the International Association’s retirement contribu-
tions.

The past liabilities incurred will continue to impact future con-
tributions and is dependent upon future investment return, par-
ticipant demographics and Congressional action. Once the fund-
ing deficit has been eliminated, future contributions may be
reduced with the reduction used to repay loans and replace assets.

General and Administrative Expenses include data process-
ing, office supplies, rent, insurance, bonding, professional fees, and
the costs of special meetings such as Business Agents’
Conferences and Seminars, Legislative Trades and General
Executive Council meetings. The following graph depicts the
reduction in General and Administrative expenses over the last
five years.
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Professional Fees include the costs associated with the

federal criminal investigation of $1,617,318 and $1,769,905

paid in 2002 and 2003. Increased auditor, attorney and con-

sultant costs in 2004, 2005 and 2006 have resulted from addi-

tional controls put in place to safeguard the reporting and

accountability of our members’ funds and the new

LMRDA  reporting requirements.

General and Administrative expenses in 2006 were

$7,025,657 compared to $9,047,180 in 2002 for a decrease

of $2,021,523. The implementation of technology

improvements and cost-cutting initiatives over the past

five years has resulted in a substantial reduction in

General and Administrative expenses.

Total Receipts and Disbursements for the

Convention period are depicted on the following line

graph. Receipts for the entire period have totaled

$136,042,525 while disbursements have totaled

$135,045,020 for a net gain of $997,505.

Total Receipts vs. Disbursements

0

5,000,000

10,000,000

15,000,000

20,000,000

25,000,000

30,000,000

35,000,000

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

Total Receipts Total Disbursements

Death Benefit Fund
The following charts and accompanying tables represent the receipts and disbursements of the Death Benefit Fund for

each year of the Convention period. Since the 2001 Convention, the Death Benefit Fund decreased by $3,906,417 or 10.8%,

due to investment losses during 2002 and 2003, and the payment of $15,066,266 in benefits during the Convention Period.

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

Beginning Fund Balance 36,048,238$  33,921,077$  30,062,931$  30,597,234$ 30,593,908$

Receipts over Disbursements (2,127,161)$  (3,858,146)$  534,303$  (3,326)$ 1,547,913$

Year Ending Fund Balance 33,921,077$  30,062,931$  30,597,234$  30,593,908$ 32,141,821$

FUND BALANCE 2002 - 2006

Receipts consisted of $6,669,993 in investment income, $5,492,816 in monthly assessments, and $169,594 in other

income for a total of $12,332,403 during the 5-year period. Disbursements were comprised of $15,066,266 in member ben-

efits and $1,172,554 in administrative, investment and professional fees during the same period for a net loss of assets of

$3,906,417.
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The following table illustrates the claims paid during the 2002-2006 Convention period. Claims were denied to 112

members for being in arrears and 41 members who did not meet the membership requirements.

$(2,000,000)

$(1,500,000)

$(1,000,000)

$(500,000)

$-

$500,000

$1,000,000

$1,500,000

$2,000,000

$2,500,000

$3,000,000

Death Benefit Fund Revenue

Assessments  $1,157,732  $1,142,325  $1,024,048  $1,079,101  $1,089,610 

Investments  $(145,069)  $(1,783,816)  $2,835,932  $2,111,308  $3,651,638 

Other  $33,780  $115,547  $20,267

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

Years of 
Membership

Benefit 
Amount

Accidental
Benefit 
Amount

Accidental
Death Claims

Paid
Natural Death 
Claims Paid

Accidental
Death Benefits 

Paid
Natural Death 
Benefits Paid

Total Benefit 
Paid

1-2 Years 500$  2,000$ 8$ 61 15,600 31,400 47,000$
2-3 Years 800$  3,200$ 10$ 59 30,800 45,500 76,300$
3-4 Years 1,150$  4,600$ 5$ 64 23,000 72,800 95,800$
4-6 Years 1,400$  5,600$ 12$ 105 64,400 145,900 210,300$
6-25 Years 1,750$  7,000$ 38$ 925 258,800 1,599,952 1,858,752$
Over 25 Years 2,000$  8,000$ 14$ 6,399 112,000 12,666,114 12,778,114$

TOTAL 87$ 7,613 504,600 14,561,666 15,066,266$

DEATH FUND BENEFITS PAID 2002-2006
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Death Benefit Fund
Receipts & Disbursements

REVENUE  $1,012,663  $(641,491)  $3,893,760  $3,305,956  $4,761,515

EXPENSES  $3,139,824  $3,216,655  $3,359,457  $3,309,282  $3,213,602

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

The Death Benefit Fund is dependent on investment income to provide over two-thirds (2/3) of anticipated benefits

and is highly susceptible to fluctuations in the investment markets to sustain the Fund.
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Old Age and Disability Pension Fund
The chart below depicts the Cash Receipts and Cash Disbursements for the Old Age and Disability Pension Fund for

the Convention period. Income for this Fund is generated from a $1.50 assessment per outside member per month and

$1.00 of every Travel Service Dues assessment. Expenses are comprised of the payment of monthly dues and the yearly

pension check for all participants of the Old Age and Disability Pension Fund. Administrative expenses, of approximately

$150,000 per year for the processing of applications and checks, provided by the International Association are not

charged to the Fund.

Every quarter, the Pensioners’ dues ($8.40 per month)

are paid from the Fund. At the end of the calendar year,

any remaining proceeds are distributed to the Pension

Roll members. As of June 30, 2006, there was a total of

18,727 members on the Pension Roll. The 2005 pension-

er’s check was $28.00 in addition to their yearly dues of

$100.80.

The Old Age and Disability Pension Fund was estab-

lished in 1964 and paid a monthly benefit of $50.00. Since

that time and at many subsequent Conventions, it was

recognized that without sizeable increases in contribu-

tions, it would be impossible to maintain that benefit

level. The Old Age and Disability Pension Fund was put

on a revolving basis in 1976 with benefits derived from

the yearly amount of contributions. It was anticipated

that Local Union and District Council pension funds

would provide the security necessary to enable our mem-

bers to retire with dignity. In 2001, the Delegates at the

40th Convention approved the direct payment of a pen-

sioner’s dues from the Old Age and Disability Pension

Fund to ensure that every pensioner and his family would

remain in good standing, retain their eligibility in the

Death Benefit Fund and other benefits of membership.

It has been recognized that as the Fund revenues

remain constant or decrease and the number of pension-

ers increase, that the amount of the pension payments

would continue to decrease. The chart below illustrates

the impact of our membership’s maturing demographics.
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Benefits  $2,148,942  $1,916,669  $1,720,132  $1,801,099  $1,856,142
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To evaluate this trend, the Segal Company was retained to project future demands on the Fund by the increasing num-

ber of pensioners assuming a constant membership. The results of their actuarial study indicate that “beginning in the year
2020, contributions are not projected to be sufficient to pay for the full $8.40 per month membership dues required for each pen-
sioner.” A graphic representation of that report is presented below.

Old Age Pensioner Projections vs. Benefit Amount
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It is evident that the Old Age and Disability Pension

Fund cannot continue to provide any appreciable benefit

other than the retention of lifetime membership for mem-

bers who are retired, over 65 years of age and have 25 years

of membership without a substantial increase in the assess-

ments. To provide even a $100 per year pension would

require a doubling of assessment and would continue to

erode as the number of pensioners increase.

The reality of the situation is that the Old Age and

Disability Pension Fund has outlived its original purpose in

providing a modest pension when Local Union and

District Council pension funds were non-existent. Today,

those funds shoulder that responsibility.

Contained in my recommendations, I propose changes

in the constitution that would eliminate the Old Age and

Disability Pension Fund. Those proposals will:

1. Replace the Pensioner classification with that of

“Lifetime Honorary Member”. All payments of

International per capita and assessments shall be

waived and entitle the holder to all benefits of

Honorary membership provided under the

Constitution of the International Association.

2. The Old Age and Disability Pension Fund

Assessment of $1.50 shall be rolled over into the

International per capita for all Outside Active and

Honorary members to offset the costs of lifetime

membership.

3. The $1.00 of Travel Service Dues allocated to the Old

Age and Disability Pension Fund shall be allocated to

the Death Benefit Fund.

4. To offset any perceived loss to the pensioners, I rec-

ommend that a Death Fund benefit for “Lifetime

Honorary Members” be established with a benefit of

$2,200.

These measures will ensure continued participation of

the Pensioners in our Union; guarantee and improve

Lifetime Honorary Member coverage under the Death

Benefit Fund; and eliminate administrative costs borne by

the International Association without any increase in cost

to the membership.

International Ironworkers 
Organizing Fund

The International Ironworkers Organizing Fund was

created by actions of the Delegates assembled at the 39th

Convention with a $1.00 per member per month assess-

ment on all outside active members. This assessment was

increased to $2.00, effective January 1, 2002, at the 40th

Convention in 2001 along with authorization that “effec-
tive January 1, 2003, the International Ironworkers
Organizing Fund could be increased by $1.00, if deter-
mined absolutely necessary by the General Executive
Board.” This additional increase was not implemented

by the General Executive Council.
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Initial Organizing Contract Fund
The Initial Organizing Contract Fund was designed to defray the cost of legal defense, research, educational materi-

als and to help workers organize and obtain an initial contract. It is funded by a $2.00 per member per month assessment

on all active Shop Department members.

The chart below illustrates the receipts and disbursements of the Fund during the Convention period.

The chart below illustrates the receipts and disbursements of the Fund during the Convention period.

During this Convention period, total receipts were $9,911,404 and total disbursements were $9,727,140 for a net gain

of $184,264. The table reflects the ending Fund balances for each year of the Convention period.
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During this Convention period, total receipts were $1,669,561 with total disbursements of $1,447,341 for a net gain of

$222,220. The table reflects ending Fund balances for each year of the Convention period.

Convention Fund
The funding for the Convention is derived from the monthly Convention assessment of $2.10 for Outside members and

$1.05 for Shop and Navy Yard Rigger members. The assessment has been maintained at this level since January 1, 1992.

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

Beginning Fund Balance 543,455$  454,232$ 492,939$  615,851$ 734,886$

Change in Net Assets (89,223)$  38,707$ 122,912$  119,035$  30,789$

Ending Fund Balance 454,232$  492,939$ 615,851$  734,886$ 765,675$

FUND BALANCE 2002-2006

$-

$4,000,000

$8,000,000

$12,000,000

$16,000,000

Historical Convention Cost

Convention Cost  $4,778,772  $5,654,966  $6,204,048 $9,498,848  $10,544,788  $10,250,000
Convention Cost (2006 $)  $11,585,490  $10,307,200  $9,101,020  $12,094,970  $11,891,000  $10,250,000

1981 1986 1991 1996 2001 2006(est.)

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006
Revenue

Assessments 2,235,726$  2,201,764$ 2,098,096$ 2,103,152$   2,146,903$

Investment Income 179,529$ 6,525$ 58,885$ 128,294$ 180,256$

Total 2,415,255$  2,208,289$ 2,156,981$ 2,231,446$   2,327,159$
Expenses

Convention Costs 10,544,788$ 31,196$ 38,503$ 4,211$ 686,580$

CONVENTION FUND

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

Beginning Fund Balance 10,480,633$  2,351,100$ 4,528,193$ 6,646,671$   8,873,906$

Change in Net Assets (8,129,533)$  2,177,093$ 2,118,478$ 2,227,235$   1,640,579$

Ending Fund Balance 2,351,100$  4,528,193$ 6,646,671$ 8,873,906$   10,514,485$

FUND BALANCE 2002-2006

The chart below illustrates a cost comparison of previous Conventions and their 2006 equivalent dollars.

Delegates at the 40th Convention passed resolutions designed to lessen the cost of the Convention by reducing the

number of travel days from 6 to 3 days and changing the airfare travel allowance to “direct coach-class airfare”. With over

70% of the Convention expenditures being the result of the salary and expense costs of the delegates, this savings has

resulted in the first Convention in many decades that was fully funded during the Convention Period.
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Office of Labor Management
Standards (OLMS) 

Since the change in Congress and the White House in

2001, the interpretation of the reporting requirements

contained in the Labor-Management Reporting and

Disclosure Act (LMRDA) of 1959 have changed signifi-

cantly.

LM-2 The new LM-2 form implemented for the fiscal

year 2004-2005 mandated a complete overhaul of the

activity and expense reporting system, and the account-

ing processes for all expenditures of the International

Association. All employee costs, expenses and dis-

bursements were required to be attributed and pro-

rated into five Department of Labor categories:

Representational; Political Activities & Lobbying;

Contributions, Gifts & Grants; General Overhead; and

Union Administration. The  LM-2 report of this

International Association grew from 35 pages in 2004 to

346 pages in 2005.

Development and implementation of the computer

program to track employee activities and expenses began

in 2003 for International Association employees and was

made available for use to Local Unions and District

Councils in 2004. Associated costs of the reporting sys-

tem, accounting program changes and additional audit

fees exceeded $250,000. An estimated 5,000 manhours

were expended to document and compile the information

necessary to comply with the regulations for the

International Association’s June 30, 2005 report.

The General Treasurer’s office filed all LM-2 reports in a

timely manner during the Convention period and assisted

many Local Unions, District Councils and auditors with

their inquiries.

LM-30 As enacted in 1959, the LMRDA required a

Union officer to report anything of value received from a

represented employer to prevent kickbacks or payoffs. In

2004, the OLMS reversed 45 years of practice and rede-

fined the meaning of “employer” to include any company

that has employees and set a de minimus level of $25.00

to trigger a reporting requirement. This interpretation

included reimbursement of trustee expenses to Union

officers, vendor support of various Union events and a

myriad of common business practices if they involved a

Union officer or employee.

The Office of Labor Management Standards expected

to receive 2,400 LM-30 filings, but actually received

13,460 LM-30 filings and is in the process of revamping

the reporting forms and requirements since, according to

their LM-30 Advisory; “places an unnecessary reporting
burden on union officials without a corresponding benefit to
union members or the public.”

For 2005, the OLMS issued an advisory stating that the

de minimus cumulative transaction level would be

increased to $250.00 while the current rulemaking process

is being finalized.

The General Treasurer’s office supplied information,

as provided by the Department of Labor, regarding

reporting requirements, due dates and OLMS guidelines

to all International Officers, Staff, employees and Local

Unions. We will continue to provide updates as issued by

the Office of Labor Management Standards.

OLMS International Compliance Audit Program
(ICAP) Since 2001, the Department of Labor has

increased the funding and doubled the workforce of its

division to monitor compliance of Local Unions and

International Unions with the LMRDA through the use

of CAP and ICAP audits. It is their goal to audit all

International Unions and Local Unions within the next

three years.

In March 2005, this International Association was

chosen for an ICAP audit and review. A team of Federal

auditors spent nearly four months at International

Headquarters requesting documents, reviewing proce-

dures and processes, sampling financial transactions,

receipts, disbursements and expenses, and examining

actions taken by the General Executive Board and

General Executive Council. Their recommendations

were implemented and after a follow-up verification in

March 2006, the audit was completed. As a result of the

ICAP audit, I am recommending an amendment to the

Constitution to require two signatures on all checks.

Additional auditor expenses incurred during the

ICAP audit were $36,000. An estimated 1,000 man-

hours were involved in responding to the requests of the

ICAP audit team.

Audit Committee
In 2002, General President Hunt retained W. Neil

Eggleston of the law firm Howrey, Simon, Arnold &

White, LLP, to conduct an independent and outside

review of current Union practices and to recommend

changes and reforms to ensure the appropriate use of

Union assets.

At the October 11, 2002, General Executive Council

meeting, General President Hunt, General Secretary

Fitzpatrick and General Treasurer Toney recommended

the adoption of a formal Ironworker Expense Policy. To

ensure that the Policy is properly implemented and

enforced, General President Hunt appointed an Audit

Committee comprised of at least two (2) members of the

General Executive Council, at least one (1)

Headquarters Staff representative, the Iron Workers

Chief Accountant and an advisory representative of the

auditing firm.

The current members of the Audit Committee are

General Treasurer Walter Wise, General Vice President

Ed McHugh, Executive Director Anthony Walencik,
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Executive Assistant to the General President Tadas

Kicielinski, Controller Gaye Schmidt and David Dorsey,

audit partner with the accounting firm of Bond Beebe, PC.

The Audit Committee meets a minimum of twice per

year to:

1. Review and recommend changes to the Ironworker

Expense Policy.

2. Review the Expense Summary reports of the

General Officers.

3. Resolve any disputed expense reimbursement

requests submitted.

4. Review appeals of denied expenses.

5. Address any other matters brought to their attention.

6. Report their findings to the General Executive

Council.

Since its inception, the Audit Committee’s policy rec-

ommendations and review of expenses have led to cost

savings, increased accountability and additional protec-

tion in safeguarding the assets of our Union. I wish to

thank the Audit Committee for their hard work and dili-

gence in the performance of their duties.

Conclusion
It is a great honor and priviledge to serve my Brothers

and Sisters as the General Treasurer of our great Union.

The stewardship of our Union’s financial activities is a

responsibility and trust that will never be violated.

Accountability and transparency to those that we repre-

sent is a moral mandate that General President Hunt,

General Secretary Fitzpatrick and I take very seriously. I

hope I have been successful in presenting a report that

reflects our commitment to these values.

Although the decline of net assets is never a positive

development, it is important that it be viewed in context

with the extraordinary events that shaped our world and

affected our Union during the past 5 years that had to be

addressed by your leadership, our Union and its members.

The devastating attack of September 11, 2001, will

always be remembered, not only for the tragic loss of life,

but also for the heroic actions of our Union and its mem-

bers in responding to the rescue efforts. As the repercus-

sions of that fateful day reverberated throughout our

economy, work opportunities declined, membership

decreased and substantial investment losses combined to

negatively impact our members’ livelihood, pension

funds, Local Unions and this International Association.

With the new Republican administration in 2001, the

Department of Labor instituted vast changes in the inter-

pretation of the Labor Management Reporting and

Disclosure Act of 1959 that is estimated to cost organized

Labor over one billion dollars in time and money in order

to comply with the new reporting requirements.

The investment losses of 2001, 2002 and 2003, while

having a pronounced negative effect on our balance sheet,

also precipitated a crisis in pension funding for many

Local Unions, the LU & DC Pension Fund and the Bridge

and Ironworkers Staff Retirement Plan that required

reductions in benefits and increased funding.

The federal investigation by the Department of

Justice into the affairs of our organization was concluded

in 2004 with restitution being made by the convicted par-

ties. Outside legal fees of over $3.3 million related to the

criminal investigation were paid, insurance premiums

increased and additional audit and consultant fees were

incurred to assure that those offenses will never happen

again.

When viewed collectively, the revenue loss of approx-

imately $4.7 million from a 5.1% decline in membership,

investment losses of $3.7 million, legal fees of $3.3 million

and required additional pension contributions of $12.5

million presented this organization with $24.2 million

dollars of extraordinary expenses. Increases in Per

Capita were implemented as a last resort and not as a

quick fix. Despite a loss in membership and inflation

eroding our buying power by 20.5%, per capita tax

increases were limited to $3.00 or 15.2% since 1999.

The measure of success during this crucial period of

our history should not be in dollars and cents, but with

the actions taken to respond and manage this succession

of blows to our fiscal well being. General President Hunt,

General Secretary Fitzpatrick, retired General Treasurer

Toney, the General Executive Council and I took action

to address these challenges resulting in policy changes,

substantial reductions in operating costs, changes in

investment managers, and the pursuit of a more respon-

sive and productive organization to improve   representa-

tion and service to our members.

When put in perspective, the monumental challenges

thrust upon us during the past five years have been met

through aggressive management of existing resources

and our focus on the vision of our Union’s future. Today,

our Union is better prepared to prosper from the oppor-

tunities ahead than at any time during our recent history

and I am confident that we will have the resources avail-

able to do so.

While I believe that our current revenue should be

adequate to meet future needs, provided that our mem-

bership grows and many of the extraordinary events of

the past five years are not repeated, it is prudent to pre-

pare for any eventuality. I am recommending that the

General Executive Council be given authorization to

increase the Per Capita Tax, if necessary, not to exceed

Two Dollars ($2.00) in any year with a maximum increase

of Five Dollars ($5.00) through 2011 for Outside Local

Unions and not to exceed One Dollar ($1.00) in any year

with a maximum increase of Two Dollars and Fifty cents

($2.50) through 2011 for Shop and Navy Yard Local

Unions.

I would like to thank retired General Treasurer

Dennis R. Toney for his stewardship during some incred-
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ibly difficult times. His leadership and counsel enabled

our Union to persevere and he should take great pride in

knowing that his efforts have greatly benefited our mem-

bers and their Union. We also owe a debt of gratitude to

Judy Scaggs, Janice Passero, and Glenda Porter who have

retired from the General Treasurer’s office since the last

Convention.

Be it the General Treasurer’s office or the jobsite, it

takes the concerted effort of a team to be successful and

I would like to acknowledge all of the hard-working indi-

viduals who assist me in carrying out my duties and pro-

viding service to our members, the Local Unions and

District Councils. Our Controller, Ms. Gaye Schmidt,

whose knowledge of accounting systems, computers, and

our organization coupled with her boundless energy is

truly an invaluable asset to our Union. My Executive

Secretary, Ms. Terry Suite, whose thoughtfulness, compas-

sion and diligence is a constant reminder of our responsi-

bilities to our members. The accounting department

composed of Pik Lau, Tracy McCoy, Pamela McPipe, Tina

Spriggs, Valy Coulibaly, the mail room headed by Sean

Duritsa with Linell Hawkins, James Wilhelm and Jose

Contreras and our long-serving receptionist, the indis-

pensable Ms. Frances Wineland, all contribute to our suc-

cess.

But nothing would be possible without the coopera-

tion and support of the officers of our Local Unions and

the Delegates seated here today. Thank you for your

help, your input and your support as we work, in solidar-

ity, to represent our Brothers and Sisters, and grow our

great Union.

Recommendations
I request that the following recommendations be referred to

the Constitution Committee:

Article X-A General Treasurer, Section 2
Amend Article X-A, Section 2, of the International

Constitution which reads in part:
“… except that the General Treasurer may issue checks

against the General Treasurer’s fund to meet current expens-
es,…”

by inserting:
“… except that the General Treasurer may issue checks or

other forms of legal banking transmittals, properly author-
ized and executed against the General Treasurer’s fund to
meet current expenses,…

Article X-A General Treasurer, Section 6
Amend Article X-A, section 6 of the International

Constitution which reads in part:
“…payments shall be made on the signature of the General

Treasurer only.”
by deleting the word “only” and adding:
and countersigned by the General President or General

Secretary. 

and inserting the following as Paragraph 2.
The signatures of the General President, General

Secretary or General Treasurer may be made by properly
authorized and executed mechanical or electronic means. 

Article XV, Welfare Plan of General Officers, 
General Organizers, District and Special

Representatives of the International Association
Amend Article XV of the International Constitution with

the addition of the following:
The Welfare Plan does not guarantee any level of bene-

fits for active or retired participants.

Article XVI, Sources of Revenue, Section 2a.
Delete Article XVI, Section 2a, Paragraph 2, of the

International Constitution which reads:
“(During the Fortieth [40th] Convention of the

International Association of Bridge, Structural, Ornamental
and Reinforcing Iron Workers, the delegates considered and
adopted amendments to Article XVI, Sec. 2a, which prescribed
that effective January 1, 2003, January 1, 2004, January 1,
2005, and January 1, 2006, Per Capita Tax could be increased,
if determined absolutely necessary by the General Executive
Council, in an amount of not more than One Dollar [$1.00] per
month in each such year for all members of this International
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Association, except the Per Capita Tax for members of the
Shop Local Unions and Navy Yard Riggers Local Unions
could be increased in an amount not more than Fifty Cents
[$.50] per month in each such year.)”

and inserting the following:
If deemed absolutely necessary by the General

Executive Council, the Per Capita Tax may be raised peri-
odically, not to exceed  Five Dollars ($5.00) total between
Conventions and Two Dollars ($2.00) in any one year for
all active members of this International Association,
except that Per Capita Tax for members of the Shop Local
Unions and Navy Yard Riggers Local Unions could be
increased in an amount not more than Two Dollars and
Fifty Cents ($2.50) total between Conventions and One
Dollar ($1.00) in any one year.

Article XIX, General Rules, Section 12, 
Disabled Members

Amend Article XIX, Section 12, of the International
Constitution by the deletion of the following:

“Such Card will allow the holder thereof to work in the
jurisdiction of any Local Union subject to the working rules
of the Local Union.  Any member holding an Honorary
Membership Card who is able to and does secure employment
at the trade to the extent of an average employment of over
two (2) days a week shall not be considered permanently dis-
abled or incapacitated, and therefore will not be entitled to
retain or be granted an Honorary Membership Card.”            

and adding:
If an Honorary Member returns to work, the member

must return to Journeyman status and pay full dues for all
months in which the member works at the trade.

Amend Article XIX, Section 12, of the International
Constitution which reads in part:

“Honorary Members shall be exempt from all Local dues
and assessments, but shall pay Per Capita Tax of Six Dollars
Fifteen Cents ($6.15) per month and all International assess-
ments except the Convention Fund assessment to the
International Association through their Local Union, and said
Honorary Members shall be entitled to death benefits and
pension benefits…”

by deleting “and assessments”, and “and pension bene-
fits”; and inserting the following additions to read:

“Honorary Members shall be exempt from all Local dues,
but shall pay Per Capita Tax of Seven Dollars Sixty-five
Cents ($7.65) per month and all International assessments
except the Convention Fund assessment and International
Ironworkers Organizing Fund assessment to the
International Association through their Local Union, and said
Honorary Members shall be entitled to death benefits.…”

Article XXI, Local Unions, Section 23
Amend Article XXI of the International Constitution by

the deletion of the following paragraph contained in Section
23 which reads:

“Local Unions whose combined assets and receipts are
less than Two Hundred Thousand Dollars ($200,000.00) dur-
ing a fiscal year may request the General Treasurer’s office to
have a person perform an on-site inspection in lieu of a certi-
fied audit.”

Article XXV, Rules Governing Old Age 
and Disability Pensions Section 1-13

Effective January 1, 2007, delete Article XXV in its
entirety and all other references to Old Age and Disability
Pensions or Pensioners to be replaced with the following:

Article XXV, Lifetime Honorary Membership
Sec. 1. A member (except members of Shop and Navy

Yard Riggers Local Unions to whom the provisions of this
and the following Sections of the Constitution relative to
Lifetime Honorary Membership shall not apply) who has
attained the age of sixty-five (65) years, and who has been in
continuous membership for a period of twenty-five (25) years
and who is in good standing at the time of application, and
against whom no charges of any kind whatsoever are pending
in any Local Union of the International Association, may
apply for Lifetime Honorary Membership.

Sec. 2. A member who has been in continuous member-
ship for a period of twenty (20) years, when said member
becomes permanently disabled and who is in good standing at
the time of making application, and against whom no charges
of any kind whatsoever are pending in any Local Union of the
International Association, and who by reason of personal
injury sustained while working at the trade, during working
hours, which injury was not contributed to or brought about
by the member’s own improper conduct, may apply for
Lifetime Honorary Membership.

Sec. 3.  Applicants meeting the above qualifications will
be granted the classification of Lifetime Honorary Member
and entitled to all benefits of membership as defined by the
rights and limitations of Honorary Members set forth in
Article XIX, Section 12.

Sec. 4. Lifetime Honorary Members shall be exempt from
all International Per Capita Tax, International Assessments,
and Local Union dues and assessments.  

Sec. 5. Each application shall be presented to and read at
a regular meeting of the Local Union of which the applicant
is a member, and such Local Union at the same or a subse-
quent meeting shall approve or reject such application. If the
application is approved, the Local Union shall so certify on
the form provided for that purpose, and such certificates shall
be signed by the President and Financial Secretary, with the
seal of the Local Union affixed thereto. All applications
approved by a Local Union shall be mailed to the General
Secretary by the Financial Secretary of the Local Union. If an
application is rejected by a Local Union, the Financial
Secretary of such Local Union shall attach thereto the reasons
for such rejection, signed by the President and the Financial
Secretary of the Local Union.
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Sec. 6. The General Executive Board shall determine all
applications for Lifetime Honorary Membership, and no
application shall be granted unless the applicant complies
with all the requirements herein provided for, and such other
requirements as the General Executive Board may deem nec-
essary.

Sec. 7. When an applicant is granted a Lifetime Honorary
Membership, the General Secretary shall notify the Local
Union of which the applicant is a member.

Sec. 8. The General Executive Board may at any time
revoke a Lifetime Honorary Membership if in the judgment of
the General Executive Board, there is sufficient reason for
such revocation.

Sec. 9.  The existing Old Age and Disability Pension Fund
assessment of $1.50 shall be rolled over into the International
Per Capita for all Outside Honorary and Outside Active mem-
bers to offset the costs of Lifetime Honorary Memberships.  

Sec. 10.  A Death Benefit Fund payment shall be estab-
lished for Lifetime Honorary Members in the amount of
$2,200.  The $1.00 of Travel Service Dues currently allocated
to the Old Age and Disability Pension Fund shall be paid to
the Death Benefit Fund.

Article XXVI, Constitution Governing All Local
Unions, Section 12. 

Amend Article XXVII, Section 12. Duties of Trustees,
Paragraph 2, which reads in part:

“…but all bills, appropriations and claims must be
approved by the Local Union before payment, which shall in
no instance be paid, except by check, properly signed, as pro-
vided for by this Constitution.

by inserting:
“…but all bills, appropriations and claims must be

approved by the Local Union before payment, which shall in
no instance be paid, except by check or other forms of legal
banking transmittals, properly authorized and executed,
as provided for by this Constitution.”
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INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF BRIDGE, STRUCTURAL,
ORNAMENTAL AND REINFORCING IRON WORKERS

UNCONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS - MODIFIED CASH BASIS
JUNE 30, 2006 AND JULY 1, 2001

INTERNATIONAL OFFICE

ASSETS 2006 2001

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,466,091 $ 2,059,888
Interfund receivable (payable) (134,654) 304,138
Notes receivable - 21,971
Investments 50,644,209 44,901,693
Furniture and equipment - net of accumulated depreciation of $550,152 and $1,456,937 739,759 342,848
Automobiles - net of accumulated depreciation of $83,662 and $46,836 120,240 114,810
Leasehold improvements- net of accumulated amortization of $1,273,181 and $2,368,769 3,727,442 16,469

TOTAL ASSETS $ 57,563,087 $ 47,761,817

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

LIABILITIES

Notes payable $ 25,528 $ -
Renovation loan 3,640,996 -
Payroll taxes payable 517 6,323
Loan from Death Benefit Fund 7,873,038 -

TOTAL LIABILITIES 11,540,079 6,323

NET ASSETS 46,023,008 47,755,494

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS $ 57,563,087 $ 47,761,817

OLD AGE AND DISABILITY PENSION FUND

ASSETS 2006 2001

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents $ 513,458 $ 638,675

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

LIABILITIES

Interfund payable $ 98,900 $ 449,267

NET ASSETS 414,558 189,408

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS $ 513,458 $ 638,675

DEATH BENEFIT FUND

ASSETS 2006 2001

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents $ 95,582 $ 194,676
Loan to General Fund 7,873,038 -
Investments 24,253,037 35,859,040

TOTAL ASSETS $ 32,221,657 $ 36,053,716

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

LIABILITIES

Interfund payable $ 79,836 $ 5,478

NET ASSETS 32,141,821 36,048,238

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS $ 32,221,657 $ 36,053,716

See Notes to Financial Statements
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UNCONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS - MODIFIED CASH BASIS

CONVENTION FUND

ASSETS 2006 2001

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents $ 3,174,564 $ 2,351,678
Interfund receivable 185,523 75,599
Investments 7,154,398 8,053,356

TOTAL ASSETS $ 10,514,485 $ 10,480,633

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

LIABILITIES $ - $ -

NET ASSETS 10,514,485 10,480,633

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS $ 10,514,485 $ 10,480,633

OUTSIDE ORGANIZING FUND

ASSETS 2006 2001

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents $ 252,703 $ 608,617
Interfund receivable 126,546 68,058
Investments 2,612,000 2,130,310

TOTAL ASSETS $ 2,991,249 $ 2,806,985

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

LIABILITIES $ - $ -

NET ASSETS 2,991,249 2,806,985

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS $ 2,991,249 $ 2,806,985

INITIAL ORGANIZING CONTRACT FUND

ASSETS 2006 2001

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents $ 325,688 $ 11,505
Interfund receivable 1,326 6,950
Investments 415,000 525,000
Furniture and equipment - net of accumulated depreciation of $12,340 and $0 23,661 -

TOTAL ASSETS $ 765,675 $ 543,455

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

LIABILITIES $ - $ -

NET ASSETS 765,675 543,455

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS $ 765,675 $ 543,455

See Notes to Financial Statements
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INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF BRIDGE, STRUCTURAL,
ORNAMENTAL AND REINFORCING IRON WORKERS

UNCONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF REVENUE, EXPENSES
AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS - MODIFIED CASH BASIS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2006, 2005, 2004, 2003 AND 2002

INTERNATIONAL OFFICE

REVENUE 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 Total

Per capita taxes and fees $25,974,341 $24,543,577 $23,083,413 $24,428,220 $25,139,142 $123,168,693
Administrative fees 185,815 173,978 171,683 198,726 110,100 840,302
Investment income (loss) 4,707,125 2,749,341 3,149,967 (2,427,693) (1,309,186) 6,869,554
Other 1,122,911 1,120,935 877,005 967,506 1,075,619 5,163,976

31,990,192 28,587,831 27,282,068 23,166,759 25,015,675 136,042,525

EXPENSES

Personnel costs
Salaries and reimbursed

expenses 9,708,821 9,633,256 9,500,794 11,047,807 11,254,874 51,145,552
Health benefits 2,431,216 2,416,404 2,183,544 2,629,865 2,440,333 12,101,362
Regular pension

contributions 2,244,339 2,187,395 2,022,386 1,243,667 1,332,811 9,030,598
Excess pension contributions 8,000,000 1,500,000 3,000,000 - - 12,500,000
Other benefits 521,563 526,274 452,683 542,952 587,257 2,630,729

22,905,939 16,263,329 17,159,407 15,464,291 15,615,275 87,408,241
General and administrative

expenses 7,025,657 6,984,798 7,816,664 8,518,619 9,047,180 39,392,918
Professional fees - other 997,350 1,014,720 1,044,604 994,656 805,608 4,856,938
Professional fees - DOJ - - - 1,769,605 1,617,318 3,386,923

30,928,946 24,262,847 26,020,675 26,747,171 27,085,381 135,045,020

EXCESS (DEFICIT) OF
REVENUE OVER EXPENSES 1,061,246 4,324,984 1,261,393 (3,580,412) (2,069,706) 997,505

OTHER CHANGES

Depreciation and amortization (668,320) (675,576) (469,094) (130,241) (205,005) (2,148,236)
Change in equity of UUI (187,166) (107,682) (148,597) 66,942 (205,252) (581,755)

(855,486) (783,258) (617,691) (63,299) (410,257) (2,729,991)

TOTAL CHANGES IN NET
ASSETS 205,760 3,541,726 643,702 (3,643,711) (2,479,963) (1,732,486)

UNRESTRICTED NET ASSETS
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 45,817,248 42,275,522 41,631,820 45,275,531 47,755,494 47,755,494

UNRESTRICTED NET ASSETS
AT END OF YEAR $46,023,008 $45,817,248 $42,275,522 $41,631,820 $45,275,531 $ 46,023,008

See Notes to Financial Statements
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UNCONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF REVENUE, EXPENSES
AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS - MODIFIED CASH BASIS

OLD AGE AND DISABILITY PENSION FUND

REVENUE 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 Total

Assessments $ 1,602,870 $ 1,606,867 $ 1,595,493 $ 1,691,723 $ 1,676,716 $ 8,173,669
Travel service fees 255,756 243,633 255,841 315,104 378,826 1,449,160
Investment income (loss) 22,977 10,660 1,581 3,016 7,071 45,305

1,881,603 1,861,160 1,852,915 2,009,843 2,062,613 9,668,134

EXPENSES

Member benefits 1,816,490 1,748,389 1,653,740 1,876,742 2,047,602 9,142,963
Other 39,652 52,710 66,392 39,927 101,340 300,021

1,856,142 1,801,099 1,720,132 1,916,669 2,148,942 9,442,984

TOTAL CHANGES IN NET
ASSETS 25,461 60,061 132,783 93,174 (86,329) 225,150

UNRESTRICTED NET ASSETS
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 389,097 329,036 196,253 103,079 189,408 189,408

UNRESTRICTED NET ASSETS
AT END OF YEAR $ 414,558 $ 389,097 $ 329,036 $ 196,253 $ 103,079 $ 414,558

DEATH BENEFIT FUND

REVENUE 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 Total

Assessments $ 1,089,610 $ 1,079,101 $ 1,024,048 $ 1,142,325 $ 1,157,732 $ 5,492,816
Investment income (loss) 3,651,638 2,111,308 2,835,932 (1,783,816) (145,069) 6,669,993
Other 20,267 115,547 33,780 - - 169,594

4,761,515 3,305,956 3,893,760 (641,491) 1,012,663 12,332,403

EXPENSES

Member benefits 2,936,466 3,060,300 3,130,750 3,019,700 2,919,050 15,066,266
Other 277,136 248,982 228,707 196,955 220,774 1,172,554

3,213,602 3,309,282 3,359,457 3,216,655 3,139,824 16,238,820

TOTAL CHANGES IN NET
ASSETS 1,547,913 (3,326) 534,303 (3,858,146) (2,127,161) (3,906,417)

UNRESTRICTED NET
ASSETS AT BEGINNING OF
YEAR 30,593,908 30,597,234 30,062,931 33,921,077 36,048,238 36,048,238

UNRESTRICTED NET
ASSETS AT END OF YEAR $ 32,141,821 $ 30,593,908 $ 30,597,234 $ 30,062,931 $ 33,921,077 $ 32,141,821

See Notes to Financial Statements
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UNCONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF REVENUE, EXPENSES
AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS - MODIFIED CASH BASIS

CONVENTION FUND

REVENUE 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 Total

Assessments $ 2,146,903 $ 2,103,152 $ 2,098,096 $ 2,201,764 $ 2,235,726 $ 10,785,641
Investment income (loss) 180,256 128,294 58,885 6,525 179,529 553,489

2,327,159 2,231,446 2,156,981 2,208,289 2,415,255 11,339,130

EXPENSES

Convention expenses 686,580 4,211 38,503 31,196 10,544,788 11,305,278

686,580 4,211 38,503 31,196 10,544,788 11,305,278

TOTAL CHANGES IN NET
ASSETS 1,640,579 2,227,235 2,118,478 2,177,093 (8,129,533) 33,852

UNRESTRICTED NET
ASSETS AT BEGINNING OF
YEAR 8,873,906 6,646,671 4,528,193 2,351,100 10,480,633 10,480,633

UNRESTRICTED NET
ASSETS AT END OF YEAR $ 10,514,485 $ 8,873,906 $ 6,646,671 $ 4,528,193 $ 2,351,100 $ 10,514,485

OUTSIDE ORGANIZING FUND

REVENUE 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 Total

Assessments $ 1,950,519 $ 1,915,151 $ 1,918,271 $ 2,029,428 $ 1,468,079 $ 9,281,448
Investment income (loss) 95,533 120,678 125,693 140,521 147,531 629,956

2,046,052 2,035,829 2,043,964 2,169,949 1,615,610 9,911,404

EXPENSES

Organizing costs 2,664,906 2,193,229 2,471,408 1,456,653 940,944 9,727,140

2,664,906 2,193,229 2,471,408 1,456,653 940,944 9,727,140

TOTAL CHANGES IN NET
ASSETS (618,854) (157,400) (427,444) 713,296 674,666 184,264

UNRESTRICTED NET
ASSETS AT BEGINNING OF
YEAR 3,610,103 3,767,503 4,194,947 3,481,651 2,806,985 2,806,985

UNRESTRICTED NET
ASSETS AT END OF YEAR $ 2,991,249 $ 3,610,103 $ 3,767,503 $ 4,194,947 $ 3,481,651 $ 2,991,249

INITIAL ORGANIZING CONTRACT FUND

REVENUE 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 Total

Assessment $ 346,199 $ 308,047 $ 325,062 $ 338,538 $ 256,355 $ 1,574,201
Investment income (loss) 22,834 16,874 12,586 14,152 28,914 95,360

369,033 324,921 337,648 352,690 285,269 1,669,561

EXPENSES

Organizing costs 338,244 205,886 214,736 313,983 374,492 1,447,341

338,244 205,886 214,736 313,983 374,492 1,447,341

TOTAL CHANGES IN NET
ASSETS 30,789 119,035 122,912 38,707 (89,223) 222,220

UNRESTRICTED NET
ASSETS AT BEGINNING OF
YEAR 734,886 615,851 492,939 454,232 543,455 543,455

UNRESTRICTED NET
ASSETS AT END OF YEAR $ 765,675 $ 734,886 $ 615,851 $ 492,939 $ 454,232 $ 765,675

See Notes to Financial Statements



OCTOBER 2006 139

INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF BRIDGE, STRUCTURAL,
ORNAMENTAL AND REINFORCING IRON WORKERS

UNCONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS - MODIFIED CASH BASIS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2006, 2005, 2004, 2003 AND 2002

ALL FUNDS

CASH FLOWS FROM
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 Total

Changes in net assets $ 2,831,648 $ 5,787,331 $ 3,124,734 $ (4,479,587) $(12,237,543) $ (4,973,417)
Adjustments to reconcile

changes in net assets to net
cash provided (used) by
operating activities

Depreciation and
amortization 674,891 680,704 469,962 130,241 205,005 2,160,803

Non-cash compensation 56,159 - - - - 56,159
(Gain) loss on disposal of

fixed assets (5,062) 22,401 21,906 (114) 6,316 45,447
(Gain) loss on sale of

investments (6,209,714) (2,880,093) (4,405,118) 6,378,688 3,976,901 (3,139,336)
Change in equity of

United Unions, Inc. 187,166 107,682 148,597 (66,942) 205,252 581,755
Uncollectible accounts - - 21,971 - - 21,971
Increase (decrease) in

Taxes payable 26 (7,893) 11,036 (3,632) (2,285) (2,748)

(2,464,886) 3,710,132 (606,912) 1,958,654 (7,846,354) (5,249,366)

CASH FLOWS FROM
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from sale of fixed
assets 25,421 44,600 - 54,721 31,540 156,282

Proceeds from sale of
investments 52,823,777 54,900,182 94,372,873 61,889,871 59,595,110 323,581,813

Purchase of fixed assets (199,233) (1,185,491) (3,865,998) (1,146,892) (151,732) (6,549,346)
Purchase of investments (49,615,308) (55,403,645) (90,561,600) (64,320,085) (54,739,166) (314,639,804)

3,034,657 (1,644,354) (54,725) (3,522,385) 4,735,752 2,548,945

CASH FLOWS FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from long-term
debt - 1,057,526 2,966,989 975,485 50,719 5,050,719

Proceeds from notes payable - 47,732 - 48,862 - 96,594
Curtailment of notes payable (26,356) (30,378) (33,194) (25,051) (9,862) (124,841)
Curtailment of long-term

debt (523,137) (835,867) - - - (1,359,004)

(549,493) 239,013 2,933,795 999,296 40,857 3,663,468

CHANGE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS 20,278 2,304,791 2,272,158 (564,435) (3,069,745) 963,047

CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS AT
BEGINNING OF PERIOD 6,807,808 4,503,017 2,230,859 2,795,294 5,865,039 5,865,039

CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS AT END
OF PERIOD $ 6,828,086 $ 6,807,808 $ 4,503,017 $ 2,230,859 $ 2,795,294 $ 6,828,086

SUPPLEMENTAL
INFORMATION

Cash paid for interest $ 199,649 $ 188,357 $ 73,713 $ 774 $ - $ 462,493

See Notes to Financial Statements
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INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF BRIDGE, STRUCTURAL,
ORNAMENTAL AND REINFORCING IRON WORKERS

NOTES TO UNCONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - MODIFIED CASH BASIS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2006 AND 2005

NOTE 1:  ORGANIZATION

The International Association of Bridge, Structural, Ornamental and Reinforcing Iron Workers (the Association) is a labor
organization engaged in organizing and representing workers in various segments of the Iron Working Industry in the United States and
Canada.  Primary revenue is derived from monthly per capita tax and assessments on each member.

NOTE 2:  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Accounting

The financial statements have been prepared using the modified cash basis of accounting.  Generally, revenue is recognized when
received rather than when earned and expenses are recorded when paid rather than when incurred.  However, the investment in United
Unions, Inc. (UUI) is accounted for using the equity method and fixed assets are capitalized and depreciated.  The presentation of
investments at fair value, which is required under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, is not
included in these financial statements.

The unconsolidated financial statements do not include the financial information of the International Political Action League
(IPAL), International Political Education Fund (IPEF), John H. Lyons, Sr. Scholarship Foundation (the Scholarship Foundation) and
Disaster Relief Fund which are affiliates of the Association and which were established and are controlled by the General Executive
Board of the Association. 

Fund Accounting

The accounts are maintained in accordance with the principles of fund accounting.  Under these principles, resources for various
purposes are classified for accounting and reporting purposes into funds established according to their nature and purpose and separate
accounts are maintained for each fund.

The International Office is a combination of the GGeneral Fund and GGeneral Treasurer's Fund .

The General Fund was established to receive all per capita tax from local union affiliates earmarked for the
General Fund and transfer funds to the General Treasurer's Fund, with the approval of the General
Executive Board.

The General Treasurer's Fund  was established to disburse funds necessary in meeting the expenses of the
Association.

The Old Age and Disability Fund  was established to disburse benefits to members who qualify for the benefit
payments based on criteria as set forth in the Constitution of the Association.

The Death Benefit Fund  was established to pay death benefit claims of beneficiaries of those deceased members who
had been in continuous membership for twelve months or more prior to death and were in good standing at the time
of death.  The amount payable is predetermined based on years of service and cause of death.

The Convention Fund  was established to fund all expenses related to the convention that is held once every five
years.  These expenses include salaries and expenses of all delegates to the convention.

The Outside Organizing Fund  was established for the purpose of meeting the financial requirements of organizing
the unorganized.

The Initial Organizing Contract Fund  was established to defray Local affiliates expenses in obtaining the first
initial contract following the organizing of a shop.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include time deposits and all highly liquid debt instruments purchased with maturities of three months
or less.

Investments

Investments are presented at cost except that the Association's investment in 33% of the outstanding common stock of United
Unions, Inc. (UUI), which owns the building occupied by the Association and other unions, is accounted for using the equity method. 
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NOTES TO UNCONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - MODIFIED CASH BASIS

NOTE 2:  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES   -  continued

Furniture and Equipment, Leasehold Improvements, Depreciation and Amortization

Fixed assets and leasehold improvements are capitalized at cost.  Replacements, maintenance and repairs, which do not improve or
extend the lives of the respective assets, are expensed.  Depreciation and amortization are computed by the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of the related assets.  Estimated useful lives are seven years for furniture and office equipment, five years for
automobiles and computers and ten years for leasehold improvements.

Per Capita Taxes and International Assessments

Per capita taxes and assessments are allocated to the General, Old Age and Disability Pension, Death Benefit, Convention, Outside
Organizing, and Initial Organizing Contract Funds, in accordance with the applicable rates as defined in the Constitution of the
Association.

Estimates

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported
amounts and disclosures.  Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Net Assets

Net assets are considered restricted if they arise from contributions with donor stipulations on their use.  There are no restricted
net assets presented in the financial statements.

Canadian Currency

The Association's Canadian bank balances have been converted to U.S. dollars on the unconsolidated Statements of Assets,
Liabilities and Net Assets- modified cash basis.

Shared Costs

The Association shares certain administrative costs with its affiliates including office space, equipment and employee salaries and
benefits.  The expenses reported in these financial statements are reflected net of all reimbursements received from affiliates.

NOTE 3:  RETIREMENT PLANS

The Association sponsors a contributory defined benefit pension plan (the Plan) covering all eligible employees.  Prior to January 1,
2003, the Plan was funded by employer contributions equal to 19.5% of regular payroll expenses and mandatory employee contributions of
.25% of annual salary in excess of $3,600.  Effective, January 1, 2003  employer contributions were increased to 25% of payroll expenses
and required employee contributions were increased to 2.5% of salary in excess of $3,600.  Effective January 1, 2004 employer
contributions were increased to 31% of payroll expenses and required employee contributions were eliminated.  At January 1, 2005,
required employee contributions were increased to .25% of salary in excess of $3,600.  Contribution rates are based upon actuarial
computations.  As a result of plan funding requirements supplemental employer contributions of $8,000,000,  $1,500,000 and $3,000,000,
respectively, were required for the years ended June 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004.  Total employer contributions under the plan were
$10,244,339, $3,687,395, $5,022,386, $1,243,667, $1,332,811 respectively, for the years ended June 30, 2006, 2005, 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively.

The Association also sponsors a defined contribution 401(k) plan for its employees.  The plan is funded entirely by employee
contributions.

The Association also sponsors a non-qualified unfunded supplemental retirement arrangement for certain officers.  A total of
$39,726, $59,772, $19,623, $19,623 and $28,940 was paid in supplemental retirement benefits during the years ended June 30, 2006,
2005, 2004, 2003 and 2002.

NOTE 4:  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION

The Association leases office space from UUI pursuant to a lease agreement that expires August 15, 2008.  The lease provides that
UUI charge the Association for a proportionate share of the funding required to reduce the outstanding principal balances of the office
building's mortgage loans, which is included in the monthly rental payment.  The terms of the lease include an escalation clause to cover
increases in building operating expenses.  Total payments to UUI were $1,210,547, $1,210,547, $1,312,687, $1,458,054 and $1,267,654 for
the years ended June 30, 2006, 2005, 2004, 2003 and 2002. 
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NOTES TO UNCONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - MODIFIED CASH BASIS

NOTE 4:  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION   -  continued

As of June 30, 2006, future required minimum payments for the years ended June 30, are summarized below:

2007 $ 1,210,547
2008 1,210,547
2009 151,312

$ 2,572,406

NOTE 5:  LEGAL SETTLEMENT

The Association was a co-defendant, along with one of its local affiliates, in a class action suit claiming discrimination.  The court
has issued an affirmative relief order requiring the local affiliate to take certain actions and has found the defendants jointly liable to the
plaintiffs.  The Association's portion of the plaintiffs’ claims and attorney’s fees totaled $485,000, and was paid during the year ended
June 30, 2002.

NOTE 6:  TAX STATUS

Under provisions of Section 501(c)(5) of the Internal Revenue Code, the Association is exempt from taxes on income other than
unrelated business income.  No income tax liability was incurred during the years ended June 30, 2006, 2005, 2004, 2003 or 2002.

NOTE 7:  INVESTMENTS

The following reflects combined cost and fair value by investment category, as of June 30, 2006 and July 1, 2001, for all Funds:

2006 2001

Cost Fair Value Cost Fair Value

Short-term securities * $ 2,206,244 $ 2,206,244 $ 2,706,857 $ 2,706,857
United States Government securities 23,116,730 22,885,493 22,578,445 22,889,388
Corporate Bonds and notes 4,306,720 4,102,970 13,324,814 13,488,137
AFL-CIO Housing Investment Trust 1,223,520 1,217,003 1,223,520 1,253,977
United Unions Inc. 3,118,022 3,118,022 2,043,605 2,043,605
Mutual Funds 8,331,867 7,808,980 - -
Corporate Stocks 35,889,663 40,341,551 40,675,238 39,977,819
Venture Capital investment 1,593,736 1,659,374 - -
Union Labor Life Insurance

Company (ULLICO)
Guaranteed investment contract 2,068,000 2,068,000 5,605,553 5,605,553
Common stock ** 3,224,142 3,359,267 3,311,367 7,632,144

$ 85,078,644 $ 88,766,904 $ 91,469,399 $ 95,597,480

*Fair market value approximates cost.

**The ULLICO common stock is not publicly traded and there are restrictions on its salability or disposition.  The
estimated fair value at June 30, 2006 and July 1, 2001 has been estimated by an independent financial advisor.

Combined investment income for all Funds for the years ended June 30, 2006, 2005, 2004, 2003 and 2002 is as follows:

2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Interest $ 1,717,446 $ 1,551,980 $ 1,289,893 $ 1,825,920 $ 2,446,289
Dividends 753,203 705,083 489,633 643,956 463,752
Realized gains (losses) 6,209,714 2,880,092 4,405,118 (6,517,171) (4,001,251)

$ 8,680,363 $ 5,137,155 $ 6,184,644 $ (4,047,295) $ (1,091,210)

The Association's management purchased certain derivative financial instruments as part of the Association's interest rate risk
management strategy.  The Association has only invested in interest-only and principal-only securities as part of its derivative investing
strategy.  The derivative financial instruments are carried at cost as part of general investments.  The cost and fair values of these
securities held as of June 30, 2006 were $1,018,854 and $1,211,294,  respectively.  There were no derivatives held at July 1, 2001.
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NOTES TO UNCONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - MODIFIED CASH BASIS

NOTE 8:  POSTRETIREMENT HEALTH CARE BENEFITS

The Association provides certain health care benefits for retired employees.  Substantially all of the Association's employees,
including those in Canada, become eligible if they reach normal retirement age while employed by the Association.  Health care benefits
for retirees, as well as active employees, are provided through a contract with an insurance company.  Expenditures for providing these
benefits to retirees were $1,229,141, $1,180,486, $1,080,666, $862,442 and $660,067 for the years ended June 30, 2006, 2005, 2004, 2003
and 2002, respectively.

NOTE 9:  DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE INVESTIGATION

As a result of a Department of Justice investigation, two former officers and three former employees of the Association pled guilty to
various criminal charges related to the payment of certain expenses by the Association, embezzlement from a related employee pension
fund and making a material false statement on the Form LM-2. 

The Association received restitution payments totaling $66,285, $87,600 and $20,000 during the years ended June 30,2005,  2004
and 2003, respectively, under various restitution agreements with former officers, employees and the Association's former law firm and
former general counsel. 

NOTE 10:  RENOVATION LOAN

In connection with the renovation of its offices, the Association entered into a loan agreement, in April 2003, with Wachovia Bank
(the Bank).  The Association drew down $5,000,000 during the 17 months prior to September 1, 2004 (the conversion date), at which time
the loan was converted into a 43-month, fixed-rate term loan, with monthly payments of principal and interest of $126,038, with a
maturity date of April 1, 2008.  The interest rate was variable during the draw down period, at a rate per annum equal to 1-month LIBOR
plus 0.40%, until the conversion date.

In April 2005 the Association entered into a refinancing agreement with the Bank.  The new loan matures on April 30, 2012 and
bears an interest rate of 5.01%.  The loan is secured by marketable securities.  As of June 30, 2006, required minimum principal payments
for the years ended June 30, are summarized below:

2007 $ 550,338
2008 578,562
2009 609,035
2010 640,702
2011 674,016
2012 588,343

$ 3,640,996
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Resolutions Submitted to
the 41st Convention

August 14-18, 2006

Resolutions
RESOLUTION NO. 1

Submitted by Local Union No. 68

HONORARY MEMBERS

WHEREAS:  Local Union members retire from the iron-
working trade and collect a pension from a Local Union
and/or District Council, and

WHEREAS:  Many members who retire are not eligible to
receive the International Old Age or Disability pension upon
their retirement and do not meet the requirements for
Honorary Membership, and

WHEREAS:  Some of these members would like to retain
their membership but cannot afford to pay full journeyman
dues on their retirement income, and

WHEREAS:  Our Local Union believes these members
should be entitled to retain their membership at a reduced
dues rate, and

WHEREAS: Our Local Union believes members allowed to
retain their membership at a reduced dues rate should not be
allowed to work at the trade,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED:  That Article XIX,
Section 12 of the International Constitution be amended to
read as follows:

Disabled and Honorary Members

Sec. 12.  The International Association will grant Honorary
Membership to members in good standing (except members
of Shop and Navy Yard Riggers Local Unions to whom this
Section of the Constitution has no application) who have been
members for five (5) consecutive years and who have become
permanently disabled or incapacitated while working at the

trade.  Members collecting a Local Union and/or District
Council Pension are also eligible to apply for Honorary
Membership.  Honorary Members shall pay Per Capita Tax of
Six Dollars Fifteen Cents ($6.15) per month and all
International assessments except the Convention Fund assess-
ment to the International Association through their Local
Union, and said Honorary Members shall be entitled to death
benefits and pension benefits, if otherwise eligible, as set
forth in the provisions of this Constitution.  The holder of an
Honorary Membership Card shall not be eligible to hold any
office.  Each Local Union shall determine by appropriate indi-
vidual Local Union action whether the holder of an Honorary
Membership Card shall have the right to vote in such Local
Union’s elections only.  Applications for Honorary
Membership must be made on the form furnished by the
General Secretary and the application must be endorsed by
the Local Union of which applicant is a member, and sent to
the General Secretary for approval or rejection.  The transfer
procedure set forth in this Constitution shall also apply to
Honorary Members.

Seal Proper Signatures

Referred to Constitution Committee

RESOLUTION NO. 2

Submitted by Local Union No. 3

HONORARY MEMBERS VOTING

WHEREAS:  All active members pay dues and working
assessments to their Local Union and full per capita to the
International Association.

WHEREAS:  The active members assume the obligation
passed on to them to maintain the financial integrity of the
Local Union, International Association, and all funds associ-
ated.
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WHEREAS:  It is the responsibility of all active members to
elect officers to guide, negotiate contracts, enforce the Local
Union By-Laws, International Constitution, and to maintain
the work jurisdiction of the Local Union.

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED:  Article XIX, Sec. 12 of
the International Constitution shall be amended to read:

The International Association will grant an Honorary
Membership Card to members (except members of Shop and
Navy Yard Riggers Local Unions to whom this Section of the
Constitution has no application) who have been members for
five (5) consecutive years and who have become permanent-
ly disabled or incapacitated while working at the trade and in
good standing.  Such Card will allow the holder thereof to
work in the jurisdiction of any Local Union subject to the
working rules of the Local Union.  Any member holding an
Honorary Membership Card who is able to and does secure
employment at the trade to the extent of an average employ-
ment of over two (2) days a week shall not be considered per-
manently disabled or incapacitated, and therefore will not be
entitled to retain or be granted an Honorary Membership
Card.  Honorary Members shall be exempt from all Local
dues and assessments, but shall pay Per Capita Tax of Six
Dollars Fifteen Cents ($6.15) per month and all International
assessments except the Convention Fund assessment to the
International Association through their Local Union, and said
Honorary Members shall be entitled to death benefits and
pension benefits, if otherwise eligible, as set forth in the pro-
visions of this Constitution. The holder of an Honorary
Membership Card shall not be eligible to hold any office,
have any voting rights or voice involving the Local Union.
Applications for Honorary Membership Cards must be made
on blank form furnished by the General Secretary and the
application must be endorsed by the Local Union of which
applicant is a member, and sent to the General Secretary, who
will submit same to the General Executive Board for their
approval or rejection.  Transfer system as set forth in the
International Constitution is to apply also to Honorary
Members.

Seal Proper Signatures

Referred to Constitution Committee

RESOLUTION NO. 3

Submitted by Local Union No. 7

INCREASE SALARIES

WHEREAS;  The general officers of the International
Association of Bridge, Structural, Ornamental & Reinforcing
Iron Workers receive their wages and/or benefits contingent
upon a vote of the duly elected and seated delegates at each
International Convention; and

WHEREAS;  International Conventions are only held every
fifth (5th) year; and

WHEREAS;  The next International Convention is slated to
be held from Monday, August 14, 2006 to Friday, August 18,
2006; therefore

BE IT RESOLVED; That the general officers of our great
International union be granted adequate pay raises and/or ben-
efits that are deemed to be commensurate with the duties they
are expected to perform in the ensuing five year cycle; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED; That any adjustment in
wages and/or benefits be presented to, and voted on, by the
elected and seated delegates to the August 14-18, 2006
International Convention.

Seal Proper Signatures

Referred to Constitution Committee

RESOLUTION NO. 4

Submitted by Local Union No. 399

INCREASE SALARIES

WHEREAS; the General Officers of the International
Association of Bridge, Structural, Ornamental and
Reinforcing Iron Workers receive their wages contingent
upon a vote of the duly elected Delegates of each
International Convention; and

WHEREAS; the International Conventions are only held
every fifth year; and

WHEREAS; the next International Convention is slated to be
held from August 14, 2006 to August 18, 2006; therefore

BE IT RESOLVED; that the General Officers of the
International Union be granted an adequate adjustment in
wages and/or benefits, commensurate with the duties they are
expected to perform over the ensuing five year period; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED; that the duly elected
Delegates to the 2006 Convention endorse and vote on the
applicable increases.

Seal Proper Signatures
Referred to Constitution Committee

RESOLUTION NO. 5

Submitted by Local Union No. 433

DEATH BENEFITS

WHEREAS:  At the time of a members death there may be a
need for direct payment of the death benefit to the mortuary
and/or cemetery to assist the beneficiary of the deceased
member;

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED:  That Section 3, first para-
graph of Article XVIII read as follows:

Such benefit shall be payable to the lawful current spouse of
the member, if living, and if deceased or if the marriage has
been lawfully dissolved, to the member’s children, or if the
member leaves neither current lawful spouse nor children,
then to the executor, administrator, or otherwise legally desig-
nated personal representative of the member’s estate or such
benefit paid directly to the mortuary/cemetery at the request
of the member’s executor. Remittance shall be made by the
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General Treasurer to the Financial Secretary of the Local
Union, on order of the General Secretary after presentation of
proof of death from the Financial Secretary of the Local
Union, accompanied by the deceased’s membership card and
by a death certificate of the attending physician. Death bene-
fits shall be payable only for members making the Death
Benefit Fund payments as hereinafter provided in this Article.
All death benefits shall be payable only out of the
International Death Benefit Fund, and no suit shall be brought
or maintained by any member, person, firm or entity against
any Local Union or the members thereof for the payment of
any death benefits. Filing of such suit shall result in automat-
ic termination of any right to any benefit provided in this
Article. No Local Union, nor any member thereof, shall be
liable for said death benefits. All membership cards shall be
returned to the Local Union of which the deceased was a
member, upon written request of the Secretary of the Local.

Seal Proper Signatures

Referred to Constitution Committee

RESOLUTION NO. 6

Submitted by Local Union No. 736

LOCAL UNION AND DISTRICT COUNCIL PENSION
PLAN

WHEREAS at the 40th Convention held in August of 2001, a
resolution was presented to increase the L.U. and D.C. assess-
ment rate from 15% to 20% and:

WHEREAS after much discussion and deliberation by the
L.U. and D.C. advisory committee to approve this increase
after considering the financial implications on smaller locals
and

WHEREAS this committee has instituted further changes
resulting in a 30% assessment rate among other amendments
and

WHEREAS this assessment rate of 30% is onerous on the
local unions and restricts their ability to hire sufficient staff
and assistant agents to better service their membership in
areas such as jurisdiction and combating non union

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that effective September
1, 2006 the assessment rate be reduced back to the 20% level
that was brought before the delegates of the 40th Convention
in 2001 and that no further increases be adopted unless dealt
with on the convention floor.

Seal Proper Signatures

Referred to Resolutions Committee

RESOLUTION NO. 7

Submitted by Local Union No. 736

CANADIAN LEGAL MATTERS

WHEREAS:  The International Constitution is the governing
document that guides our International Union and:

WHEREAS:  At times it is necessary for our General Officers
to obtain a “legal opinion” when making decisions that affect
our Local Unions, District Councils and the membership in
general.

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED:  When the General
Executive Board is required to make a decision on a Local
Union issue involving a U.S. based Local Union, where U.S.
law would apply under conflict of laws principle, and a legal
opinion is required, that legal opinion shall be based on the
applicable federal, state and local laws of the United States of
America and:

When the General Executive Board is required to make a
decision on a Local Union issue involving a Canadian based
Local Union, where Canadian law would apply under conflict
of laws principle, and a legal opinion is required, that legal
opinion shall be based on the applicable federal, provincial
and territorial laws of the Dominion of Canada.

Seal Proper Signatures

Referred to Resolutions Committee

RESOLUTION NO. 8

Submitted by Local Union No. 201

CITIZENSHIP

BE IT RESOLVED That the International Association of
Bridge, Structural, Ornamental and Reinforcing Ironworkers
shall support, by all appropriate means, U.S. immigration
reform legislation which provides a pathway to citizenship for
immigrant workers.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED That the International support
such legislation which permits its Local Unions to sponsor
those of its members who are seeking citizenship or perma-
nent residency.

Seal Proper Signatures

Referred to Organization Committee

RESOLUTION NO. 9

Submitted by Local Union No. 721

MEMBERSHIP CARDS

WHEREAS mobility of workers in general has increased
tremendously and;

WHEREAS anonymity on remote sites is virtually guaranteed
by large non-union generals and;

WHEREAS mega projects being developed require greater
manpower resources than can be offered by the local work
force, and with the non-union generals seeking to import
cheap foreign labour;

HEREBY BE IT RESOLVED that the current membership
card be modernized to included a digitized likeness of the
cardholder, current local information such as dues status,
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training certificates etc., and relevant information determined
to be necessary.  Such information to be accessible by means
of a secured card reader, available to union officers in each
outside local union in the United States and Canada;

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the International
Association of Bridge, Structural, Ornamental and
Reinforcing Ironworkers be responsible for implementing this
program of union membership card upgrading by no later than
January 1, 2008.

Seal Proper Signatures

Referred to Organization Committee

RESOLUTION NO. 10

Submitted by Local Union No. 24

IRON WORKERS INTERNATIONAL 
RECIPROCAL AGREEMENT

WHEREAS:  The record of the 40th International Convention
attests to the commitment made by the Local Union Trustees
from the Philadelphia, Metro New York, and New Jersey
District Councils before the Delegates and OUR International
Association to adopt Money Follows the Man reciprocity, or
at a minimum, to reduce the vesting requirements of their trust
funds to one (1) hour; and

WHEREAS:  The Local Union Trustees from the
Philadelphia, Metro New York, and New Jersey District
Councils have reneged on Their Obligation to the Delegates
at the 40th International Convention and the International
Association; and

WHEREAS:  The time has come and gone for “strong rec-
ommendations” regarding Money Follows the Man and man-
dated policy needs to be established by the Delegates of the
41st International Convention to empower the General
Executive Council to right the wrong its membership is being
subjected to;

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED:  That Local 24 of the
International Association of Iron Workers submit to the
Delegates of the 41st Convention the following resolution to
establish a policy to be considered (per Article XIII, Sec. 5 of
the Constitution) in the best interest of the International
Association

WHEREAS:  In this year of 2006 as in years past we have
skilled Iron Workers who travel to Local Unions in need of
skilled Iron Workers; and

WHEREAS:  A few of these Local Unions in this year of
2006 Do Not have their Trust Funds signatory to Money
Follows the Man; and

WHEREAS:  In the words of General President Emeritus
John H. Lyons, Jr. “These agreements are a major break-
through for our membership and their families as well as our
industry on something that has concerned me for a long time.
At last by signing these agreements our membership will be

afforded the opportunity to be employed anywhere in the
United States and Canada, and never be without Health and
Welfare coverage or be in fear of losing pension credits that
they so justly earned.”

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED:  That the Delegates of
this 41st Convention mandate that All Outside Local Unions
Chartered by this International become Signatory to The Iron
Workers International Reciprocal Agreements for Money
Follows the Man; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED:  That a letter of authorized
order from this 41st Convention be sent to those Locals, Not
Signatory to Money Follows the Man, requesting their
Trustees carry out an “object of the International Association”
thereby becoming signatory.

Seal Proper Signatures

Referred to Grievance Committee
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From our founding in 1896 into the
21st Century, this revised, complete
account of the Iron Workers
International and its members is a
must for every ironworker. It is over
350 pages in full color, with over
1,000 photos, illustrations and his-
torical memorabilia from the last
110 years of our great union. A
must for every Ironworker’s family
library, they make great gifts for
apprentices, retirees and anyone
with an interest in our proud
history and how we came to be
what we are today. 

Price: $35.00

History of the
IronWorkers
Union

Order Form (please print or type)

Please send me ______________ copies @ $35.00 each (includes shipping and postage).

Name ________________________________________________________  Local Union Union No. ____________________

Address _______________________________________________________________________________________________
Street City State Zip

All payments in U.S. Funds only. Canadian orders may be required to pay goods and services tax.
Allow 3-6 weeks for delivery ................................................................................................................ Total $ ____________

Make checks payable to: I.A.B.S.O.&R.I.W.
Mail check and order form to: Ironworkers History, c/o MOSAIC, 4801 Viewpoint Place, Cheverly, MD 20781

Share your pride! Order an extra copy and donate it to your local school or public library.
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